

# Transgenic mosquitoes for controlling transmission of arboviruses

Pei-Shi Yen

#### ► To cite this version:

Pei-Shi Yen. Transgenic mosquitoes for controlling transmission of arboviruses. Virology. Université Pierre et Marie Curie - Paris VI, 2017. English. NNT: 2017PA066340 . tel-02415206

### HAL Id: tel-02415206 https://theses.hal.science/tel-02415206v1

Submitted on 17 Dec 2019

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





## Université Pierre et Marie Curie

ECOLE DOCTORALE 515 Complexité du Vivant

Unité Arbovirus et Insectes Vecteurs

# Transgenic mosquitoes for controlling transmission of arboviruses

Par Pei-Shi YEN

Thèse de doctorat de Virologie et Entomologie Médicale

Dirigée par Anna-Bella FAILLOUX

Présentée et soutenue publiquement le 15 Décembre 2017

#### Devant un jury composé de :

M. Dominique HIGUET, Professeur	Président du jury
Mme Stephanie BECKER, Professeur	Rapporteur
M. Frédéric SIMARD, Directeur de Recherche	Rapporteur
M. Chun-Hong CHEN, Professeur	Examinateur
Mme Claire VALIENTE-MORO, Maitre de Conférences	Examinateur
Mme Anna-Bella FAILLOUX, Directrice de Recherche	Directrice de thèse



"Life finds a way."

-Dr. Ian Malcolm, Jurassic Park, June 1993

### Acknowledgement

There are no proper words to convey my deep gratitude and respect for my thesis and research advisor, Dr. Anna-Bella Failloux. She has inspired me to become an independent researcher and helped me realize what a professional should be. She also demonstrated what a brilliant and hard-working scientist can accomplish. With her fully support, wise advice, and endless patience. I almost forgot how to survive in the professional world without her mothering.

I would like to thank the jury members: Dr. Dominique Higuet, Dr. Stephanie Becker, Dr. Frédéric Simard, Dr. Chun-Hong Chen, and Dr. Claire Valiente-Moro for examining and evaluating this work, and being part of this achievement.

My sincere thanks must also go to the members of my thesis advisory committee: Dr. Catherine Bourgouin, Dr. Eric Marois, and Dr. Christian Mitri. Thanks to your annual efforts that keep me on the right track, stay far from the possible traps on the way to publish.

I am most grateful to Dr. Anthony James, Dr. Alain Kohl, and Dr. Chun-Hong Chen, for lending me their expertise and intuition to my scientific and technical problems

Also, I am extremely grateful to the PPU office, who organized such a marvelous PhD program, has offered me this extraordinary opportunity to work, to learn, and to have fun with all the young dedicated souls.

I also have to express my appreciation to all the present and past labmates, as a foreigner, I was unfairly treated, unfairly good. Thank you all so very much for roping me in this unique, beautiful, delicious, and intoxicating (mostly red, but white as well) culture. I will never forget the life I spent here in UAIV.

### Abstract

Mosquito-borne arboviruses cause some of the world's most devastating diseases and are responsible for recent dengue, chikungunya and Zika pandemics. The yellow-fever mosquito, *Aedes aegypti*, plays an important role in the transmission of all three viruses. The ineffectiveness of chemical control methods targeting *Ae. aegypti* makes urgent the need for novel vector-based approaches for controlling these diseases. Mosquitoes control arbovirus replication by triggering immune responses. RNAi machinery is the most significant pathway playing a role on antiviral immunity. Although the role of exogenous siRNA and piRNA pathways in mosquito antiviral immunity is increasingly better understood, there is still little knowledge regarding interactions between the mosquito cellular miRNA pathway and arboviruses. Thus further analysis of mechanisms by which miRNAs may regulate arbovirus replication in mosquitoes is pivotal.

In the first part of the thesis, we carried out genomic analysis to identify *Ae. aegypti* miRNAs that potentially interact with various lineages and genotypes of chikungunya (CHIKV), dengue (DENV) and Zika viruses. By using prediction tools with distinct algorithms, several miRNA binding sites were commonly found within different genotypes/and or lineages of each arbovirus. We further analyzed the miRNAs that could target more than one arbovirus and required a low energy threshold to form miRNA-vRNA (viral RNA) complexes and predicted potential RNA structures using RNAhybrid software. Thus, we predicted miRNA candidates that might participate in regulating arboviral replication in *Ae. aegypti*.

In the second part of the thesis, we developed a miRNA-based approach that results in a dual resistance phenotype in mosquitoes to dengue serotype 3 (DENV-3) and chikungunya (CHIKV) viruses for stopping arboviruses spreading within urban cycles. The target viruses are from two distinct arboviral families and the antiviral mechanism is designed to function through the endogenous miRNA pathway in infected mosquitoes. Ten artificial antiviral miRNAs capable of targeting ~97% of all published strains were designed based on derived consensus sequences of CHIKV and DENV-3. The antiviral miRNA constructs were placed under control of either an *Aedes PolyUbiquitin (PUb)* or *Carboxypeptidase A (AeCPA)* gene promoter triggering respectively expression ubiquitously in the transgenic mosquitoes or more locally in the midgut epithelial cells following a blood meal. Challenge experiments using viruses added in blood meals showed subsequent reductions in viral transmission efficiency in the saliva of transgenic mosquitoes as a result of lowered infection rate and dissemination efficiency. Several components of mosquito fitness, including larval development time, larval/pupal mortality, adult lifespan, sex ratio, and male mating competitiveness, were examined: transgenic mosquitoes with the *PUb* promoter showed minor fitness costs at all developing stages whereas those based on *AeCPA* exhibited a high fitness cost. Further development of these strains with gene editing tools could make them candidates for releases in population replacement strategies for sustainable control of multiple arbovirus diseases.

### Résumé

Les arbovirus (virus transmis par des arthropodes) sont à l'origine de maladies humaines telles que la dengue, le chikungunya ou encore le Zika. Le moustique *Aedes aegypti*, est le vecteur majeur de ces trois arbovirus. La faible efficacité des méthodes de contrôle des populations de moustiques, principalement réalisées au moyen d'insecticides chimiques ouvre un champ de développement de nouvelles approches en lutte antivectorielle. Le moustique, hôte vecteur, contrôle la réplication virale en limitant les réponses immunitaires antivirales. La machinerie RNA interférence (RNAi) est la voie jouant un rôle majeur dans l'immunité antivirale chez le moustique. Alors que le rôle des deux voies, siRNA (« small interfering RNA ») et piRNA (« piwi-interfering RNA »), est de mieux en mieux compris dans les réactions antivirales du vecteur, peu de connaissances sont disponibles à ce jour en ce qui concernent les interactions entre la voie miRNA (« micro RNA ») et les arbovirus. Ainsi, nous proposons une analyse détaillée des mécanismes par lesquels les miARN tentent de réguler la réplication virale chez le moustique.

Dans la première partie de la thèse, nous avons effectué une analyse génomique pour identifier les miRNAs pouvant interagir chez *Ae. aegypti* avec divers lignées/génotypes des virus chikungunya (CHIKV), de dengue (DENV) et de Zika. Avec l'aide d'outils de prédiction faisant appel à divers algorithmes, plusieurs sites de liaison de miARN avec différents lignées/génotypes de chaque arbovirus ont été identifiés. Nous avons ensuite sélectionné les miARN pouvant cibler plus d'un arbovirus et nécessitant un faible seuil d'énergie lors de la formation des complexes entre l'ARNm du moustique et l'ARN viral. Nous avons également prédit les structures des ARNs en utilisant le logiciel RNAhybrid. Ainsi, nous avons pu définir des candidats miARN pouvant participer à la régulation de la réplication virale chez le moustique *Ae. aegypti*.

Dans la deuxième partie de la thèse, nous avons développé une approche basée sur le miARN dans le but de produire un moustique présentant un phénotype de résistance pour la réplication virale de la dengue et du chikungunya. Les virus ciblés sont DENV-3 et CHIKV. Dix miARN antiviraux capables de cibler ~ 97% de souches virales ont été sélectionnés en se référant aux séquences consensus de DENV-3 et CHIKV. Les cassettes miARN ont été placées sous le contrôle du promoteur Aedes PolyUbiquitin (PUb) ou Carboxypeptidase A (AeCPA) qui déclenche respectivement une expression ubiquitaire de la réaction antivirale ou une expression localisée dans les cellules épithéliales de l'intestin moyen des moustiques après la prise d'un repas sanguin. Les infections expérimentales des moustiques par les virus proposés dans les repas sanguins ont montré une réduction significative de l'efficacité de la transmission virale avec peu ou pas de virus détectés dans la salive des moustiques transgéniques. Nous avons, par ailleurs, étudié l'impact de la transformation génétique sur les valeurs sélectives des moustiques en mesurant la durée du développement pré-imaginal, la mortalité larvaire/pupale, la durée de vie des adultes, le sexe ratio et la compétitivité des mâles. Nous avons ainsi mis en évidence que les moustiques transgéniques ayant le promoteur PUb étaient beaucoup moins compétitifs que les moustiques ayant le promoteur AeCPA. Le développement de ces souches de moustiques en ayant recours aux nouveaux outils d'édition de gènes pourrait améliorer les performances de ces candidats. Ces candidats pourraient être ainsi proposés dans les stratégies de remplacement des populations de moustiques vecteurs d'arbovirus.

### **Table of contents**

Acknowledgement	2
Abstract	3
Résumé	5
Table of contents	7
Table of figures	8
List of abbreviations	9
General Introduction	
The global threat of arbovirus diseases	
1. Dengue virus	
1.1. The burden of dengue	
1.2. Dengue epidemiology	
1.3. DENV characteristics	
2. Chikungunva virus	
2.1. Chikungunya epidemiology	
2.2. The hurden of chikungunya	24
2.3 Characteristics of Chikungunya virus	24
3 Co-infection of DENV and CHIKV	28
Chapter 1: AFDES MOSOIIITOES AND ANTIVIRAL IMMUNITY	30
1 Addes mosquitoes	
<ol> <li>Acces mosquitoes</li></ol>	ייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייי
2. Mosquito initiale pathways. Toll, filld, and JAK/STAT initialiant	nonse of vector
mosquitoes	Joinse of vector
CHAPTER 2: ALTERNATIVES FOR ARBOVIRAL DISEASES CONTROL	
1. Arboviral diseases and burdens	
2. Using of insecticide for arboviral diseases control	
3. Genetically modified-based control strategy-population reductio	n and
replacement	
3.1 Sterile Insect Technique	
3.2 Release of insects carrying a dominant lethal	
3.3 Field trials of RIDL mosquitoes	
3.4 Others approaches lead to a population reduction outcome	
4. Effector gene and population replacement	
4.1 Gene drive systems	
4.2 Antiviral effector genes	
4.3 Genes that trigger anti-microbial immune responses	
4.4 Antiviral RNAi	
4.5 Antiviral ribozymes	
4.6 Behavior alteration	50
4.7 Part II: Synthetic miRNAs induce dual arboviral-resistance phenot	vnes in the vector
mosquito Aedes aeavnti	
	51 52
CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION	
CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION	

## Table of figures

FIGURE 1. GLOBAL DISTRIBUTION OF DENV.	16
FIGURE 2. THE GENOME STRUCTURE OF DENGUE VIRUS.	
FIGURE 3. DENGUE LIFE CYCLE.	21
FIGURE 4. THE GENOME STRUCTURE OF CHIKUNGUNYA VIRUS.	25
FIGURE 5. ALPHAVIRUS LIFE CYCLE	27
FIGURE 6. CO-INFECTION OF CHIKV AND DENV.	29
FIGURE 7. SCHEMATIC REPRESENTATION OF ARBOVIRUS TROPISM IN A MOSQUITO VECTOR	1
FIGURE 8. MOSQUITO ANTIVIRAL MECHANISMS	4

### List of abbreviations

A.D.	Anno Domini
AaArg3	Aedes Aegypti Arginine Methyltransferase 3
AeAct-4	Aedes Actin-4
AeCPA	Aedes Carboxypeptidase A
AePUb	Aedes PolyUbiquitin
Ago-1	Argonaute-1
Ago-2	Argonaute-2
Ago-3	Argonaute-3
AGO-CLIP	Argonaute-Crosslinking Immunoprecipitation
AMP	Anti Microbial Peptides
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
CFP	Cyan Fluorescent Protein
CHIKV	Chikungunya Virus
cHP	Capsid-coding Hairpin
DALY	Disability-Adjusted Life Year
DB	dumbbell
Dcr-1	Dicer-1
Dcr-2	Dicer-2
DDT	Dichloro-Diphenyl-Trichloroethane
DENV	Dengue virus
DF	Dengur fever
DHF	Dengue hemorrhagic fever
DOME	Domeless
Dpi	Day Post-Infection
DR	Dissemination Rate
Dsx	Doublesex
EA	Environmental Assessment
ECSA	East/Central/South African
EEEV	Eastern Equine Encephalitis virus
EIP	Extrinsic Incubation Period
ER	Endoplasmic Reticulum
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FFA	Focus Forming Assay
Ffu	focus forming unit
FONSI	Finding Of No Significant Impact
Fru	Fruitless
fsRIDL	Female-specific RIDL
GESS	Genome-wide Enrichment of Seed Sequence matches
GR	Gustatory Receptor
GSD	Glutamate Semi-aldehyde Dehydrogenase
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
HDR	Homology-Directed Repair
IFA	Immunofluorescence Assay

INF	Interferon
IOL	Indian Ocean Lineage
IR	Ionotropic Receptor
IR	Infection Rate
ITD	Immune To Drive
JAK-STAT	Janus kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription
JHA15	Juvenile Hormone regulated serine protease
Kb	Kilo Base
ldsRNA	Long Double Strand RNA
MEB	Midgut Escape Barrier
MFE	Minimum Free Energy
MIB	Midgut Infection Barrier
miRISC	micro RNA-Induced Silencing Complex
miRNA	micro RNA
NGS	Next Generation Sequencing
Nm	Nano Meter
NNIs	Neonicotinoid Insecticides
Npylr	Neuropeptide y-like receptor
nsP	Non-Structural Protein
ONNV	O'nyong-nyong virus
OR	Ordant Receptor
Orco	Ordant Co-Receptor
ORF	Open Reading Frame
PAMP	Pathogen Associated Molecular Pattern
PBM	Post Blood Meal
piRNA	Piwi-interfering RNA
pri-miRNA	Precursor miRNA
prM	Precursor Membrane protein
RC	Replication Complex
RdRp	RNA dependent RNA polymerase
RIDL	Releasing of Insects carrying a Dominant Lethal
RISC	RNA-Induced Silencing Complex
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
RNAi	RNA interference
SFV	Semliki Forest virus
SGEB	Salivary Gland Escape Barrier
SGIB	Salivary Gland Infection Barrier
sHP-3'SL	small hairpin 3'stem-loop
siRNA	small interfering RNA
SIT	Sterile Insect Technique
SL	Stem-Loop
SLA	Stem Loop-A
TE	Transmission Efficiency
tetO	Tetracycline Operator
TLR	Toll-like Receptor
TNF	Tumor Necrosis Factor

TRAF	TNF receptor-associated Factors
tTA	Tetracycline Transactivator
UAR	Upstream AUG Region
USD	United States Dollar
UTR	Untranslated Region
vRNA	viral RNA
vsiRNA	viral small interfering RNA
WA	West African
WNV	West Nile Virus
WWII	World War II
YFV	Yellow Fever virus
ZFN	Zinc-Finger Nuclease
ZIKV	Zika virus

# **GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

## The global threat of arbovirus diseases

Unlike other human infectious diseases, the control of arbovirus diseases needs to consider three partners: the vertebrate host, mainly humans, the insect vector (e.g; mosquito) and the pathogen (e.g. the arbovirus). Because efficient vaccines and specific treatments are still lacking, main efforts should be focused on developing innovative control strategies against the vector.

Vaccines can induce virus-cross-reactivity which is proven to drive antibodydependent enhancement of infection with other arboviruses limiting vaccines wide use (de Alwis et al., 2014; Dejnirattisai et al., 2016). Thus, increasing human antiviral immunity is not considered as a promising solution for controlling arboviral diseases spreading.

In addition, owing to climate change, intensification of international commerce and travel, the distribution of arboviral diseases is no longer restricted to historical regions and conventional host populations (Rezza, 2014). More and more arboviral diseases are reported in temperate countries, accumulating evidence of adaptation between arbovirus and invasive mosquitoes in Europe (Medlock et al., 2012; Vega-Rua et al., 2013). Although arboviral diseases are mostly considered as non-lethal diseases, the tremendous societal costs and loss of productivity caused by these arboviral diseases represent significant health and economic burden for countries in financial difficulties (Stanaway et al., 2016).

Considering all the factors described above, several conditions should be taken into consideration for a more comprehensive arboviral diseases control, notably, as the recent Zika outbreaks and the Yellow fever reemerging in South America have highlighted the limits of conventional vector control strategies: inefficient, costly, and unpredictable ecological impacts (McGraw and O'Neill, 2013). Therefore, seeking for an effective and environmental

friendly vector control strategy has become urgent. Many genetically-engineered or microbial-mediated alternatives were proposed to reduce the risk of disease transmission in recent years, including the reduction of insect populations by *Wolbachia*-harboring (McGraw and O'Neill, 2013) and genetically-modified mosquitoes (Alphey, 2014) or replacing the wild population by a genetically-modified refractory strain (Champer et al., 2016). Other approaches which consider the manipulation of the mosquito host-seeking behavior have also been developed to reduce the contacts between mosquitoes and hosts (DeGennaro et al., 2013; Liesch et al., 2013; McMeniman et al., 2014).

#### 1. Dengue virus

Dengue fever (DF)/dengue hemorrhagic fever (DHF) is one of the most important arbovirus disease circulating in tropical countries (Murray et al., 2012). It is believed to be an ancient disease and could be traced back to A.D. 992 in China (Gubler, 2006). Yet, until 1635 and 1699, dengue-like illnesses were reported in French West Indies and Panama, respectively. One hundred years later, several DF-like cases were periodically reported in Batavia, Cairo, Philadelphia, Cadiz and Seville, and Spain during 1779-1788 (Vasilakis and Weaver, 2008). DF became a global epidemic from 1823 to 1916, as the consequence of international commerce and slave trade (Halstead, 2008). In the mid 20<sup>th</sup> century, the World War II (WWII) expedited the spreading of DF, as the importation of mosquito vectors and military troops deployed overseas increased the frequency of mosquito-human contacts and consequently, lead to DF outbreaks in East Africa and the Caribbean region. The entire Pacific became the theater of DF epidemics, from Australia to Hawaii and from Guinea to Japan (Gibbons et al., 2012). Since then, the number of countries with reported DF cases exponentially increased, although the DF epidemic could be controlled by successful mosquito vector eradication program in America (Gubler, 1997). However, recolonizations by mosquitoes and re-emergence of associated arboviral diseases have pronounced the failure of the program in the early 1970s as the consequence of program's ending.

#### **1.1.** The burden of dengue

Although only 9 countries had suffered this disease in early 1970s, today, more than 125 countries are endemic with dengue, approximately 50-100 million infections and 20,000 deaths annually (Bhatt et al., 2013). The four serotypes of DENV are currently circulating worldwide except the Antarctica (Huang et al., 2014; Messina et al., 2014). Among these countries, several areas had reported more than three serotypes of DENV, especially in Latin America and the Caribbean islands, Southeast Asia, the Indian subcontinent, Indonesia, Australia, and several neighboring areas had reported sequentially each serotype since 2000 (Messina et al., 2014).



**Figure 1. Global distribution of DENV.** Cumulative number of DENV serotypes reported by decade since 1943. Adapted from (Messina et al., 2014).

More than the number of DENV epidemic countries, the incidence of dengue has also increased greatly in the past two decades; the estimated dengue infections have increased from 8.3 million in 1993 to 58.4 million in 2013 (Stanaway et al., 2016). Although the mortality rate of dengue was decreased from 1.64 to 1.27 (95% UI; per million), the impacts of dengue on population health were increasing since 1993, especially for Latin America and Caribbean regions; the disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) has approximately doubled in 2013 since 1990, from 0.72 million (95% UI; 0.43-0.95 million) to 1.14 million (95% UI; 0.73-1.98 million) (Stanaway et al., 2016). Furthermore, an estimation of 18% of symptomatic infections in 2013 were hospitalized whereas 48% were medically treated without hospitalization, 8% were not taking any medical treatment, and less than 1% were fatal cases (Shepard et al., 2016). Thus, a total of 8.9 billion USD was drained for dengue related medication treatments in 2013. In addition, it is remarkable that more than 58% of the

annual budget were used for the hospitalized or fatal cases which therefore caused a important economic burden on DENV-endemic countries.

#### 1.2. Dengue epidemiology

The repetitive DF outbreaks during WWII have alerted the scientific community. Main attention has been focused on dengue viruses with remarkable progress on understanding the biology of this virus. Four serotypes of dengue virus (DENV) were identified: DENV-1, -2, -3, -4. The DENV-1 Mochizuki strain was first isolated in 1943 (Hotta, 1952). One year after, DENV-2 New Guinea C strain was identified (Sabin, 1952). The identification of DENV-3 H87 strain and DENV-4 H241 strain were done in Philippine during late 1950s (Hammon et al., 1960a; Hammon et al., 1960b). The four serotypes of DENV share distinct phylogenic and antigenic features with only 60-80% in sequence homology (Green and Rothman, 2006). Long-term immunity could be induced when infected successively with the same serotype of DENV. However, severe DHF symptoms can be developed when people are infected with different dengue serotypes, even different subtypes within the same serotype (Nisalak et al., 2003; Rico-Hesse, 2003).

#### **1.3. DENV characteristics**

DENV belongs to the genus *Flavivirus* in the Family Flaviviridae. Similar to other flaviviruses, DENV is a 500 Å in diameter, spherical shape virus enveloped with lipids (Kuhn et al., 2002). When including the highly structured 5' and 3' untranslated regions (UTR) (Friebe and Harris, 2010; Gebhard et al., 2011; Ng et al., 2017), the RNA genome is approximately 10,700 nucleotides in length; it encodes a single open reading frame (ORF), which is translated as a polyprotein (Perera and Kuhn, 2008; Screaton et al., 2015). There are

3 structural proteins and 7 non-structural proteins organized as follows: NH<sub>2</sub>-C-prM-E-NS1-NS2A-NS2B-NS3-NS4A-NS4B-NS5-COOH, each protein can be cleaved by viral proteases NS3 except the structural proteins whose cleavage is carried out by a host protease signal peptidase (Arias et al., 1993). In addition, the viral particle maturation is processed by furin, a cellular serine protease that cleaves the precursor membrane protein (prM) (Stiasny and Heinz, 2006).



Figure 2. The genome structure of dengue virus.

Three structural proteins are the major components that form the capsid and the viral membrane during assembly whereas the 7 non-structural proteins are responsible for viral RNA replication. These latter are organized in a replication complex that facilitates viral replication. Among them, the hydrophilic NS1 protein participates in different steps during viral replication as a dimer that embedded in ER membrane. Along with other non-structural proteins and viral RNA, the NS1 protein anchors the viral replicase proteins to ER membrane and form a replication complex (Scaturro et al., 2015). The NS3 protein is composed by a N-terminal serine protease and a C-terminal helicase domains (Li et al., 1999; Luo et al., 2008a). NS3 is responsible for viral polyprotein cleavage at the early stage of viral replication, with a cofactor, NS2B, the protease domain of NS3 protein which cleaves the viral polyprotein between NS proteins (Yusof et al., 2000). During viral RNA replication, the helicase and 5'-RNA triphosphatase activity of NS3 helicase domain are required for unwinding the positive-negative strands RNA intermediate duplex and 5'-RNA cap formation respectively (Luo et al., 2008b; Xu et al., 2005). NS5 is a widely studied and largest DENV non-structural protein,

which consists of a N-terminal methyltransferase (MTase) and a C-terminal RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) domains (Zhou et al., 2007). The MTase domain of NS5 consists of a RNA guanylyltransferase and methyltransferase activities which are essential for 5'-RNA capping and cap methylation (Egloff et al., 2002; Issur et al., 2009), whereas the RdRp domain of NS5 carries out the positive and negative RNA synthesis in the replication complex. As the NS1 protein, the membrane protein NS2A by interacting with NS4A-NS4B forms the viral replication complex (Scaturro et al., 2015). In addition, several non-structural proteins of DENV such as NS2A, NS4A, NS4B, also regulate the host immunity by inhibiting the interferon (INF) signaling. The replication of INF-sensitive virus could be enhanced by the expression of dengue NS2A, NS4A, and NS4B proteins (Munoz-Jordan et al., 2003). Moreover, the INF- $\alpha$  signaling could be also inhibited by ectopic expression of NS5 in human cells (Mazzon et al., 2009).

Except the viral proteins, DENV has several functional RNA elements at the 5' and 3'UTR of viral genome, involved in viral replication (Friebe and Harris, 2010; Gebhard et al., 2011; Ng et al., 2017). The initiation of viral RNA replication starts with the engagement of NS5 protein mediated 5'-3'UTR interaction, which circularized the viral genome and primes the negative strand RNA synthesis (Alvarez et al., 2005; Friebe and Harris, 2010). The circularization is initiated by the highly structured 5'UTR containing a 5' upstream AUG region (UAR) which is complementary to a 3' UAR in 3'UTR (Friebe and Harris, 2010; Villordo and Gamarnik, 2009). There are two other functional RNA elements called stem-loop A (SLA) and capsid-coding region hairpin (cHP) in the 5'UTR of dengue viral RNA (Gebhard et al., 2011). SLA with its stable stem-loop structure is involved as a promoter that interacts with NS5 protein for viral RNA synthesis (Filomatori et al., 2006; Lodeiro et al., 2009). cHP structure acts as a barrier between the first and second start codon that facilitates

the recognition of RdRp to the first start codon (Clyde and Harris, 2006). In contrast, the 3'UTR of DENV has more complex RNA structures and could be divided into three regions: stem-loop region (SL), dumbbell region (DB), and a terminal structure small hairpin 3' stem-loop (sHP-3'SL) (Villordo et al., 2016). The structures in the 3'UTR of DENV is essential for viral RNA replication but also for protein translation. The deletion of each structure in the 3'UTR results in abolishing viral RNA replication (Alvarez et al., 2005). Moreover, the sHP-3'SL in the end of viral 3'UTR is essential for DENV replication in mosquito and mammalian cells, although some mutations in the stem or loop region are tolerable for mammalian but not mosquito cells (Villordo and Gamarnik, 2013). Although the mechanisms of functional structure regulating viral RNA replication in the 3'UTR are not clear, it is believed that the pseudoknot interactions in SL and DE structures play an important part in viral replication (Sztuba-Solinska et al., 2013).



**Figure 3. Dengue life cycle.** DENV infects an eukaryotic cell through receptor-mediated endocytosis mechanism. The viral RNA is released from the endosomal vesicle in the cytoplasm in response to pH change. The replication-required viral proteins are translated from the exposed viral RNA, and form replication complex in ER membrane for viral RNA synthesis. The newly synthesized viral RNA is then transported out of the replication complex and packed by viral proteins. After several modifications, the mature virion is released from the cell membrane. Adapted from (Guzman et al., 2016).

Upon DENV infection, the virus fuses with the endosomal membrane and releases the viral RNA in the cytoplasm. The exposed viral RNA is translated into a polyprotein within the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membrane, and remains associated with ER on the cytoplamic side or in the lumen after the polyprotein is cleaved into individual viral proteins (Mukhopadhyay et al., 2005; Screaton et al., 2015). For viral RNA synthesis, the membrane structure of ER is changed by the newly synthesized NS1 and forms a viral replication complex (RC), which comprised viral RNA, replication proteins, and certain cellular proteins

in a double-membrane vesicle, to avoid the viral RNA and replication proteins from triggering host immune responses (Klema et al., 2015; Welsch et al., 2009). In the replication complex, the negative and positive strand genomic RNA are synthesized by the RdRp activity of NS5. Newly synthesized positive strand of viral RNA is subsequently modified (capped and methylated) respectively with the helicase and MTase activity of NS3 and NS5 in the replication complex (Klema et al., 2015). After, the capped and methylated RNA genome is released from the necks open to the cytoplasm, the newly synthesized RNA genome then attaches to the Capsid protein on the cytoplasmic side of the ER, forms a Capsid-RNA complex (Welsch et al., 2009). On the contrary, the viral RNA that was not actively synthesized in replication complex is not encapsidated (Khromykh et al., 2001). The Capsid-RNA complex is then incorporated into the budding particle and acquires the lipid bilayer, E, and prM proteins at the ER membrane (Byk and Gamarnik, 2016), followed by virus assembly with structural proteins to form an immature virus. The final step before release is the transport of immature particles to the Golgi apparatus for surface protein glycosylation and modification generating mature viros (Yap et al., 2017).

#### 2. Chikungunya virus

Chikungunya is currently the fastest expanding arbovirus disease worldwide, and the geographical distribution of chikungunya has reached a global distribution in the past decade, causing millions of cases over 50 countries (Nsoesie et al., 2016). Although chikungunya was not considered as a fatal disease, the long-term disabilities caused by the disease has largely increased the economic and health burdens. Therefore, chikungunya has become a major arboviral threat that transmitted by mosquitoes (Gerardin et al., 2011; Labeaud et al., 2011).

Chikungunya virus (CHIKV) is believed to originate in Africa, and has diverged into several genotypes and lineages in the subsequent years (Volk et al., 2010; Weaver et al., 2012). Although the outbreaks were misdiagnosed and attributed to DENV as they cause very similar clinical symptoms, the earliest records of chikungunya epidemic could be traced during 1779-1785, started from Cairo, then followed by several outbreaks in Arabia, India, and Southeast Asia regions (Christie, 1881). However, the first recognized CHIKV was reported in 1952 in Tanzania (Ross, 1956). The genotypes of current circulating CHIKV strains had already diverged from the original lineage. The first branching was dated 500 years ago while West African (WA) and East/Central/South African (ECSA) lineages were established in two distinct branches,. WA strains were mainly circulating in enzootic cycles and responsible for few small focal outbreaks in Western Africa (Powers and Logue, 2007). In contrast, the ECSA strains were mainly circulating outside of Africa in an urban cycle, and arrived in Asia 70 to 150 years ago; it subsequently evolved into the Asian genotype (Volk et al., 2010).

#### 2.1. Chikungunya epidemiology

The ECSA genotype has contributed to a major outbreak in 2004, enlarging the epidemic areas (Staples et al., 2009). The virus expanded to islands in the Indian Ocean region, India, and parts of Southeast Asia. Over 6 million cases of chikungunya could be estimated during the epidemic (Powers and Logue, 2007; Schwartz and Albert, 2010; Staples et al., 2009; Thiberville et al., 2013). An adaptive mutation (E1-A226V) was detected in strains of the ECSA genotype which gave the newly diverged Indian Ocean Lineage (IOL) (Volk et al., 2010). The E1-A226V mutation in CHIKV regulates the lipid and pH sensing, which alters the pH requirement and causes a higher dependence for cholesterol for infection and fusion (Kuo et al., 2012; Tsetsarkin et al., 2007; Tsetsarkin and Weaver, 2011).

Therefore, the mutation increases viral fitness in *Aedes albopictus* and consequently, facilitates the spreading of CHIKV (Tsetsarkin et al., 2007; Vazeille et al., 2007; Vega-Rua et al., 2014). The growth of international travels has greatly contributed to increase the geographic distribution of CHIKV (Tatem et al., 2012). Viremic travelers arriving in Europe became the source of contamination leading to detect autochthonous CHIKV cases in Italy (Rezza et al., 2007) and France (Grandadam et al., 2011).

#### 2.2. The burden of chikungunya

Although chikungunya is not considered as a fatal disease and the possibility of chikungunya associated lethality is still under investigation, the severe acute and chronic phases of infection still caused a significant societal burden (Dupuis-Maguiraga et al., 2012; Javelle et al., 2017; Yactayo et al., 2016). In 2014, chikungunya has caused an average of 26.88 (95% UI; 25.45-28.31) DALYs per 100,000 population in Latin America, but the value varies greatly by region. The DALYs in Dominican Republic was 962.07 (UI; 911.04-1013.10) per 100,000 population in the same year whereas it was 397.86 (UI; 376.78-418.99) in El Salvador, and 156.53 (UI; 148.23-164.83) in Puerto Rico (Cardona-Ospina et al., 2015). Nevertheless, data simulation indicated that more than 90% of DALYs and 95% of costs were attributed to chronic inflammatory rheumatism (Bloch, 2016), causing a important economic and society burden even though chikungunya incidence corresponded to only 20% of dengue incidence in Americas from 2012 to 2016 (Rodriguez-Morales et al., 2016).

#### 2.3. Characteristics of Chikungunya virus

CHIKV is an approximately 70-nm in diameter, enveloped virus which belongs to the genus *Alphaviruses* in the Family Togaviridae. The 12kb genome of CHIKV is consisting of a

single-stranded, positive-sense RNA which contains a 5' cap and a 3' polyadenylation. Unlike DENV, CHIKV genome could be divided into 49S genomic RNA and 26S subgenomic RNA, which are synthesized at different stages of infection. The non-structural viral proteins are encoded in the 49S genomic RNA, which could be translated into two polyproteins as follows: NH2-nsP1-nsP2-nsP3-COOH, or NH2-nsP1-nsP2-nsP3-nsP4-COOH as a result of translational readthrough (Li and Rice, 1993; Strauss et al., 1983). The cleavage of nonstructural polyprotein is carried out by the protease activity of viral nsP2, which acts in cis and *trans* to process a non-structural viral polyprotein into individual proteins (Karpe et al., 2011; Pastorino et al., 2008). The production of subgenomic RNA is primed at the late infection stage by a RNA subgenomic promoter on the 5' of subgenomic RNA (Strauss and Strauss, 1994). The structural proteins of CHIKV are encoded in the subgenomic RNA which could be translated as: NH<sub>2</sub>-CP-E3-E2-6k-E1-COOH, or NH<sub>2</sub>-CP-E3-E2-TF-COOH as a result of ribosomal frameshifting (Firth et al., 2008; Snyder et al., 2013). However, the cleavage of structural proteins is more complicated, except the CP-E3 cleavage which is carried out by the cis-acting protease activity of viral Capsid protein. The other proteins are cleaved by other host factors, for instance, a furin-like protease is responsible for E3-E2 cleavage whereas E2-6k and 6k-E1 are cleaved by a Signal Peptidase (Leung et al., 2011).





Like DENV, CHIKV enters mosquito cells *via* receptor-mediated endocytosis. By sensing the acidic environment of the endosome, the E1 protein containing viral envelop undergoes an irreversible conformational change, resulting in the fusion of virus-cell membranes and subsequently, the release of the viral genome into the cytoplasm (Kielian and Rey, 2006; Marsh and Helenius, 2006). With the host translational machinery, the nonstructural proteins are translated and processed into proteins that are responsible for viral RNA synthesis. Presumably with host proteins, spherules containing viral RNA and replicase (nsP4) are formed on plasma membrane (Spuul et al., 2011; Thaa et al., 2015). In the early stage of infection, a negative strand of viral RNA is synthesized together with nsP4 and uncleaved nsP123 in the spherules (Kallio et al., 2015; Shirako and Strauss, 1994; Utt et al., 2015). At the late infection stage, the non-structural proteins in the spherules are further processed into individual nsPs which transform the minus-strand replication complex into a stable positive-strand genomic and subgenomic RNA replication complex (Lemm et al., 1998; Raju and Huang, 1991). The newly synthesized subgenomic RNAs are translated into structural proteins by ribosomes. Before transporting the structural polyprotein to the ER, the self-cleaved viral capsids are formed, allowing the interaction with newly synthesized genome from spherules for oligomerization (Jose et al., 2017). The structural polyproteins E3-E2-6k-E1 and E3-E2-TF are further processed in ER that undergo palmitoylation, N-linked glyscosylation, and followed by the release of E3 with furin modification (Jose et al., 2009). E1 and E2 are transported to plasma membrane to form mature spikes on plasma membrane. Viral assembly is initiated with the binding of the viral nucleocapsid to the viral RNA and the membrane-associated envelop glycoproteins (Jose et al., 2017). The mature viral particles acquire E1/E2 protein dimers by budding out of cell surface that is covered with viral spikes (Schwartz and Albert, 2010).



**Figure 5.** Alphavirus life cycle. CHIKV infects an eukaryotic cell through receptor-mediated endocytosis mechanism. The viral RNA is released from the endosomal vesicle in response to the change of pH in the cytoplasm. Non-structural proteins are first translated from the 49S genomic RNA. As DENV, the nsPs form a spherule for negative strand RNA synthesis without triggering host immune responses. At the late stage of infection, the nsPs were cleaved into individual nsPs and the spherule is then switched into a positive strand synthesizing complex, which is responsible for positive strand RNA synthesis. Including the 49S genomic RNA and 26S subgenomic RNA, the newly synthesized viral RNA is transported out of the spherule, and the viral structure proteins are then translated from the 26S subgenomic RNA and subsequently, transported onto the cell membrane after modifications in Golgi. The newly synthesized 49S genomic RNA is then packed by viral proteins. The nucleocapsid acquires a mature glycoprotein envelop upon budding out of the membrane as a mature virion.

#### 3. Co-infection of DENV and CHIKV

As DENV and CHIKV cover the same geographical regions and are both transmitted by the same vectors *Aedes* spp., mosquitoes in the epidemic areas are potentially able to carry and transmit multiple viruses. Co-infection of DENV and CHIKV were frequently reported in Africa (Baba et al., 2013; Caron et al., 2012; Leroy et al., 2009), Southeast Asia (Neeraja et al., 2013; Schilling et al., 2009), Eastern Mediterranean (Rezza, 2012), and Western Pacific regions (Chang et al., 2010). Until now, Aedes mosquitoes were present in 154 countries, and local transmission of DENV and CHIKV were reported in 98 countries, among them, 13 countries have reported DENV-CHKV co-infection (Furuya-Kanamori et al., 2016b). The first co-infection of DENV-CHIKV was reported in Thailand in 1962, and few co-infected cases were reported in the following years until 1964 (Nimmannitya et al., 1969). Since then, DENV-CHIKV co-infections were reported in several Africa and South-East Asia countries, causing a major epidemic between 2006 to 2012 (Furuya-Kanamori et al., 2016b). Especially in Madagascar (Ratsitorahina et al., 2008), Nigeria (Baba et al., 2013), and India (Taraphdar et al., 2012), high prevalence of DENV and CHIKV co-infections was reported in each country between 2006 to 2010, causing dozens of co-infected cases during the epidemic. Although chikungunya was not considered as a lethal disease, and only 0.5-3.5% mortality could be observed for dengue hemorrhagic fever (Guzman and Kouri, 2002; Suaya et al., 2009), accumulating evidence have suggested the co-infection of CHIKV and DENV was associated to more severe clinical symptoms leading to death (Gandhi et al., 2015; Mercado et al., 2016), however, the mechanism that caused higher mortality is still not understood, as the mono-and co-infected patients were sharing very similar median age and gender distribution (Gandhi et al., 2015). Therefore, eliminating both viruses from circulation is pivotal for reducing the burdens caused by DENV and CHIKV co-circulation.



Figure 6. Co-infection of CHIKV and DENV

# Chapter 1: AEDES MOSQUITOES AND ANTIVIRAL IMMUNITY

Arboviruses are acquired by mosquitoes through a viremic blood meal from infected hosts. Through the foregut, the virus enters into the midgut and infects the epithelial cells, followed by virus replication before it escapes from the midgut barrier and disseminates to secondary tissues through tracheal or muscles (Girard et al., 2004; Romoser et al., 2004; Salazar et al., 2007). For Aedes mosquitoes, fat body, hemocytes, and nervous system are potential tissues for harboring the disseminated virus. Moreover, the infected hemocytes that circulate in the hemolymph could act as a media for salivary glands infection (Parikh et al., 2009). The virus could enter the salivary glands in the distal lateral lobes that potentially contain receptors for medicating viral endocytosis (Salazar et al., 2007). The interval between the acquisition of a virus from a blood meal and the ability to transmit to other hosts by the mosquito vector is also known as the extrinsic incubation period (EIP), which can vary widely depending on mosquitoes and viruses. Several anatomical barriers have been identified affecting the EIP: the midgut infection barrier (MIB), midgut escape barrier (MEB), salivary gland infection barrier (SGIB), and salivary gland escape barrier (SGEB) (Franz et al., 2015). The viral pathogenesis could be obstructed by each barrier in a physical or immunological manner, for instance, the basal laminar that covers the midgut and the salivary glands can physically prevent the midgut dissemination and salivary gland infection. On the contrary, the antiviral immunity of midgut epithelia cells, hemocytes, and salivary gland cells is also critical for the midgut infection, the dissemination from midgut, and the transmission from salivary glands (Franz et al., 2015).



**Figure 7. Schematic representation of arbovirus tropism in a mosquito vector.** Virions are represented by blue hexagons. Mosquitoes acquire virus through a viremic blood meal from infected hosts. The virus enters the midgut and replicates before dissemination. The virus breakthrough the midgut barrier is able to infect the other organs such as salivary glands. Only the infected salivary glands are able to transmit the virus.

#### 1. Aedes mosquitoes

Aedes aegypti and Aedes albopictus, are the primary vectors of the most important human arboviruses in the world. The wide range of temperature tolerance and the egg desiccation resistance features of Aedes mosquitoes have increased the ability of these species to survive in extreme conditions and long-distance transportation (Brady et al., 2013; Kobayashi et al., 2002), which also helped to establish a new population in non-native habitats (Juliano and Lounibos, 2005). With the transportation of a variety of goods, including used tires and lucky bamboo (Medlock et al., 2012; Scholte et al., 2010), *Ae. albopictus* were introduced in Europe from its original cradle, Southeast Asia (Paupy et al., 2009). In contrast, *Ae. aegypti* have a more complex origin, which includes two subspecies, *Ae. aegypti aegypti* and *Ae. aegypti formosus*. The forest form, *formosus*, is considered as the ancestor of the domestic form of *Ae. aegypti*, and both still exist in sub-Sahara Africa (Brown et al., 2014; Powell and Tabachnick, 2013). The forest form is darker and preferring non-human blood. It is still unclear whether the higher viral susceptibility of domestic form (Vazeille-Falcoz et al., 1999), dated before it came to the New World, or became domesticated upon arrival (Powell and Tabachnick, 2013). Later on, *Ae. aegypti* was introduced into Europe through the route of triangular slave trade between Europe, Africa, and America (Brown et al., 2011). Although there is still a lack of evidence, it is believed that *Ae. aegypti* was introduced into Asia through the eastern migration and trade between India and East Africa (Powell and Tabachnick, 2013).

As an efficient vector of CHIKV, DENV, yellow fever virus (YFV), and Zika virus (ZIKV), the global distribution of these arboviral diseases are highly co-related with the distribution of *Aedes* mosquitoes (Charrel et al., 2014). Although the climate might influence mosquito development, mortality, behavior, and even the viral replication in *Aedes* mosquitoes (Morin et al., 2013), the rapid adaptation of arboviruses have caused unexpected autochthonous transmission in temperate areas, e.g. Italy, France, and Spain. Moreover, *Ae. albopictus* has already crossed the Channel extending its distribution to southern England, and it could potentially introduce some arboviral diseases (Medlock et al., 2017). Thus, knowing more on the mosquito antiviral responses against arboviruses is essential to better apprehend prevention and control of arboviral diseases.

#### 2. Mosquito immune pathways: Toll, Imd, and JAK/STAT

Several immune pathways are involved in insect antiviral responses, including the Toll, Imd and Janus Kinase-signal transduction and activators of transcription (JAK-STAT) pathways (De Gregorio et al., 2002; Fragkoudis et al., 2009; Kingsolver et al., 2013). Toll and Imd pathways correspond to conserved innate immunity closely related to mammalian Toll-like receptor (TLR) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) pathways. Both immune pathways are primarily induced by microbial infection *via* pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) recognition (Royet et al., 2005; Werner et al., 2000). Although the viral pattern recognition

receptors in mosquitoes are still unknown, growing evidence has proved the role of Imd and Toll pathways in *Ae. aegypti* defenses against DENV (Xi et al., 2008). Through an unknown mechanism, the Toll receptor might be activated by virus direct interaction or through the ligand Spätzle (Weber et al., 2003), the activated Toll receptor recruits Myd88 for activating a NF-kB-like transcription factor Rel1 to initiate Toll-related gene expression (Horng and Medzhitov, 2001). For the initiation of Imd pathway, an unknown receptor that could be activated by viral infection recruits the Imd and FADD proteins, and these two proteins participate to the maturation of another NF-kB-like transcription factor, Rel2, to initiate Imd-related gene expression (Valanne et al., 2011).

Both Toll and Imd pathways trigger the expression of multiple anti-microbial peptides (AMPs) that restrict the replication of pathogens within infected cells. On the contrary, a systematic immunity mediated by JAK-STAT pathway is triggered by the recognition of unpaired ligand Upd through its receptor Domeless (Dome), which triggers the downstream signaling and phosphorylates, the Janus kinase (Hop) and Dome on the cytoplasmic end, leading to the phosphorylation and dimerization of STAT. The activated STATs act as transcription factor and is translocated into the nucleus for initiating the downstream AMPs and Vir-1 expression.

In addition, the JAK-STAT pathway can also be activated by Vago as a result of double strand RNA (dsRNA) accumulation. The accumulated dsRNA (including viral RNA) is sensed by Dcr-2, which activates TNF receptor-associated factors (TRAF) and then triggers the maturation of Rel2, followed by induction of Vago expression (Cheng et al., 2016; Deddouche et al., 2008; Paradkar et al., 2014). This suggests that the JAK-STAT pathway can be also triggered by virus infection.


**Figure 8. Mosquito antiviral mechanisms.** Three major insect innate immunity pathways are described in mosquitoes for antiviral responses. Through different pattern recognition signaling, different immune pathways are triggered in response to microbial infection. The pattern recognition receptor for viruses in Toll- and Imd-mediated antiviral innunity is still unknown whereas it has been proven that the JAK-STAT signaling could be elicted by Vago, induced by sensing the viral dsRNA in the cytoplasm. (Cheng et al., 2016).

# **3.** Part I: Assessing the potential role of miRNAs in the antiviral response of vector mosquitoes

In this chapter, we present an article submitted to the journal *mSphere*.

#### ABSTRACT

Although the role of exogenous siRNA and piRNA pathways in mosquito antiviral immunity is increasingly better understood, there is still little knowledge regarding interactions between the mosquito cellular miRNA pathway and arboviruses. Thus further analysis of mechanisms by which miRNAs may regulate arbovirus replication in mosquitoes is pivotal. Here, we carried out genomic analysis to identify *Aedes aegypti* miRNAs that potentially interact with various lineages and genotypes of chikungunya, dengue and Zika viruses. By using prediction tools with distinct algorithms, several miRNA binding sites were commonly found within different genotypes/and or lineages of each arbovirus. We further analyzed those miRNAs that could target more than one arbovirus and required a low energy threshold to form miRNA-vRNA (viral RNA) complexes and predicted potential RNA structures using RNAhybrid software. In summary, we predicted miRNA candidates that might participate in regulating arboviral replication in *Ae. aegypti*, and this study can shed further light on the role of miRNA in mosquito innate immunity and targets for future studies.

#### **IMPORTANCE**

The role of the siRNA and piRNA pathways in controlling virus infections in mosquitoes has been extensively studied and they are considered to be a major part of antiviral innate immune response. However, the potential role of miRNAs in mosquitoes antiviral immunity is still unclear. The cellular miRNAs of the mosquito *Aedes aegypti*, a vector for many arboviral diseases, may participate in regulating the replication of three major arboviruses: chikungunya, dengue, and Zika viruses. By using the miRanda and TargetSpy tools, several miRNAs were predicted to have potential binding sites that are common to multiple viral genotypes or lineages. Further analysis was carried out on miRNA-vRNA

interactions that required a low energy threshold to form a complex. This revealed a broad picture of possible interactions between mosquito cellular miRNAs and different genotypes/lineages of arboviruses, which could shed further light on the role of miRNA in mosquito innate immunity and targets for future studies.

KEYWORDS chikungunya, dengue, Zika, arboviruses, transmission, miRNA, Aedes aegypti

#### INTRODUCTION

Emerging and reemerging arthropod-borne viruses (arboviruses) are spreading globally (Powers and Waterman, 2017). Arboviruses usually have RNA genomes, including positive-strand RNA alphaviruses (genus Alphavirus, family Togaviridae), and flaviviruses (genus Flavivirus, family Flaviviridae) (Weaver and Reisen, 2010) (see Fig. S1 for genomic organization). The evolution of mosquito-borne RNA viruses and the complex interplay between the vector, host and virus can shape arboviral emergence and re-emergence (Grubaugh et al., 2016; Jones et al., 2008). Contrary to many other viruses, arboviruses replicate in two hosts: vertebrate and arthropod (including mosquito species). Infection of the arthropod midgut epithelial cells occurs following ingestion of a viremic blood meal. The arbovirus must disseminate through internal tissues and organs before reaching the salivary glands. Thus the virus has to overcome a series of tissue barriers before being secreted in mosquito saliva when it takes its next blood meal (Kramer and Ebel, 2003). Each barrier has different tissue-specific immune properties which, once triggered by viral infection, may affect the mosquitoes' overall vector competency (Franz et al., 2015). Immune responses to arboviruses are varied and involve different pathways but key roles are played by small RNA / RNA interference (RNAi) pathways, which are further described below (Blair and Olson, 2015; Merkling and van Rij, 2013; Olson and Blair, 2015; van Mierlo et al., 2011). The role of RNAi pathways as insect antiviral response mechanisms was initially characterized in Drosophila melanogaster (Galiana-Arnoux et al., 2006; van Rij et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2006; Zambon et al., 2006). RNAi has been shown to be a major innate antiviral immune response in mosquitoes (and other vectors) against arboviruses of all families (Donald et al., 2012; Miesen et al., 2016b). Mosquitoes have three major types of small RNA pathways and associated molecules: the small interfering RNA (siRNA), PIWI-interacting RNA (piRNA),

and microRNA (miRNA) pathways (Blair and Olson, 2015; Donald et al., 2012; Fragkoudis et al., 2009; Miesen et al., 2016b).

The exogenous siRNA pathway in mosquitoes is triggered by exogenous long doublestranded RNA (dsRNA) molecules, which are produced during viral replication. By analogy to *D. melanogaster* (Campbell et al., 2008), these dsRNAs are recognized by the RNAse III enzyme Dicer 2 (Dcr-2) and cleaved in mosquitoes into predominantly 21 nucleotides (nt) viral siRNAs (vsiRNA). These vsiRNAs are loaded into the multi-protein RNA-Induced Silencing Complex (RISC), which contains the endonuclease Argonaute-2 (Ago-2), a member of the Argonaute family. Ago-2 unwinds the siRNAs and retains one strand as a guide strand to target RNAs with complementary sequence (mRNAs, viral genomes, antigenomes), which triggers cleavage of the complementary RNA by Ago-2. These results have stressed the role of exogenous RNAi pathway in controlling viral replication (Campbell et al., 2008; Carissimo et al., 2015; Dietrich et al., 2017; Keene et al., 2004; Sanchez-Vargas et al., 2009).

Accumulating data suggest that the Piwi-interacting RNA (piRNA) pathway is also involved in mosquito RNAi antiviral immunity (Brackney et al., 2010; Hess et al., 2011; Miesen et al., 2016a; Miesen et al., 2016b; Morazzani et al., 2012; Schnettler et al., 2013). However, the effector and effector mechanism are unclear and the Piwi4 protein has been identified as a non-canonical effector (Varjak et al., 2017). piRNAs are 24-30 nt in size and produced in a Dicer-independent manner. piRNA molecules interact with Argonaute-3 (Ago-3) and Piwi proteins in a so-called "ping-pong" mechanism which amplifies these small RNAs. During this amplification, a typical U1/A10 positional bias in the piRNA molecules is observed (Brennecke et al., 2007). Several studies have identified and characterized viral piRNA (vpiRNA) or piRNA-like small RNAs in mosquitoes or mosquito cells (Brackney et al., 2010; Hess et al., 2011; Miesen et al., 2016b; Morazzani et al., 2012; Schnettler et al., 2013). Nonetheless, it remains unclear if vpiRNAs exert any antiviral activity.

Finally, the miRNA pathway is a major endogenous gene expression regulation mechanism. Again it is presumed that the pathway in mosquitoes largely resembles that of D. melanogaster given close relationships of effector proteins (Campbell et al., 2008). This pathway shares some similarities with the siRNA pathway, but with important differences (Blair, 2011; Blair and Olson, 2015; Donald et al., 2012), such as it has both nuclear and cytoplasmic phases as the precursor RNAs are produced in the nucleus. From miRNA precursors to mature miRNAs, the biogenesis of miRNAs is a process involving several steps carried out by different proteins. The miRNA precursors (pri-miRNAs) originate from independent miRNA genes or mirtrons which are encoded as introns within RNA transcripts. The hairpin-structured pri-miRNAs are processed by the RNase III type endonuclease Drosha into ~70bp hairpins, which are then cleaved into ~20bp miRNA duplexes by Dicer-1 after being exported from the nucleus into the cytoplasm by Exportin5 (Ha and Kim, 2014; Kim et al., 2009; Yi et al., 2003). The miRNA duplexes in the cytoplasm are loaded into Ago-1 or Ago-2 proteins in miRNA-induced silencing complexes (miRISCs) according to their different structures (Forstemann et al., 2007; Ghildiyal et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2014). Mainly using residues 2-8 at the 5' end of mature miRNA (seed region), the miRISC uses the guide strand to find complementary RNA sequences which leads to RNA degradation (carried out by Ago-2), translational inhibition or both (mediated by other Ago proteins, not Ago-2) (Li and Rana, 2014; Wilczynska and Bushell, 2015). Commonly, animal miRNAs binding sites are mainly in the 3'UTR (Pillai et al., 2007); however miRNA binding sites in the 5'UTR or coding regions of mRNAs were also reported and are involved in post-transcriptional gene regulation (Brummer and Hausser, 2014; Hausser et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2009).

Only a few studies have shown direct evidence that mosquito miRNAs interfere with virus replication *via* complementarity with viral RNA genome or regulation of the immune genes in mosquitoes. A miRNA from *Ae. aegypti*, aae-miR-2940, was reported as a mosquito-

specific antiviral miRNA which inhibits the replication of DENV and West Nile virus (WNV) in Ae. aegypti or Ae. albopictus cell lines respectively (Slonchak et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2013). The antiviral mechanism of aae-miR-2940 may involve a complex immune network, and could be regulated by endosymbionts or virus infection. One target of aae-miR-2940 in Aedes spp. is a metalloprotease, which is required by Wolbachia but also essential for WNV and DENV replication. However, by up-regulating aae-miR-2940 expression (which facilitates Wolbachia proliferation), the replication of WNV and DENV was consequently inhibited (Hussain et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2013). Moreover, the same mechanism was observed in Ae. albopictus derived C6/36 cells, although instead of inducing metalloprotease expression, it was down-regulated by WNV infection thus limiting viral replication (Slonchak et al., 2014). Bioinformatic approaches suggest that the target site of aae-miR-2940 is in the 3'UTR of WNV; although, it has been experimentally demonstrated that this miRNA has no significant effect on viral replication (Slonchak et al., 2014). In addition, aal-miR-2940-5p and aal-miR-2940-3p were presumed to be involved in CHIKV replication in Ae. albopictus (Shrinet et al., 2014). Furthermore, genomic RNA levels of DENV and WNV were increased significantly in either Drosha, Ago-1 or Ago-2 knock-down Ae. aegypti derived Aag2 cells (Kakumani et al., 2013), and an increase in DENV titer could also be observed in either Dcr-1, Dcr-2, Ago-1, or Ago-2 deficient Drosophila S2 cells (Mukherjee and Hanley, 2010). Although silencing of Ago-1 in An. gambiae mosquitoes or Aag2 cells had no effect on either o'nyong-nyong virus (ONNV), Semliki Forest virus (SFV) or CHIKV (Keene et al., 2004; McFarlane et al., 2014b; Schnettler et al., 2013), some studies have shown that the miRNA could be loaded into Ago-2 under certain conditions (Fu et al., 2017; Hussain et al., 2013); thus the effects of miRNAs on the replication of alphaviruses needs to be carefully examined. Complementarity within the seed region is critical for initiating interactions with potential targets. However, mismatches within this region could be compensated by pairing to the 3'

region of miRNA in metazoans (Shin et al., 2010). In addition, an increasing number of studies have demonstrated that thermodynamic considerations in the seed region play an important role for seed region-dependent silencing (Hibio et al., 2012; Ui-Tei et al., 2008; Ui-Tei et al., 2012). The relatively flexible thermodynamic rules of miRNA binding sites can potentially lead to the multiple targets of a single miRNA. Whereas the targets might also be regulated by multiple miRNAs, interactions between miRNAs and viral RNA could also contribute to antiviral innate immunity in the host.

In mammals, more evidence is available on the role of virus replication regulated by direct miRNA-vRNA interaction (Scheel et al., 2016; Trobaugh and Klimstra, 2017). Host miRNAs may bind to the cytoplasmic viral RNA genome as regular mRNA in a seed region-dependent manner. However, binding does not necessarily lead to the inhibition of viral replication. For instance, the enhancement of viral replication has been demonstrated with the human liver specific miR-122 which targets the 5°UTR of HCV and stabilizes the viral RNA, facilitating viral replication (Conrad et al., 2013; Jopling et al., 2005). In any case, the direct interaction between cellular miRNAs and RNA virus genomes could play a very important role in replication. In vertebrates, several studies have underlined the regulation of virus replication following the direct binding of miRNAs to the viral RNA genome. In addition to HCV, several other viral vertebrate pathogens have been shown to be regulated in this manner. These include, amongst others, Eastern equine encephalitis virus (EEEV) (Bai and Nicot, 2015; Huang et al., 2007; Lecellier et al., 2005; Nathans et al., 2009; Trobaugh et al., 2014; Wen et al., 2013; Zheng et al., 2013).

Importantly, EEEV is a mosquito-borne virus (closely related to CHIKV) and infections result in high mortality rates in humans and long-term neurological damage in surviving patients (Deresiewicz et al., 1997). Replication of the North American EEEV strain, FL93-939, was reduced by the human haematopoietic cell specific miR-142-3p that has four

12

binding sites in the 3'UTR. Moreover, the replication of an EEEV strain depleted of miR-142-3p binding sites was nearly 1,000-fold higher than wild-type EEEV (Trobaugh et al., 2014). This indicates viral replication is mediated by cellular miRNAs in humans and suggests a similar mechanism might be found in the mosquito vectors.

There is still a remarkable lack of information about the interactions between mosquito miRNAs and arboviruses. However, miRNAs were identified by next generation sequencing (NGS) techniques in numerous studies and are now available in databases, while improved bioinformatics tools have been developed. To identify potential mosquito miRNA binding sites in the viral RNA, we compared published small RNA sequencing data from *Ae. aegypti* to virus sequence data from major arboviruses, e.g. CHIKV, DENV (serotypes 1-4), and Zika virus (ZIKV). We predicted and analyzed the potential target sites on each virus genome to reveal practicable miRNA-vRNA interactions by combining thermodynamics and miRNA expression profiles. This study can underpin future work on the role of miRNAs in regulating arbovirus replication in mosquito cells.

### RESULTS

#### miRNA binding sites in the CHIKV genome

CHIKV belongs to the family of *Togaviridae* and the genus *Alphavirus*, with three genotypes circulating worldwide: East/Central/South African (ECSA), West African (WA), and Asian. The CHIKV Indian Ocean lineage (IOL) emerged in 2004-5 from the ECSA phylogroup and has spread throughout many tropical regions (Powers & Logue, 2007). It is believed that the WA and ECSA lineages diverged from the ancestor lineage 500 years ago, and the Asian genotype evolved from the ECSA genotype an estimated 70 to 150 years ago (Volk et al., 2010). The IOL lineage predominates in regions where the vector *Ae. albopictus* 

is present/dominant, in part due to selection of an *Ae. albopictus*-adaptive substitution in the CHIKV E1 envelope glycoprotein (E1-A226V). This substitution confers efficient infection and dissemination in *Ae. albopictus* for IOL of CHIKV (Tsetsarkin et al., 2007; Vazeille et al., 2007).

Four CHIKV genotypes were selected for this study: Asian (EU703762), ECSA (HM045811), IOL (AM258992), and WA (HM045816). Two analytical tools,miRanda and TargetSpy, were used to identify a total of 20, 25, 26, and 22 miRNAs binding sites that were commonly found for CHIKV of different genotypes and lineages (Asian, ECSA, IOL, and WA) (Fig. 1).

When comparing the binding sites previously identified among all four genotypes, the highest number of shared binding sites was between ECSA and IOL genotypes (N=18), whereas WA and Asian genotypes were relatively independent to each other with no common binding sites (Fig. 1). Therefore, for our analysis, WA and Asian sequences were considered in two separate groups comparing each to ECSA and IOL: (i) WA, ECSA, IOL, and (ii) Asian, ECSA, IOL. When comparing viruses of group (i) six miRNAs binding sites were common and could be targeted by aae-miR-263a-5p, aae-miR-279, aae-miR-305-5p, aae-miR-34-3p, and aae-miR-996 (Table 1). When examining group (ii) (WA, ECSA, IOL), three other miRNAs binding sites were detected, which potentially interacted with aae-miR-285, aae-miR-989, and aae-miR-iab-4-5p (Table 1).

The predicted miRNA binding sites shared between Asian, ECSA, and IOL viruses of group (i) were all located within non-structural protein coding regions. aae-miR-263a-5p is one of the most highly expressed miRNA in saliva of *Ae. aegypti* and could be detected throughout all mosquito developmental stages (Hu et al., 2015; Maharaj et al., 2015). miR-279 is related to olfactory regulation, and miR-279 in *D. melanogaster* is involved in the formation of the CO<sub>2</sub> sensory neuron in maxillary palps (Cayirlioglu et al., 2008). In *Ae*.

*aegypti*, aae-miR-279 was present in embryos and was found to be induced in the midgut following a blood meal (Li et al., 2009). aae-miR-305-5p was predicted to target the nsP2 region which encodes the RNA helicase, RNA triphosphatase and proteinase (Karpe et al., 2011; Rupp et al., 2015) and was reported to be abundant during the mosquito pupal stage and in *Ae. aegypti* Aag2 cells (Hu et al., 2015), and could be upregulated in mosquito salivary glands after CHIKV infection (Maharaj et al.). Interestingly, the expression of aae-miR-305-5p switched to aae-miR-305-3p in response to DENV-2 infection (Etebari et al., 2015). aaemiR-34-3p was predicted to target the nsP1 region involved in the synthesis of the negative strand of viral genomic RNA (Rupp et al., 2015). This miRNA could be detected at all mosquito developmental stages but the expression level was relatively low during the pupal stage. Moreover, the expression of aae-miR-34-3p correlated with the nutritional status of adults and can be suppressed in the midgut when they are starved (Ray, 2013). aae-miR-996 is the most abundant miRNA in embryos and was also found to be up-regulated in saliva during CHIKV infection (Akbari et al., 2013a; Maharaj et al., 2015).

There are three potential miRNA binding sites that are common between WA, ECSA, and IOL genotypes of the group (ii). Two of them might potentially be targeted by the miRNA aae-miR-285 and aae-miR-989 in the E1 and nsP4 coding regions respectively. While the expression of aae-miR-285 could be detected in both male and female adults, it was rarely observed in the larval stage of *Ae. aegypti* (Hu et al., 2015). It was also reported to be up-regulated in the cytoplasm of *Wolbachia*-transinfected Aag2 cells (*Wolbachia* induced miRNA). In contrast, aae-miR-989 was reported as an abundant miRNA expressed in *Ae. aegypti* females but relatively rare in male adult (Hu et al., 2015). The other potential miRNA binding site shared between WA, ECSA, and IOL genotypes may potentially be targeted by aae-miR-iab-4-5p in the 3'UTR. Notably, this miRNA might have additional binding sites on the 5'UTR of ECSA and IOL genotypes. Any activity of this miRNA might be increased by

multiple binding sites on the 5'- and 3' UTR of CHIKV involved in initiating viral RNA replication (Rupp et al., 2015).

#### miRNA binding sites in DENV genomes

DENV has evolved independently into four serotypes from distinct sylvatic progenitors and then into several genotypes (Vasilakis and Weaver, 2008). They only share 60-80% sequence similarity and need to be analyzed separately to find potential miRNA-vRNA interactions. Several conserved miRNA binding sites could be found in each serotype which might participate in viral regulation, as outlined below.

#### DENV-1

Five genotypes of DENV-1 were selected for analysis: genotype I (AF298808), genotype II (JQ922547), genotype III (DQ285562), genotype IV (EF025110), and genotype V (JX669462). A total of 28, 30, 34, 33, and 26 potential binding sites were found in genotypes I, II, III, IV, and V respectively (Fig. 2). Among them, only two potential miRNA binding sites were common to all five genotypes of DENV-1, which could be targeted respectively by aae-miR-1 and aae-miR-282-5p on the capsid and NS3 protein coding regions respectively (Table 2). aae-miR-1 is a conserved miRNA which is upregulated 24 hours post blood meal in *Ae. aegypti* (Bryant et al., 2010). It was also identified in *Wolbachia*-infected cells (Mayoral et al., 2014b). These features are shared by aae-miR-282-5p (Mayoral et al., 2014a). Furthermore, other potential miRNA binding sites were commonly found between four of the five genotypes (Table 2). The NS5 region of genotypes I, II, III and V could potentially be targeted by aae-miR-316, aae-miR-92a-3p, and aae-miR-92b-3p. aae-miR-316 has not been extensively studied miRNA in mosquitoes, however it is known that its expression was induced at 24 hours post blood meal (Li et al., 2009). In addition, this miRNA might have an

further potential binding site within the capsid region (genotypes I, III, and V). This may increase the probability of miRNA-vRNA interactions. Both aae-miR-92a-3p and aae-miR-92b-3p are present in the cytoplasm and nucleus of Ae. aegypti Aag-2 cells. A decrease in their expression levels was observed when cells were infected with Wolbachia (Wolbachiasuppressed miRNA) (Mayoral et al., 2014a). aae-miR-11-5p is the only miRNA with a common binding site in genotypes I, II, IV and V within NS4B (Table 2). In mosquitoes, the expression of aae-miR-11-5p was detected at all developmental stages and is induced in the midgut after blood meal (Hu et al., 2015; Li et al., 2009). Nevertheless, it is also reported as a Wolbachia-suppressed miRNA (Mayoral et al., 2014a). Two potential miRNA binding sites for aae-miR-263a-3p and aae-miR-998 were found conserved on the 3'UTR of genotypes I, III, and V (Table 2). However, although aae-miR-263a-3p is detectable in mosquito cells, the *in vivo* expression profile is still unclear. It has been shown that its byproduct, aae-miR-263a-5p, is increased in the saliva of CHIKV-infected mosquitoes at 10 days post infection (Maharaj et al., 2015). This suggests that virus infection could be involved in the regulation of aae-miR-263a-5p, at least in some tissues. In contrast, aae-miR-998 is a widely expressed miRNA which is abundant in embryos and decreases during development. Although its expression is lower in adults, it could be triggered in the adult midgut after a blood meal (Li et al., 2009). Interestingly, the location of aae-miR-998 is close to aae-miR-11 (-3p or -5p) in the mosquito genome (less than 300 bp apart) suggesting that their regulation might be correlated.

#### **DENV-2**

Five genotypes of DENV-2 were selected for our analysis: Asian I (DQ181799), Asian II (AJ968413), Asian American (DQ181801), American (AY702040) and Cosmopolitan (AB189122). We found a total of 28, 31, 21, 22, and 28 potential binding sites on each genotype respectively (Fig. 3). Among them, binding sites for aae-miR-2944a-3p, aae-miR-

316, and aae-miR-9c-5p were common to all five genotypes (Table 3).

aae-miR-316 has a potential binding site on the capsid region of viral RNA. It could be detected in both male and female adults and is induced after a blood meal (Hu et al., 2015; Li et al., 2009). Little is known about the expression profile of aae-miR-9c-5p, which was predicted to have a binding site within the NS5 region. It can be detected in Ae. aegypti embryos and at low levels in DENV-2 infected adults (Campbell et al., 2014). Furthermore, three other miRNA binding sites were shared between at least four genotypes. Two binding sites were common between Asian I, Asian II, Asian American, and Cosmopolitan genotypes: aae-miR-281-3p within NS2B, and aae-miR-998 within the 3'UTR region of DENV-2. aaemiR-281-3p was described in Ae. aegypti Aag2 cells (Mayoral et al., 2014a), and its expression in mosquito midgut was triggered by a blood meal (Li et al., 2009). Moreover, its byproduct, aae-miR-281-5p, was reported to be an abundant midgut-specific miRNA that enhances DENV-2 infection in Ae. albopictus (Zhou et al., 2014). The only miRNA predicted to target Asian I, Asian American and Cosmopolitan genotypes of DENV-2 is aae-miR-263a-3p which has a potential binding site on the 3'UTR. Its presence was detected in Ae. aegypti embryos and Aag2 cells (Hu et al., 2015; Hussain et al., 2011). Interestingly, the same miRNA binding site within the 3'UTR of DENV-2 was also found within that region of DENV-1. aae-miR-315-5p is abundant in embryos, but decreases during development, although it is reported to remain detectable in both male and female adult (Hu et al., 2015; Mayoral et al., 2014a). The possible target sites were predicted to be located in the 3'UTR of the Ae. aegypti JHA15 (juvenile hormone regulated serine protease) (Lucas et al., 2015) and AaArgM3 (arginine methyltransferase 3) (Zhang et al., 2014).

#### **DENV-3**

Four genotypes of DENV-3 were selected for our analysis: genotype I (AY744677), genotype

II (AY676352), genotype III (AY099336), and genotype V (AF317645). Again, 25, 38, 41and 29 potential binding sites were identified in genotypes I, II, III, and V respectively (Fig. 4). Among these, five were shared between all four genotypes.

The capsid, prM, NS4A and 3'UTR regions of DENV-3 are potentially targeted by miRNAs aae-miR-124, aae-miR-281-3p, aae-miR-316, aae-miR-79-3p, and aae-miR-998, respectively (Table 4). The capsid region of DENV-3 has two potential binding sites that could interact with aae-miR-316 and aae-miR-79-3p. aae-miR-316, which also potentially interacts with DENV-1 and DENV-2, has been described above. The prM region of DENV-3 contains a potential binding site for aae-miR-281-3p, which is detected in the cytoplasm of *Ae. aegypti* Aag2 cells and is upregulated in response to *Wolbachia* infection (Hussain et al., 2011). aae-miR-124 potentially targets NS4B, and its expression levels peak during the larval stage (Hu et al., 2015). aae-miR-998 could potentially interact with the 3'UTR of DENV-3, but also has an additional binding site within the NS3 region, which is conserved between genotypes II, III, and V of DENV-3.

#### **DENV-4**

Three genotypes of DENV-4 were selected for our analysis: genotype I (AY618992), genotype II (FJ639737), and genotype III (AY618988). We identified 32, 37, and 21 potential miRNA binding sites for genotypes I, II, and III of DENV-4 respectively (Fig. 5). Among them, three potential miRNA binding sites were common to all three genotypes and may be targeted by aae-miR-1, aae-miR-219, and aae-miR-281-3p (Table 5).

Most of the miRNAs that were predicted to interact with DENV-4 sequences have been mentioned above. Among them, aae-miR-281-3p is predicted to target NS2A and aaemiR-1 and aae-miR-219 target a region of NS5. aae-miR-219 is a *Wolbachia*-induced miRNA in Aag2 cells and is expressed continuously from the larval to adult developmental stages (Hu et al., 2015; Mayoral et al., 2014a).

#### miRNA targeting the ZIKV genome

ZIKV was first isolated from Aedes africanus mosquitoes in 1948 (Dick, 1952) although serological evidence has shown a broader geographic distribution of human infections including North/East Africa, and South/Southeast Asia (Dick, 1953; Hammon et al., 1958; Macnamara, 1954; Pond, 1963; Smithburn, 1952, 1954; Smithburn et al., 1954a; Smithburn et al., 1954b). Since the first human case reported in Nigeria in 1952 (Macnamara, 1954), only 13 cases of mild, febrile illness were reported until the outbreak in the State of Yap (Federated States of Micronesia) in 2007 (Fagbami, 1979; Moore et al., 1975; Olson et al., 1981; Simpson, 1964), where more than 70% of the population were infected (Duffy et al., 2009). Later, cases of ZIKV related Guillain-Barré syndrome were notified during the outbreak in French Polynesia in 2013-2014 (Cao-Lormeau et al., 2014; Oehler et al., 2014). The first ZIKV case reported in America was in 2015 in Bahia (Brazil) (Campos et al., 2015; Zanluca et al., 2015). ZIKV caused a total of 51473 suspected cases and more than 4300 cases of microcephaly in Brazil by March 2016 (Victora et al., 2016; WHO, 2016), and the virus spread to at least in 33 countries or areas in the Americas (Hennessey et al., 2016; WHO, 2016). Related to DENV, ZIKV belongs to the *Flaviviridae* family and the genus *Flavivirus*. The three distinct genotypes East Africa (EA), West Africa (WA), and Asian were likely to be originated in East Africa (Faye et al., 2014; Petersen et al., 2016). ZIKV has a conserved genome with less than 12% divergence at nucleotide level among all virus strains, and even with 99% nucleotide similarity for the strains from the Americas (Haddow et al., 2012). Thus, the interactions between mosquito miRNA and viral RNA could be more relevant than between highly divergent viruses, and might provide a new insight for evaluating the antiviral immunity of mosquitoes against newly emergent viruses. Three genotypes of ZIKV were

selected for analysis: EA (KF268949), WA (JU955592), and Asian (KU365778). According to our results, 30, 22 and 27 potential binding sites were found in EA, WA, and Asian genotypes respectively (Fig. 6).

Five potential miRNA binding sites within the 5'UTR, NS2A, NS5 and 3'UTR were common among all three genotypes (Table 6). aae-miR-286a has two potential binding sites within the 5'UTR and NS5 regions, while aae-miR-286b could potentially target the 5'UTR. Both miRNAs have been detected in mosquito embryos (Li et al., 2009), although were less abundant in adults (Hussain et al., 2011). aae-miR-new-8 is a novel miRNA that has been recently discovered. Its expression could be detected in the very early stages of embryo development and decreases during embryogenesis (Hu et al., 2015). No information is available for the other miRNAs. aae-miR-34-3p (mentioned previously) is predicted to target to the 3'UTR region and NS2A region (involves in virus assembly) of ZIKV respectively.

#### Selection of miRNAs and thermodynamic analysis

Several miRNAs were predicted to have a low minimum free energy (MFE) indicating a relatively high affinity to form miRNA-vRNA complexes. In *Ae. aegypti*, we set up a MFE cut-off with -20 kcal/mol for evaluating miRNA-vRNA affinity (Etebari et al., 2016; Hu et al., 2015; Hussain and Asgari, 2014; Su et al., 2017). According to this prediction data, we identified eight miRNAs - namely aae-miR-10, aae-miR-11-5p, aar-miR-278-3p, aae-miR-282-5p, aae-miR-286a, aae-miR-286b, aae-miR-316, and aae-miR-34-3p. These could potentially target more than one genotype of each virus species with a MFE below -20 kcal/mol for each miRNA-vRNA complex (Fig. S1). The possible structures formed by miRNA-vRNA interactions were predicted using RNAhybrid. We found that aae-miR11-5p and aae-miR-316 were forecasted to have binding sites within all the virus genomes we choose in this study. Thus, we suggest that these two miRNAs might play a critical role for viral replication in Ae. aegypti.

#### DISCUSSION

miRanda and TargetSpy are powerful algorithms for predicting the miRNA potential binding sites on target sequences. miRanda is one of the most extensively used miRNA target prediction tools and was applied originally for identifying miRNA binding sites in *Drosophila*. The miRanda algorithm works in three phases. Firstly, the complementarity matches between the input miRNAs and RNA sequences were identified based on dynamic programming algorithm alignment. Secondly, a thermodynamic calculation was made to rule out the matches with a MFE value above the threshold. Finally, the remaining results were filtered by checking the sequence conservation with D. pseudoobscura and An. gambiae. In addition, miRanda can also weigh the matches between the 2<sup>nd</sup> to the 8<sup>th</sup> nucleotide from the 5' arm of miRNA (seed-region), to evaluate the potential for miRNA-vRNA interaction to form (Enright et al., 2003). For a more stringent selection, the same database was analyzed with another algorithm, TargetSpy. Unlike miRanda, TargetSpy is an algorithm based on machine learning and automatic feature selection with a broad spectrum of compositional, structural, and base pairing of each miRNA to the targeting sequence (Sturm et al., 2010). Using a combination of miRanda and TargetSpy, we obtained consensus results which should be more robust for detecting miRNAs involved in viral replication. Moreover, a more reliable miRNAvRNA interaction was examined by comparing these results with the structure information predicted by RNAhybrid.

Several potential miRNA binding sites were found for all three arboviruses, with conservation within each genotypes/lineage or even serotype for DENV (Fig. 7). Although many of the miRNA-vRNA complexes can be identified based on the relatively low MFE value, it remains necessary to evaluate the role of each potential miRNA on virus replication,

and the subsequent reduction or facilitation of virus replication has to be demonstrated experimentally. Although there is still a lack of miRNA targetome information available for *Ae. aegypti*, the critical roles of cellular miRNAs in host viral immunity have received more attention elsewhere with conformation of mammalian host miRNA-vRNA interactions c(Scheel et al., 2016; Trobaugh and Klimstra, 2017). The miRNA-vRNA interactions could regulate virus replication through different effects and thus lead to distinct outcomes, such as an inhibition caused by miRNA mediated gene silencing, or through enhancing the virus replication as a consequence of miRNA-vRNA interactions. However, miRNA-vRNA interactions can also be proved by techniques such as Argonaute-crosslinking immunoprecipitation (AGO-CLIP) and mutagenic analysis of virus genomes is possible for many of the arboviruses investigated here. This study provides an analysis and rationale for selecting miRNAs and miRNA target sequences in genomes and should underpin such studies.

#### **METHODS**

#### Identification strategies for miRNA and v-RNA interactions

Key, human pathogenic arboviruses (flaviviruses, DENV1-4 and ZIKV, and the alphavirus, CHIKV) were chosen for analyzing the relationship between miRNAs and viral genomes (vRNA). The genome sequences for each virus were collected from the virus database Virus Pathogen Resource (ViPR, www.ViPRbrc.org) (Pickett et al., 2012a; Pickett et al., 2012b), while the miRNA sequences of *Ae. aegypti* were retrieved from the miRNA database, miRbase, and published results of small RNA sequencing (Hu et al., 2015). Predictions of miRNA-vRNA interactions were carried out mainly using miRanda software

(Enright et al., 2003) and coordination with TargetSpy (Sturm et al., 2010) via the online tool sRNAtoolbox (Rueda et al., 2015) with default settings (<u>http://bioinfo5.ugr.es/srnatoolbox</u>). The consensus binding sites predicted by both software were extracted by BEDtools (Quinlan and Hall, 2010). Only the prediction sites shared by the two prediction algorithms were chosen for further case study (see below) and evaluation of the affinity of each miRNA-vRNA complex. In addition, the structures of these complexes were predicted using the tool RNAhybrid (Kruger and Rehmsmeier, 2006) via BiBiServ2 (<u>https://bibiserv2.cebitec.uni-bielefeld.de</u>) (Fig. 8).

#### **Flowchart validation**

A mosquito endogenous mRNA-miRNA interaction was used to validate the workflow for predicting miRNA binding sites we have adopted in this study. The transcript of *Ae. aegypti* glutamate semialdehyde dehydrogenase (GSD, AAEL006834) was shown to be regulated by aae-miR-275-3p in the 3'UTR (Zhang et al., 2017). The GDS transcript and the miRNA database of *Ae. aegypti* were used as input data. Using the default setting, a total of two binding sites were predicted by the software miRanda at the position 362-381 and 2682-2700 in the coding sequence and 3'UTR, respectively. However, only one binding site on the 3'UTR was filtered by TargetSpy which matches with aae-miR-275-3p identified earlier (Zhang et al., 2017).

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was partly supported by the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and innovation program under "ZIKALLIANCE" Grant Agreement n° 734548) (ABF, AK), the French Government's Investissement d'Avenir program, Laboratoire d'Excellence "Integrative Biology of Emerging Infectious Diseases, IBEID" (grant n°ANR-10-LABX-62-IBEID) (ABF), and the UK Medical Research Council [MC\_UU\_12014] (AK). PSY was supported by the Pasteur-Paris University (PPU) program. We thank Dr. Catherine DAUGA, Mr. Adrien PAIN, and Mr. Michele MARCONCINI for advice.

Table 1 List of the nine most common miRNA binding sites in the CHIKV genome.

Groups	Number of prediction binding sites	miRNAs	Predicted binding sites
(i) Asian ECSA IOL	6	aae-miR-263a-5p aae-miR-279 aae-miR-305-5p aae-miR-34-3p aae-miR-34-3p aae-miR-996	nsP4 E1 nsP3 nsP1 nsP1 E1
(ii) WA ECSA IOL	3	aae-miR-285 aae-miR-989 aae-miR-iab-4-5p	E1 capsid 3'UTR

## Table 2 List of the nine most common miRNA binding sites in the DENV-1 genome.

Genotypes	Number of prediction binding sites	miRNAs	Predicted binding sites
I II III IV V	2	aae-miR-1 aae-miR-282-5p	NS3 Capsid
I II III V	3	aae-miR-316-2 aae-miR-92a-3p aae-miR-92b-3p	NS5 NS5 NS5
I II IV V	1	aae-miR-11-5p	NS4B
I III IV V	3	aae-miR-263a-3p aae-miR-316 aae-miR-998	3'UTR Capsid 3'UTR

## Table 3 List of the six most common miRNA binding sites in then DENV-2 genome.

Genotypes Num predict	mber of ion binding sites	miRNAs	Predicted binding sites
--------------------------	---------------------------------	--------	----------------------------

Asian-I Asian-II Asian American American Cosmopolitan	2	aae-miR-316 aae-miR-9c-5p	Capsid NS5
Asian-I Asian-II Asian American Cosmopolitan	2	aae-miR-281-3p aae-miR-998	NS2B 3'UTR
Asian-I Asian American American Cosmopolitan	1	aae-miR-263a-3p	3'UTR
Asian-II Asian American American Cosmopolitan	1	aae-miR-315-5p	NS5

Table 4 List of the five most common miRNA binding sites in the DENV-3 genome.

Genotypes	Number of	miRNAs	Predicted binding
	prediction binding		sites
	sites		
Ι		aae-miR-124	NS4A
II		aae-miR-281-3p	prM
III	5	aae-miR-316	capsid
V		aae-miR-79-3p	capsid
		aae-miR-998	3'UTR

Genotypes	Number of prediction binding sites	miRNAs	Predicted binding sites
I	3	aae-miR-1	NS5
II		aae-miR-281-3p	NS2A
III		aae-miR-219	NS5

## Table 5 List of the three most common miRNA binding sites in the DENV-4 genome.

Genotypes	Number of prediction binding sites	miRNAs	Predicted binding sites
East African West African Asian	5	aae-miR-286a aae-miR-286a aae-miR-286b aae-miR-34-3p aae-miR-new8	5'UTR NS5 5'UTR 3'UTR NS2A

## Table 6 List of the five most common miRNA binding sites in ZIKV sequences.



**FIG 1** Venn-diagram presentation of common prediction binding sites on four genotypes of CHIKV for *Ae. aegypti* miRNAs. AM258992, Indian Ocean Lineage, IOL; HM045816, West African, WA; EU703762, Asian; HM045811, East/Central/South African, ECSA. The six miRNAs binding sites common to the group Asian/ECSA/ IOL and the group WA/ECSA/IOL were listed in Table 1.



**FIG 2** Venn-diagram of the predicted common binding sites on five genotypes of DENV-1 for *Ae. aegypti* miRNAs. AF298808, genotype I; JQ922547, genotype II; DQ285562, genotype III; EF025110, genotype IV; JX669462, genotype V. The nine miRNAs binding sites that are common to at least four genotypes of DENV-1 were listed in Table 2.



**FIG 3** Venn-diagram of the predicted common binding sites for five genotypes of DENV-2 for *Ae. aegypti* miRNAs. DQ181799, Asian-I; AJ968413, Asian-II; DQ181801, Asian American; AY702040, American; AB189122, Cosmopolitan. The nine miRNAs binding sites common to at least four genotypes of DENV-2 were listed in Table 3.



**FIG 4** Venn-diagram of the predicted common binding sites in four genotypes of DENV-3 for *Ae. aegypti* miRNAs. AY744677, genotype I; AY676352, genotype II; AY099336, genotype III; AF317645, genotype V. The five miRNAs binding sites that are common to all four genotypes of DENV-3 were listed in Table 4.



**FIG 5** Venn-diagram of the predicted common binding sites in three genotypes of DENV-4 for *Ae. aegypti* miRNAs. AY618992, genotype I; FJ639737, genotype II; AY618988, genotype III. The five miRNAs binding sites that are common to all three genotypes of DENV-4 were listed in Table 5.



**FIG 6** Venn-diagram of the predicted common binding sites in three genotypes of ZIKV for *Ae. aegypti* miRNAs. KF268949, East African, EA; KU955592, West African, WA; KU365778, Asian. The five miRNAs binding sites common to all genotypes of ZIKV were listed in Table 6.



FIG 7 The interactome of *Ae. aegypti* miRNAs with DENV, ZIKV and CHIKV genomes as predicted by miRanda and TargetSpy. (A) miRNAs of *Ae. aegypti*; (B) miRNA and its seed region (seed region in red); (C), links between miRNAs and potential binding regions on the viruses; (D) genomes of arboviruses; (E) dark and light areas represent the protein coding regions in each virus; (F) conservation scores of virus among all the genotypes; green links, the miRNA binding site that shared among most of genotypes discussed in this study; orange links, the miRNA-vRNA with low energy; blue links, the miRNA-vRNA with low energy and is shared among most arboviruses; black links, remaining miRNA-vRNA interactions.



**FIG 8** Flowchart for the detection of *Ae. aegypti* miRNA binding sites in arbovirus genomes. The flowchart comprises four major steps: data input, miRNA binding site prediction, data sorting, and result analysis.



**FIG S1 Potentially true miRNA-vRNA interaction predicted in this study.** The scheme shows the most influence miRNA-vRNA interactions predicted in this study. Each miRNA could targets to multiple viruses and has a relatively low MFE (around -20 kcal/mol).



FIG S2 The possible structures of each low MFE miRNA-vRNA interaction that predicted by RNAhybrid. The structures of seven low MFE miRNAs of *Ae. aegypti* were potentially interact with CHIKV, DENV, and ZIKV. Among them, the possible binding sites for aae-miR-316 and aae-34-3p, and aae-miR-282-5p could be commonly found on both DENV and ZIKV.

## CHAPTER 2: ALTERNATIVES FOR ARBOVIRAL DISEASES CONTROL

#### 1. Arboviral diseases and burdens

As the consequence of climate change and growing human activities, the impacts caused by mosquito-borne arbovirus diseases have become a global issue. Newly and reemergent arboviral diseases cause millions of infections and billions of costs annually for prevention and control (Fredericks and Fernandez-Sesma, 2014; Shepard et al., 2016). Consequently to the climate change and globalized exchanges (travelers and goods), the mosquito-borne diseases have been introduced into areas considered as non-endemic (Rezza, 2014), *e.g.* DENV and CHIKV in Europe (Tomasello and Schlagenhauf, 2013) and the recent Zika pandemic (Petersen et al., 2016), causing millions of infections and significant health and economic burden for countries in financial difficulties (Stanaway et al., 2016)

### 2. Using of insecticide for arboviral diseases control

Mosquitoes are the site where is constituted a collection of different viral variants (Coffey et al., 2014; Stapleford et al., 2014). Until now, no positive treatment or more broadly, effective vaccines are available. Thus, controlling the mosquito vector is essential for mosquito-borne diseases control. The most extensively used approach is the application of insecticides. The first widely used insecticide, dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) was synthesized in 1874, although the insecticide activity was only discovered in 1939 and commercialized shortly after in 1943 for agriculture and health usages. During WWII, soldiers started using DDT to prevent typhus fever and malaria (U.S.E.P.A., 1975). Meanwhile, a WHO leading malaria eradication program has achieved a great success by using DDT in 1955, thereby, DDT has become a major insecticide for pest control. However, the resurgences of malaria and the environmental damages caused by DDT were raised later in 1960s (Najera et al., 2011). The insecticide affects the avian calcium metabolism which causes thinning of the eggshell and high rates of breakage during development (Hamlin and

Guillette, 2010). Most organochlorine compounds were then banned after the 1970s. Since then, more and more compounds with insecticidal properties were synthesized. Until present, the major insecticides could be divided into several groups: organochlorines, organophosphates, carbamates, pyrethroid,s and neonicotinoid insecticides (Isman, 2008).

However, insecticide resistance still remains an issue; the increasing cost for control and decreasing efficiency as a consequence of insecticide resistance lead to a vicious cycle (Vontas et al., 2012). Besides, accumulating evidence showed the effects of insecticides on the non-target species leading to unpredictable ecological or even economical impacts. For instance, neonicotinoid insecticides (NNIs) were proved to be involved in honeybee population decline. Even though neonicotinoids are systemic insecticides for agricultural application, the pollen from non-target plants was suggested to be source of exposure to NNIs (Iwasa et al., 2004; Tsvetkov et al., 2017). Therefore, a controllable, species-specific and environmental friendly biological alternatives for mosquito vectors control has become an emergency.

## **3.** Genetically modified-based control strategy-population reduction and replacement

With the increasing availability of mosquito genomic information, various genetic tools are available for mosquito genome manipulations. Many genetically-engineered mosquitoes have been developed in the past two decades. Genetic control strategies could be roughly divided into two categories: (i) reducing the population size of vector mosquitoes and (ii) replacing the wild mosquitoes by a refractory population to reduce the probably of
transmission. Both approaches are highly species-specific, relatively predictable, and environmental friendly compared to insecticides (Alphey, 2014).

## 3.1 Sterile Insect Technique

The sterile insect technique (SIT) was the first genetic control strategy which relies on the release of large amount of radio-sterilized male mosquitoes to reduce the reproductive ability of wild population through mating with wild females (Benedict and Robinson, 2003). However, attempts of large field releases for mosquito control revealed the drawbacks of SIT (Alphey et al., 2010). The poor mating performance of irradiated male mosquitoes (Oliva et al., 2012), the high mortality during transportation between the site of irradiated males production and the target areas for releasing (Bellini et al., 2013) and the high demands of human power for mosquito sexing to discard female mosquitoes, largely increase the cost of mosquito SIT program (Papathanos et al., 2009).

Mosquitoes sexing is a major issue for releasing sterile mosquitoes, although the sterile female mosquitoes would not significantly affect the reduction efficiency of the mosquito population size, the biting nature of female mosquitoes can potentially increase the risk of pathogen transmission. Thus, the genetic sexing of mosquitoes is developed with genetically engineering technique, for example, a selective lethality to eliminate female mosquitoes from the population or a sex-specific expression of an appropriate marker, e.g. fluorescent proteins or pigments, to distinguish the mosquito sex and facilitate sex separation (Smith et al., 2007).

#### 3.2 Release of insects carrying a dominant lethal

Based on SIT, a genetically-engineered self-limiting approach, the releasing of insects carrying a dominant lethal (RIDL) was developed to overcome the disadvantages resulted by mosquitoes irradiation (Gabrieli et al., 2014; Phuc et al., 2007). Compared to SIT, RIDL strategy decreased the costs by reducing the damage and mortality during radiation (Alphey et al., 2010). The expression of a repressible lethal phenotype of RIDL mosquitoes reduces the population size after mating with wild-type mosquitoes (Thomas et al., 2000). The lethal gene is regulated under the tetracycline operator (tetO) system which initiates the expression of tetracycline-repressible transactivator fusion protein (tTA). Under regular conditions, the expression of tTA that also acts as a toxin is initiated by the tetO, and a positive feedback loop is formed as a result of tTA expression. As tTA accumulates, the progeny is killed due to tTA toxicity (Gabrieli et al., 2014). In laboratory conditions, the expression of tTA is neutralized by tetracycline provided, and subsequently abolishes tTA expression (Lewandoski, 2001). For mass rearing, the tetracycline could be added in the diet to maintain a normal metabolism and development (Heinrich and Scott, 2000). The supply of tetracycline is interrupted after the mosquitoes are released and the positive feedback loop is initiated leading to kill the progeny in the field.

The control mechanism of RIDL mosquitoes is very similar to traditional SIT with the progeny killing and the lethality of non-transmitting male mosquitoes that still able to pass the genetic traits to next generation. Therefore, multiple releases if RIDL mosquitoes are essential to reach population reduction.

To improve the population reduction efficiency of RIDL mosquitoes, a female-sterile RIDL (fsRIDL) system was developed by replacing the tetO with a female-specific promoter for tTA expression. It results in female-specific lethality and consequently, reduces the cost of RIDL mosquitoes control strategy. Moreover, the fsRIDL traits could be passed to next generation by the male mosquitoes even without the presence of tetracycline (Alphey, 2014; Harris et al., 2012; Harris et al., 2011). The subsistence of fsRIDL male mosquitoes provide a notable advantage for mosquitoes population control.

A variant of fsRIDL, female flightless mosquitoes were also developed to ensure the inability of female mosquitoes for transmission. The flightless mosquito shares all the advantages of the RIDL system, but could be released at any life stages during development (Fu et al., 2010; Labbe et al., 2012). Combining with *AeAct-4* promoter (which activates in the indirect flight muscles) and a female-specific alternative splicing intron, a mature tTA is expressed in female muscle cells without tetracycline. The muscle cells are subsequently disrupted and lead to the loss of flight ability. This phenotype is potentially lethal, as flight is essential for host seeking and mating ability. Whereas male mosquitoes have no significant impact on flight ability due to the insufficient activity of female-specific alternative intron, the female flightless traits could be sustained among the target population (Wise de Valdez et al., 2011).

#### 3.3 Field trials of RIDL mosquitoes

Caged and semi-field trials of RIDL mosquitoes have demonstrated the efficiency and potential of RIDL for controlling wild populations (Phuc et al., 2007; Wise de Valdez et al., 2011). Thereby, the RIDL mosquito strain, OX513A was further subjected to open field testing in the Cayman Island (Harris et al., 2012; Harris et al., 2011), Malaysia (Lacroix et al., 2012), Brazil (Carvalho et al., 2015), and Panama (Gorman et al., 2016). A permission for a trial in Key West, Florida, US, was under reviewing by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Except the trial in Malaysia that released six thousands of OX513A males in two weeks and ended before any outcome could be determined (Lacroix et al., 2012), the other trials have shown a great success for suppressing *Ae. aegypti* population. In Cayman, a 82% of suppression was achieved after releasing of approximately 3.3 million OX513A males in 23 weeks whereas mosquito suppression rate was more than 90% in Brazil; a total of 17.4 millions of OX513A males were released in 17 months (Carvalho et al., 2015). More than 90% of mosquito population size was reduced in Panama with a total of 4.3 million of releases in 27 weeks (Gorman et al., 2016).

The RIDL mosquito control strategy was strongly encouraged by the successful trials undergone in countries or areas submitted to the threat of arboviral diseases transmitted by *Ae. aegypti* or *Ae. albopictus*. It also helps local communities in understanding this alternative arboviral diseases control strategy. Thus, following the dengue outbreak in Florida, US in 2010 (Graham et al., 2011; Radke et al., 2012), the local administration, Florida Keys Mosquito Control District has considered more carefully the RIDL mosquitoes, and obtained the approval after a final finding of no significant impact (FONSI) and a final environmental assessment (EA) on March 2017. According to the survey in June 2012 examining the community awareness and support for releasing the genetically-modified mosquitoes to suppress the wild population, more than half of the 400 residents in Monroe County (51.1%) have heard of the proposed releasing project before the survey. Among them, 57% were in favor, 25.1% neutral and only 17.9% tending to oppose (Ernst et al., 2015), indicating that the GM-based mosquitoes control strategy has become more acceptable after the successful trials obtained in other countries.

#### 3.4 Others mosquito population reduction approaches

Except the RIDL-based population reduction strategy, a similar outcome could be obtained by modifying the sexual phenotype of mosquitoes that leads to a mechanical isolation and subsequently, to a reduction of target population size. For *Ae. aegypti*, the male sexual phenotype is controlled by a dominant male-determining factor (M factor) located on the Y chromosome (Glichrist and Haldane, 1947; Hall et al., 2014), which was proven to be a master factor in *Ae. aegypti* male determination, however the detailed mechanism was not clear. Nevertheless, a M factor related gene, *Nix*, was recently shown to exhibit a male determining activity in *Ae. aegypti* (Hall et al., 2015). By continual ectopic expression of *Nix* in female genital organs, females develop sexually dimorphic traits with male testes and accessory glands (Hall et al., 2015). Thus, the mating ability is abolished due to the mechanical isolation between the modified and the wild-type population, leading to a reduction of population size.

Moreover, the orthologue of *Drosophila* sex behavior genes, *Fruitless* (*fru*) and *Doublesex* (*dsx*) were also identified in *Ae. aegypti* (Salvemini et al., 2013; Salvemini et al., 2011). The female isoform of both genes could be detected in *Nix* knockout male mosquitoes although the *dsx* knockdown experiment has shown no blood feeding or mating defects. In *dsx*-deficient female mosquitoes, the reproduction abilities were decreased; the size of ovaries and ovarioles and the ovariole number were lower (Mysore et al., 2015). In addition, the olfactory system was also disrupted in *dsx*-deficient female mosquitoes which exhibited a reduced length and sensilla of female antenna and maxillary palps. This leads to an odorant receptor expression in the antenna (Mysore et al., 2015) without demonstrating any consequences on the host seeking ability of mosquitoes. Converting the female mosquitoes

into harmless males by *Nix* related genes in *Ae. aegypti* is considered a potential tool that could be applied for population reduction of mosquitoes.

## 4. Effector gene and population replacement

Although the population reduction is the most widely used strategy for mosquito control, a concern is raised by eliminating certain species from the environment. It can cause ecological imbalance (food chain), and subsequently; facilitate the secondary pest reemergence (Beech et al., 2009). For instance, in nature, *Ae. aegypti* and *Ae. albopictus* share the same larval habitats, and their co-existence was frequently reported (Braks et al., 2004; Juliano et al., 2004; Simard et al., 2005). The oscillation of both population size in the same habitat have been observed in many countries after the introduction of *Ae. albopictus*. In some cases, *Ae. albopictus* has a better population growth rate which was likely to be the dominant species in competitive interactions with *Ae. aegypti* (Barrera, 1996; Braks et al., 2004; Juliano et al., 2004). This suggests that if one species is eliminated, the other might take over the ecological niche, and become a re-emerging secondary pest.

Besides, *Aedes spp.* are considered important pollinators for many subarctic plants (*Dryas integrifolia*) (Kevan, 1972), even the only pollinators for *Platanthera obtusata* (Foster, 1995). Thus, instead of eliminating the entire population, replacing the wild population by refractory mosquitoes could minimize the ecological impacts. It keeps the mosquito population in its ecological niche while reducing the risk of transmission. The population replacement strategy combining a gene drive system and a pathogen effector gene was rapidly developed in the past decade. Several gene drive systems, including medea, toxin-antidote underdominant, and homing based gene drive system were developed and showed high

efficiencies of population replacement. Whereas the development of effector genes against abroviruses were mainly focused on RNAi systems, few strategies were related to immune genes and antiviral ribozymes.

## 4.1 Gene drive systems

To facilitate the introduction of the desired traits into the target population, synthetic gene drive systems that increase the inheritance, were rapidly developed in the past decade (Champer et al., 2016; Sinkins and Gould, 2006). Gene drive systems are not following the Mendelian's rule and significantly, increase the inheritance probability of desired traits among the target population (Hammond et al., 2016). According to the outcomes of different gene drive systems, it could be classified into: (i) a modification drive that spreads the desired traits through target duplication or ii) a suppression drive which reduces or eliminates the target population (Champer et al., 2016). Medea, toxin-antidote underdominance, and homing-based gene drive system belong to the modification drive. Except the homing-based gene drive system, the modification drive is composed by an independent killing and rescuing system, the progeny without rescuing system will be killed, whereas the progeny that are able to produce the antidote could survive and pass the traits to the next generation. By using a maternal promoter to express the toxin, medea (maternal effect dominant embryonic arrest) kills the naïve progeny at embryo stage and rescues the progeny that inherited with the same medea element to replace the target population in few generations (Akbari et al., 2014; Akbari et al., 2013b; Chen et al., 2007). In contrast, the underdominance system uses two different alleles for toxin and antidote expression. The progeny is killed in the absence of the corresponding allele responsible for antidote expression and is able to spread the desired traits within the target population (Champer et al., 2016; Edgington and Alphey, 2017). The population replacement could be achieved by killing the progeny that has not inherited the same gene drive element. Through the kill-and-rescue based population replacement approach, only a moderate rate of spread could be expected due to the population reduction phase caused by the killing at the initial step of replacement (Akbari et al., 2013b).

On the contrary, the homing-based gene drive system is able to spread the gene drive element without killing the progeny, through a CRISPR/Cas9-mediated cut-and-copy machinery (Champer et al., 2016; Gantz and Bier, 2015; Gantz et al., 2015; Hammond et al., 2016). The site-specific endonuclease activity and DNA homology-directed repair (HDR) mechanism have provided a novel approach to rapidly increase the gene frequency among the target population. By encoding the CRISPR/Cas9 system that target to the flanking sequence of the gene drive system in the chromosome, the flanking sequence-specific Cas9 endonuclease breaks the target chromosome upon initiation. The HDR DNA repairing mechanism is triggered in response to DNA damage which uses the gene drive element containing sequence as the template for DNA repairing. Thus, a repaired sequence containing the homing-based gene drive element is synthesized and the frequency of desired traits in the target population is therefore rapidly increased (Gantz and Bier, 2015; Hammond et al., 2016). Although concerns of off-target effect and Cas9 immune to drive (ITD) allele were raised (Cho et al., 2014; Drury et al., 2017), CRISPR/Cas9-based gene drive is currently the most effective gene drive system for population replacement pest control strategy.

## 4.2 Antiviral effector genes

Combined with gene drive system, the effector gene that triggers the mosquito antiviral immunity is another essential element to inhibit virus transmission among the target population. Several components involved in mosquito innate immunity were used as an antipathogen effector gene for suppressing arbovirus replication in genetically-engineered mosquitoes (Jupatanakul et al., 2017; Kokoza et al., 2000; Kokoza et al., 2010). Under the control of *Aedes* vitellogenin promoter, two antimicrobial peptide (AMP) of the Toll pathway, Cecropin A and Defensin A have shown to exhibit an antimicrobial activity that suppresses the proliferation of Gram-positive bacteria *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Staphylococcus epidermidis*, Gram-negative bacteria *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and the parasite *Plasmodium* in genetically-engineered *Ae. aegypti* (Kokoza et al., 2010). Moreover, the antiviral activity of the two AMPs was demonstrated later in DENV-2 challenged mosquitoes; the viral load in the midgut and fat body of genetically-engineered mosquitoes were significant lower than in wild-type *Ae. aegypti* (Pan et al., 2012).

## 4.3 Genes that trigger anti-microbial immune responses

Except the components from Toll and Imd pathways, the components of JAK/STAT pathway in *Ae. aegypti* were also involved as an antiviral effector in genetically-engineered mosquitoes (Jupatanakul et al., 2017). Through the recognition of unpaired ligand Upd, the receptor of JAK/STAT Domeless (Dome) and the Janus kinase (Hop), activate the downstream signaling and expression of immune genes (Cheng et al., 2016). The two receptor-related components are used as the antiviral effector to reduce arbovirus replication in genetically-engineered mosquitoes. Under the regulation of a blood meal-inducible and fat body-specific vitellogenin in *Ae. aegypti*, the genetically-engineered mosquitoes have shown an increased resistance to DENV-2 and DENV-4 infection in the midgut and salivary glands (Jupatanakul et al., 2017).

The use of components in mosquito innate immune pathway to induce a systemic antiviral response, could potentially achieve a stronger or more extensively effective antiviral activity. However, not only immunity, several components involved in mosquito immune pathways have proven to participate in maintaining mosquito homeostasis, cell proliferation, and development (Halfon and Keshishian, 1998; Hoffmann and Reichhart, 2002); the ectopic expression of immune related genes could be a fitness burden for mosquitoes. Besides, the enhanced innate immunity might also alter the mosquito microbiome that plays a critical role for antiviral immunity, especially in certain tissue, e.g. midgut and salivary glands (Ramirez et al., 2012).

#### 4.4 Antiviral RNAi

To minimize the non-intended impacts on mosquito microbiome and biological processes while maintaining the high antiviral efficiency, the highly efficient and specific RNAi machinery has been applied as a reliable system against RNA arboviruses in genetically-engineered mosquitoes. Until present, several attempts in using long dsRNA (ldsRNA) as an effector to induce the antiviral responses were done with tissue specific or ubiquitious expression systems (Adelman et al., 2002b; Franz et al., 2006; Khoo et al., 2013; Mathur et al., 2010). The mosquitoes or drosophila Ubiquitious promoter and Carboxypeptidase promoter that respectively activate ubiquitiously or tissue-specifically, were applied to demonstrate the antiviral efficiency in genetically-engineered Ae. aegypti. Later on, a female salivary gland specific promoter was developed for expressing the antiviral ldsRNA, to suppress the virus replication in the salivary glands and attempt to reduce the risk of transmission (Mathur et al., 2010). Although only a weak antiviral phenotype was observed in the mosquitoes mentioned above, a genetically-engineered Ae. aegypti with a strong viral suppression phenotype was constructed in 2006. An anti-DENV-2 ldsRNA was driven by Carboxypeptidase A promoter, and the viral load in the midgut and salivary glands were significantly reduced in the genetically-engineered mosquitoes with subsequent blockage of transmission (Franz et al., 2006). However, a total suppression of viral infection in mosquitoes has not been achieved yet. The highly efficient and relatively low fitness impact of RNAi-based genetically-engineered mosquitoes could serve as a-proof-of-concept for using the potential of mosquito RNAi machinery to increase resistance to arboviruses.

#### 4.5 Antiviral ribozymes

In addition to RNAi-based control approaches, a ribozyme-based antiviral effector for reducing arbovirus virus replication was developed (Mishra et al., 2016; Nawtaisong et al., 2009). The catalytic activity of ribozymes is capable of guiding and cleaving target viral RNA spontaneously. Therefore, the viral replication could be reduced in mosquitoes. With a different silencing mechanism than antiviral siRNA, the antiviral ribozymes are able to target multiple sites which are short sequences (15-16 nt) necessary for RNA cleavage. No host factors are needed and non temperature sensitive features are requested making antiviral ribozyme a powerful effector against viruses. A hammerhead ribozyme has been demonstrated to inhibit CHIKV replication in genetically-engineered *Ae. aegypti*. The antiviral ribozymes were expressed under the *Ae. aegypti* t-RNA<sup>val</sup> Pol III promoter. The ubiquitously expressing antiviral ribozymes significantly reduced infection, dissemination, and transmission efficiencies in genetically-engineered mosquitoes. Therefore it provides the proof that the antiviral hammerhead ribozymes are potential effectors for population replacement strategies.

#### **4.6 Behavior alteration**

Instead of enhancing the antiviral immunity, knocking-out mosquito genes which are related to the sensory system, can reduce the virus transmission. Until now, 14 genes that are strongly correlated with a preference for humans were identified by analyzing the transcriptomes in the antennae between the domestic and forest forms of *Ae. aegypti* (McBride et al., 2014). By receiving the human odorous molecules, mosquito host seeking and blood feeding behavior were elicited through the activation of odorant receptors (ORs), gustatory receptors (GRs), and ionotropic receptors (IRs) (Sparks et al., 2015). *Ae. aegypti* ORs were found in the antenna, maxillary palps, proboscis, and even on tarsi. They sense various odorant molecules as ligand binding (Bohbot et al., 2007; Bohbot et al., 2014; Sparks et al., 2014), whereas GRs were found in the labella and tarsi of *Ae. aegypti*, involved in detecting the presence of CO<sub>2</sub> in the environment (Erdelyan et al., 2012; Sparks et al., 2013). Although there is still a lack of functional study on mosquito IRs, the presence of IRs were found on the lactic acid-sensitive cells (Melo et al., 2004), suggesting that the IRs of *Ae. aegypti* could detect acid and amine with similar functions than for *Drosophila* IRs (Abuin et al., 2011).

Several attempts have demonstrated that the knock-out of AaegGr3 (GR), Orco (OR), and npylr (IR), can interrupt the signal transduction in mosquito sensory neuron system, and subsequently, suppress the host-seeking behavior in female mosquitoes. AaegGr3 is a subunit of the CO<sub>2</sub> receptor of *Ae. aegypti* as its CO<sub>2</sub> sensitivity can be suppressed by knock-down experiments (Erdelyan et al., 2012). The zinc-finger nuclease (ZFN) mediated AaeGr3 knocking-out mosquitoes successfully inhibits CO<sub>2</sub> sensing ability. However, attraction to humans is reduced but not abolished in semi-field experiments (McMeniman et al., 2014), suggesting that a heat and odor dependent sensory can also participate in host sensing of *Ae. aegypti*. Thus, a multimodal integration approach is essential to reduce the mosquito attraction to human. The odorant receptor (*orco*) and neuropeptide Y-like receptors (*npylr1*) were knocked-out in *Ae. aegypti*, however, only a weak reduction of preference for humans was observed in *orco* knocked-out mosquitoes (DeGennaro et al., 2013), whereas no effect for host-seeking inhibition was observed for *npylr1* mutant mosquitoes (Liesch et al., 2013).

Although the olfactory-deficient mosquitoes are not yet fully developed for arboviral diseases control due to the inefficient inhibition of female mosquito attraction to humans, many factors involved in mosquito blood-feeding behavior were gradually revealed in those studies. The ultimate goal of this mosquito control strategy is knocking-out the essential component that switches the mosquito attraction from human to other animal host, so that the mosquito population could be preserved in their natural habitat and stay at a relatively stable ecological balance. Combining with a gene drive system, the olfactory-deficient phenotype could be introduced into the target population; the risk of disease transmission will be therefore reduced while the mosquito natural ecological niche is not disturbed.

# 4.7 Part II: Synthetic miRNAs induce dual arboviral-resistance phenotypes in the vector mosquito, *Aedes aegypti*

In this chapter, we present an article was accepted by the journal Communications Biology.

## Abstract

Mosquito-borne arboviruses are responsible for recent dengue, chikungunya and Zika pandemics. The yellow-fever mosquito, *Aedes aegypti*, plays an important role in the transmission of all three viruses. We developed a miRNA-based approach that results in a dual resistance phenotype in mosquitoes to dengue serotype 3 (DENV-3) and chikungunya (CHIKV) viruses. The target viruses are from two distinct arboviral families and the antiviral mechanism is designed to function through the endogenous miRNA pathway in infected mosquitoes. Challenge experiments showed reductions in viral transmission efficiency of transgenic mosquitoes. Several components of mosquito fitness were examined, and transgenic mosquitoes with the *PUb* promoter showed minor fitness costs at all developing stages. Further development of these strains with gene editing tools could make them candidates for releases in population replacement strategies for sustainable control of multiple arbovirus diseases.

## Introduction

Dengue and chikungunya are two major arboviral diseases that have emerged as global threats in the past decades. Approximately 390 million people are infected annually with dengue and over 50% of the world's population live under the risk of infection, draining annually an estimated \$40 billion for health-care spending and lost productivity in affected countries (Selck et al., 2014). Compared to dengue, chikungunya has a lesser impact on public health and had been a neglected tropical disease until the 2005 outbreak in La Réunion Island when one-third of the population was affected. Since then, there have been several chikungunya outbreaks worldwide including in Southeast and East Asia, Central Africa, South Pacific Islands, and lately in Latin America and the Caribbean (Zouache and Failloux, 2015). Many imported cases have been reported in Europe and North America raising the risk of local transmission. Autochthonous cases of dengue were recorded in Croatia (Gjenero-Margan et al., 2011), France (Marchand et al., 2013; Succo et al., 2016), and Madeira (Lourenco and Recker, 2014), while chikungunya has appeared in Italy (Angelini et al., 2007) and France (Delisle et al., 2015; Grandadam et al., 2011).

Dengue virus (DENV) and chikungunya virus (CHIKV) co-circulate in several tropical areas and co-infections in human are frequently reported (Chahar et al., 2009; Chang et al., 2010; Chipwaza et al., 2014; Hapuarachchi et al., 2008; Laoprasopwattana et al., 2012; Nayar et al., 2007; Omarjee et al., 2014; Parreira et al., 2014; Ratsitorahina et al., 2008; Raut et al., 2015; Rezza et al., 2014; Schilling et al., 2009; Tun et al., 2014). The viruses belong to two distinct families but share the same mosquito vectors, *Aedes* species. Mosquitoes can acquire DENV and CHIKV simultaneously after feeding on a co-infected patient or after two consecutive blood meals on viremic hosts (Furuya-Kanamori et al., 2016a). Co-infected mosquitoes can transmit concomitantly

DENV and CHIKV to subsequent hosts (Vazeille et al., 2010), and this is likely to cause more severe symptoms than mono-infections (Chahar et al., 2009; Mercado et al., 2016).

DENV-3 is the fastest spreading DENV serotype in the past two decades (Messina et al., 2014). Because a licensed tetravalent dengue vaccine is still not available (Capeding et al., 2014; Villar et al., 2015), novel vector control strategies are needed to prevent virus transmission between mosquitoes and hosts. Furthermore, while vaccination would greatly reduce urban transmission, enzootic circulation of arboviruses carries the risk of mutation accumulation and spillover infections that would not be impeded (Sun et al., 2006; Thiboutot et al., 2010; Wolfe et al., 2001). Eliminating both CHIKV and DENV-3 viruses in mosquito vectors would reduce the burden on population health, particularly for countries already under stress in their health-care system.

While most arboviruses can induce significant morbidity and/or mortality in some vertebrate hosts, infections of mosquito vectors are generally considered non-pathogenic (Martin et al., 2010). However, interactions between the replicating virus and the mosquito immune defense system may influence subsequent viral dissemination and transmission. Considerable progress has been achieved in understanding the innate defenses of the mosquito against arboviruses. Among them, RNA interference (RNAi) has been shown to be a major innate response of mosquitoes against arboviruses. Knock-down experiments targeting RNAi components such as Dcr2, R2D2 and Ago2 in *Aedes* show increased viral loads or decreased extrinsic incubation periods in mosquitoes (Sanchez-Vargas et al., 2009). Furthermore, virus replication is suppressible in cultured mosquito cell lines expressing long double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) molecules designed to target the viral genome (Adelman et al., 2002a). RNAi-based, virus-resistant mosquitoes were developed in which transgenes comprising long dsRNAs targeting DENV-2 under the control of a blood meal-inducible gene promoter were able to confer a strong serotype-specific, virus- resistance phenotype (Franz et al., 2006; Mathur et al., 2010; Travanty et al., 2004). According to the species-conserved miRNA

56

processing pathway, the miRNA precursors (pri-miRNA) were processed into ~70 nt hairpins by Drosha in the nucleus, which was followed by exporting into the cytoplasm by Exportin5. In the cytoplasm, the hairpins are cleaved into ~22 nt miRNA duplexes by Dicer-1, which are then loaded into Ago-1 or Ago-2 proteins in miRNA-induced silencing complexes (miRISCs) according to their different structure properties (Forstemann et al., 2007; Ghildiyal et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2014). By recognizing the complementary sequence of the target RNA, miRISCs are executing the silencing through RNA degradation, translational inhibition or both (Li and Rana, 2014; Wilczynska and Bushell, 2015).

Here we report the first miRNA-based genetically-engineered mosquitoes that are refractory to DENV-3 and CHIKV simultaneously. In addition, we show some fitness costs resulting from the transgenes, but anticipate that could be mitigated with additional modifications to the transgenes and their insertion sites.

#### Results

#### Constructing the artificial antiviral miRNA

Two consensus sequences of DENV-3 and CHIKV are defined from 356 and 32 isolates, respectively, of each virus (Supplementary Data 1). Four regions from DENV-3 and six from CHIKV are selected as the targets of antiviral miRNAs on the basis of their sequence coverage and targeted regions (Fig. 1). Corresponding miRNAs are designed and cloned in tandem to make compound anti-viral effector genes. The sequence coverages of the anti-DENV-3 miRNAs to the viruses used to generate the consensus sequence range from 96.6%-98.6%, and the targeted genes encode the non-structural proteins, NS2B, NS3, and NS5. The anti-CHIKV miRNAs have 96.9%-100% coverages to the viruses used to generate the consensus sequence the consensus sequence, and the targeted genes encode the non-structural proteins, NSP1, NSP2, NSP3-4, NSP4, and the structural proteins E2, and E1 (Supplementary Table 1). In addition, to verify if any miRNA off-target effect might be caused

by the synthetic antiviral miRNAs, all the sequences of each antiviral miRNA are examined by the miRNA off-target effect prediction software Genome-wide Enrichment of Seed Sequence matches (GESS) (Sigoillot et al., 2012), including the passenger strands of each antiviral miRNA; no statistically significant interaction is reported against any transcript of *Ae. aegypti*. All antiviral miRNA clusters are constructed to place them under either the *Aedes PolyUbiquitin* or *Aedes Carboxypeptidase A* gene promoters to elicit constitutive or blood meal-inducible, midgut-specific expression of the effector molecules (Fig. 1).

## Generation of transgenic mosquitoes

A Class II TE *mariner MosI* system (Lobo et al., 2006) is used to generate transgenic mosquito lines by microinjection in four separate experiments mixtures of the donor plasmids, pMosI\_AePUb>4miR:D3 (4miR:D3), pMosI\_AePUb>6miR:CHIKV (6miR:Chik), pMosI\_AePUb>10miR:D3+CHIKV (AePUb>10miR), and pMosI\_AeCPA>10miR:D3+CHIKV (AeCPA>10miR), with the transposase expressing helper plasmid pKhsp82MOS. A total of 432, 595, 310 and 355 embryos are injected with each donor plasmid, and of these, 151, 153, 141 and 62, developed into adults. Following outcrossing of G<sub>1</sub> adults, a total of 1, 5, 3 and 5 lines, respectively, are obtained from each crossing family (Supplementary Table 2). Homozygous lines are generated by screening inter-crossed families in which progeny are 100% reporter-positive for two generations. The copy number of transgenic cassettes in mosquito chromosomes is confirmed by Southern blot analyses using restriction enzymes that have no or only a single cutting site within the transgene and <sup>32</sup>P-labeled probes complementary to the 10 miRNA cluster region. The results indicate that both mosquito lines contain only a single copy of the transgene cassette in a different locus in the genome (Supplementary Figure 1).

#### **Expression of artificial miRNAs**

Signals confirming the expression of anti-CHIKV-4 and anti-DENV3-1 are detected by miRNA qPCR analyses of female midguts and carcasses prepared from tissues harvested 0 and 24 hours post blood meal (PBM; Fig. 2a, Supplementary Figure 2). The mature miRNAs are polyadenylated, followed by reverse transcription with poly(A)-adaptor primer for synthesizing an adaptor-linked miRNA complementary DNA (miRNA cDNA). With the miRNA-specific and adaptor primers (Supplementary Table 3), the mature miRNA can be detected by qPCR analysis. The antiviral miRNAs of AePUb>10miR mosquitoes are detectable in the midgut and carcass, and a slightly increased expression level can be observed 24hPBM. As the AeCPA promoter is reported to be active in the midgut and salivary glands (Edwards et al., 2000), the antiviral miRNAs are detected in the midgut and carcass of AeCPA>10miR mosquitoes, and the expression levels are increased 24hPBM. The two antiviral miRNAs can be also detected from the samples of female salivary glands at day 0, 1, and 6 after receiving a viremic blood meal; the results show that both antiviral miRNAs remain detectable in the salivary glands even at day 6 after virus challenge (Fig. 2b, Supplementary Figure 2). We interpret these data to indicate that the expression of the antiviral miRNAs in the midgut, carcass and salivary glands, remains inducible after receiving a blood meal.

## Impacts of transgene on life-table parameters

A number of life-table parameters that might be expected to affect fitness are evaluated. These include larval development time, larval/pupal mortality, adult lifespan, sex ratio, and male mating competitiveness (Table 1).

In our rearing conditions, wild-type (Orlando) mosquitoes need an average of  $6.43\pm0.03$  (males) and  $7.02\pm0.05$  (females) days for development from first instar larvae to pupae, while AePUb>10miR mosquitoes have development times of  $6.12\pm0.03$  (males) and  $6.29\pm0.03$  (females) days, and AeCPA>10miR had  $6.7\pm0.04$  and  $6.87\pm0.05$  days for males and females, respectively (Kruskal-Wallis test:  $p < 10^{-4}$  (males),  $p < 10^{-4}$  (females)). The larval mortality rate is  $4.40\pm0.86\%$ 

and 16.90±2.02% for AePUb>10miR and AeCPA>10miR mosquitoes, respectively, and these latter are significantly higher than wild-type Orlando mosquitoes at  $1.88\pm0.56\%$  (Fisher's exact test: p < 10<sup>-4</sup>). As for the pupal mortality, AeCPA>10miR mosquitoes have a significantly higher (Fisher's exact test:  $p < 10^{-4}$ ) pupal mortality rate, 7.75%, than AePUb>10miR and wild-type Orlando, 2.0 and 2.83%, respectively. The adult life spans are also analyzed, the mean survival times of AePUb>10miR male and female adults are respectively 36.9±11.75 and 41.78±14.91 days, which are not significantly different than 39.51±11.58 and 44.32±14.23 days for wild-type Orlando mosquitoes (Kruskal-Wallis test: p = 0.07). However, AeCPA>10miR mosquitoes have shorter survival times with means of 23.61±10.00 and 28.15±12.83 days for males and females, respectively, significantly shorter than wild-type Orlando mosquitoes (Kruskal-Wallis test:  $p < 10^{-10}$ <sup>4</sup>). AeCPA>10miR mosquitoes have a significantly lower survival rate than the two other strains (log rank test:  $p < 10^{-4}$  (males),  $p < 10^{-4}$  (females)) (Fig. 3). Among these adult mosquitoes, the percent of female AeCPA>10miR mosquitoes is 40.35±2.91%, which is lower than 46.32±2.08 % of wild-type Orlando and 46.77±2.14% of AePUb>10miR mosquitoes, there is no significant difference among the three lines (Fisher's exact test: p = 0.17). We conclude that the high larval and pupal mortality rate of AeCPA>10miR mosquitoes is not sex-dependent. Male mating competitiveness of both transgenic lines is determined by mating competition with the same number of wild-type males. Results show that the mating competitiveness of AePUb>10miR male is 58.5±7.8%, indicating an advantage when compared with wild-type mosquitoes. For AeCPA>10miR mosquitoes, the proportion of reporter-positive mosquitoes is 26.3±7.2%, supporting the conclusion that they are less competitive in the presence of wild-type mosquitoes. Mating competitiveness of AePUb>10miR males is significantly higher compared to AeCPA>10miR males in the presence of wild-type males (Fisher's exact test: p = 0.004).

#### Virus suppression test of transgenic mosquitoes

The antiviral efficiency of artificial miRNAs for each virus is confirmed separately for AePUb>4miR:DENV3 and AePUb>6miR:CHIKV mosquitoes (Fig. 4, Supplementary Figure 3). These mosquitoes are less capable of transmitting CHIKV at 6 days post-infection (dpi) (Orlando (mean±SE): 27.08±6.4, AePUb>4miR:DENV3: 10.41±4.45, AePUb>6miR:CHIKV: 8.33±4.03) and DENV-3 at 21 dpi (Orlando: 27.08±6.48, AePUb>4miR:DENV3: 0, AePUb>6miR:CHIKV: 2.08±2.06).

Then we co-challenge two selected strains from AePUb>10miR and AeCPA>10miR mosquito lines with DENV-3 at 10<sup>7</sup> ffu/ml and CHIKV at 10<sup>6</sup> ffu/ml. Whole bodies, heads, and saliva are collected for analyzing viral titers. Among three groups of saliva collected from 24 AePUb>10miR and AeCPA>10miR mosquitoes, CHIKV transmission efficiency has respectively an average of 11.11% and 6.94% at 6 dpi, whereas the wild-type Orlando mosquitoes average 41.67% (Fig. 5, Supplementary Figure 4).

CHIKV infection and dissemination barriers are assayed by recovering virus particles from bodies and heads, and both AePUb>10miR and AeCPA>10miR mosquitoes show lower but not significant infection and dissemination rates (Fig. 5). The CHIKV transmission-reducing phenotypes of the transgenic mosquitoes also are confirmed by a salivary glands immunofluorescence assay. Salivary glands dissected at 6 dpi, reacted with antibodies and visualized under fluorescent microscope, show qualitatively lower signals in samples from each transgenic line than wild-type Orlando mosquitoes (Supplementary Figure 5). Anti-DENV-3 phenotypes tested at 21 dpi show that the infection rate, dissemination and transmission efficiencies of the transgenic lines are significantly lower than wild-type mosquitoes (Fisher's exact test:  $P < 10^{-4}$ ) (Fig. 5).

## Discussion

61

Against arboviruses, exogenous RNAi induced by long dsRNA molecules is an effective mechanism to interrupt viral infection and transmission (Frantz, 2006). Several studies have demonstrated the highly effective antiviral siRNAs in genetically-engineered mosquitoes, i.e. long dsRNAs (>500 bp in length) derived from DENV-2, were processed into several siRNAs targeting the viral genome and suppressing the viral replication (Franz et al., 2006; Mathur et al., 2010). The high coverage of the antiviral siRNAs on the viral genome provides a high level of resistance against DENV-2 and reduces the risk of generating siRNA escape variants. However, owing to the large diversity of antiviral siRNAs produced, it is difficult to predict regions targeted in the mosquito transcriptome (Joga et al., 2016). The effects of RNAi machinery employing siRNA to suppress viral replication can be transient as some viruses replicate so quickly that they overcome the RNAi response (McFarlane et al., 2014a). These limitations can be surmounted using hammerhead ribozymes. In cells and genetically-engineered mosquitoes experiments, the small catalytic hammerhead ribozymes mediate a 15-16 nt sequence-specific cleavage and are efficiently used as an antiviral effector against CHIKV, which increased the range of possible target sites (Mishra et al., 2016). However, the error-prone activities of RNA polymerase generate opportunities for arboviruses to escape from ribozyme catalysis, which is only triggered in high sequence specificity (Ohmichi and Kool, 2000; Scherer and Rossi, 2003). This deficiency could be overcome by using antiviral group-I introns (Carter et al., 2014; Carter et al., 2015) and by targeting the conserved DENV and CHIKV sequences, which then could lead to viral RNA trans-splicing and cell apoptosis. So the resistance to arboviruses could be triggered by incomplete viral RNA synthesis and cell death. Targeting the conserved viral sequences successfully increased the coverage of the four serotypes of DENV and CHIKV, without inducing significant fitness impacts in naïve C6/36 cells. The antiviral activities of group-I introns were initiated after recognition of several components mediating RNA splicing, including internal guide sequence (IGS), external guide sequence (EGS), and a helix forming sequences (P10) on both viruses. However, the unknown mismatch tolerance of antiviral group-I introns might favor escape variants due to the

62

quasispecies nature of viral populations. The cell-based experiments might not reflect the complexity of a mosquito organism, so the fitness impact needs to be examined carefully in mosquitoes. Besides, the antiviral apoptotic cell death that is triggered upon virus infection, might result in different outcomes depending on the virus; cell apoptosis can suppress DENV replication but not SINV in mosquitoes (Clem, 2016; Wang et al., 2012). Nevertheless, if a few mismatches between the guide sequence and the target virus could be tolerated, the antiviral group-I introns system in mosquitoes is potentially an applicable molecular effector against arboviruses.

In this study, we generated several miRNA-based genetically-engineered mosquito lines with resistance to DENV-3 and CHIKV triggered either ubiquitously or midgut specifically in responding to a blood meal. The synthetic miRNAs we used were 22-nt in length, which are capable of targeting broad range strains of virus. Additionally, the predictable off-target effect of antiviral miRNA provides tolerable features with mutant variants that reduce the risk for the virus to escape from miRNA-mediated silencing. Besides, the small sized synthetic miRNAs with distinct targets could be easily assembled and transcribed as a miRNA cluster, then processed into mature miRNAs through endogenous miRNA pathway, without eliciting the unintended silencing resulted by the siRNA that derived from long dsRNA.

Although the recipient mosquito strain Orlando was reported as a weakly susceptible to DENV-2 (Sim et al., 2013), its vector competence depends on the virus (Bonizzoni et al., 2012). Orlando mosquitoes are still susceptible to DENV-3 when provided at a viral titer of 1x10<sup>7</sup> ffu/mL.

Insertions of transgenes and their subsequent expression may impose a load on the mosquitoes carrying them. This load could result in a fitness cost for the transgenic lines and may impair their ability to be used in control strategies. There are several previous reports of exogenous gene expression causing a variety of effects on transgenic mosquitoes (Franz et al., 2014; Irvin et

al., 2004). We observed a significant effect in AeCPA>10miR compared to wild-type mosquitoes at immature and adult stages: longer larval development time, higher larval and pupal mortalities, lower adult survival, lower proportion of females at emergence and lower male mating competitiveness. These effects may be caused by the strongly expressed reporter DsRed in the AeCPA>10miR mosquito line. Nevertheless, AePUb>10miR mosquitoes does not share the same effects. On the contrary, they had a shorter larval development time, lower larval and pupal mortalities, higher adult survival, higher proportion of females at emergence and higher male mating competitiveness, which could facilitate vector control (Irvin et al., 2004). Although a distinct result was observed between both mosquito lines, we are not able to conclude that the AePUb>10miR construct has a lower fitness impact to mosquitoes than AeCPA>10miR construct, as they are not sharing the same insertion site which caused some bias. The fitness tests in this study could only provide additional information for the two selected lines carrying their distinct antiviral construct.

For testing the viral reduction phenotype under AePUb and AeCPA induction strategies, we examined co-infected mosquitoes with CHIKV at 6 dpi and DENV-3 at 21 dpi during the plateau phase of viral replication in *Ae. aegypti* (Dubrulle et al., 2009). Saliva titers of DENV-3 and CHIKV were reduced in both transgenic mosquito lines, however, viral infection and dissemination were not impaired compared to wild-type mosquitoes. For CHIKV, although transmission efficiencies were reduced in both transgenic lines, AePUb>10miR and AeCPA>10miR mosquitoes showed lower but not significant difference in infection rate and dissemination efficiency suggesting that only salivary glands but not midgut behave as an efficient barrier to the release of the virus in saliva. In contrast, the transgenic mosquitoes showed more promising results on DENV-3 suppression than CHIKV when examining infection, even though only four regions on DENV-3 were targeted by our anti-DENV-3 miRNAs.

It is likely that the anti-DENV-3 miRNAs have higher silencing efficiency than anti-CHIKV miRNAs, or the expression levels of anti-CHIKV miRNAs were not sufficient to suppress CHIKV characterized by a shorter extrinsic incubation period (Arvey et al., 2010; Dubrulle et al., 2009; Ye et al., 2015). To overcome this issue, replacing the miRNA targeting regions or substituting the promoter with other high-activity promoters would be a solution for optimizing the miRNA-based mosquitoes (Chen et al., 2008; Lam et al., 2012). In addition, the different expression patterns of antiviral miRNAs might cause different viral reduction phenotype for each mosquito line. Although the characteristics of *Aedes PolyUbiquitin* and *Carboxypeptidase A* gene promoters are well studied (Anderson et al., 2010; Moreira et al., 2000), the position of transgene integration also could be important in determining antiviral potential (Wilson et al., 1990).

In summary, we successfully demonstrated the feasibility of using artificial antiviral miRNAs to reduce the transmission of two major arboviruses in transgenic *Ae. aegypti*. Although most of the genetically-engineered mosquito lines are still able to transmit DENV-3 and CHIKV, the DENV-3 transmission rates were reduced of 94.16% in AePUb>10miR mosquitoes (from 23.61% to 1.38%), and the CHIKV transmission rates were reduced of 77.33% (from 41.67% to 11.11%) and 83.35% (from 41.67% to 6.94%) in AePUb>10miR and AeCPA>10miR mosquitoes, respectively. These reductions would greatly limit the virus circulation. However, the effector has to be optimized to approach 100% of viral suppression at midgut infection level, eliminating the risk of virus dissemination. To apply these genes in a population replacement strategy, they should be combined with a gene-drive system, such as Cas9-mediated or toxin-antidote underdominance gene drive system, by introgressing the homozygous antiviral effector gene into target wild populations to reduce disease transmission (Champer et al., 2016; Gantz et al., 2015). Therefore, maintaining high viral suppression efficiency with low fitness impacts after combining with mosquito gene drive system is needed. Thus, the mosquitoes that we presented in this study, are not yet applicable in the field and viral suppression at infection level should be improved. Besides, for

the mosquitoes that are released in the field, a "localized" transgenic line for control program is needed. A local mosquito strain must be used for mosquito transgenesis, to reduce the alteration of the population's gene pool. Therefore, the fitness issue of released mosquitoes should be analyzed again for determining the replacement efficiency in the target population. In this study, we have shown the potential of using synthetic antiviral miRNAs as effector genes to combat multiple arboviruses simultaneously. As the proof-of-concept has been validated, we can extend our strategy to other A*edes* mosquito-borne arboviruses such as YFV and ZIKV.

#### Materials and methods

#### **Plasmid DNA constructions**

All the plasmids in this study were generated based on the backbone of pMOS1\_nanosmimyd88\_3xp3-CFP originated from Dr. Bruce A. Hay (Caltech, CA), and re-modified by replacing the *Bgl*II site upstream of tub 3' UTR with *BamHI/Xho*I sites (underlined) using PCR primers tub-3'UTR\_ BamHI/XhoI-F and SV40-3'UTR\_ NotI-R (Supplementary Table 4), generating pMOS1\_nanos-mimyd88\_3xp3-CFP'. The anti-DENV-3 and anti-CHIKV miRNA stem-loop backbones containing 5'-EcoRI/BglII and 3'-XhoI/BamHI were generated by oligo synthesis, and subcloned into pMOS1\_nanos-mimyd88\_3xp3-CFP with *EcoR*I and *Xho*I sites, generating pMOS1\_nanos-Den3-4miR\_3xp3-CFP and pMOS1\_nanos-CHIKV-6miR\_3xp3-CFP. The AePUb promoter was amplified from *Ae. aegypti* genomic DNA by PCR primers pMOS1\_fusion\_FseI/PstIAePUb-pr-F and pMOS1\_fusion\_BglII/EcoRIAePUb-pr-R, and subcloned into *Fse*I and *EcoR*I double digested pMOS1\_nanos-Den3-4miR\_3xp3-CFP and pMOS1\_nanos-CHIKV-6miR\_3xp3-CFP with In-Fusion<sup>®</sup> HD Cloning technology (Clontech), generating pMOS1\_AePUb-Den3-4miR\_3xp3-eGFP (GenBank accession: MG603748)and pMOS1\_AePUb-CHIKV-6miR\_3xp3-eGFP (GenBank accession: MG603749).

DENV-4miR was extracted from *EcoR*I and *BamH*I double digested pMOS1\_AePUb-Den3-4miR\_3xp3-CFP, and CHIKV-6miR was extracted from *BgI*II and *Xho*I double digested pMOS1\_AePUb-CHIKV-6miR\_3xp3-CFP. The two antiviral miRNA clusters were then subcloned into *BgI*II and *Xho*II double digested pMOS1\_AePUb-Den3-4miR\_3xp3-CFP, generating pMOS1\_AePUb-Den3-CHIKV-10miR\_3xp3-eGFP (GenBank accession: MG603750). AeCPA promoter was amplified from *Ae. aegypti* genomic DNA by PCR primers pMOS1\_fusion\_FseI/PstIAeCPA-pr-F and pMOS1\_fusion\_BgIII/EcoRIAeCPA-pr-R, and then subcloned into *Fse*I and *EcoR*I double digested pMOS1\_AePUb-Den3-CHIKV-10miR\_3xp3-CFP, generating pMOS1\_AeCPA-Den3-CHIKV-10miR\_3xp3-GFP. This plasmid was then re-modified by replacing the reporter 3xp3-CFP with *Bgl*II and *Xho*I sites (bolded) disrupted Hr5IE1-DsRed which carried out by In-Fusion<sup>®</sup> HD Cloning technology with mutation primers Oxitec\_#4573\_BglII-mutate-F and Oxitec\_#4573\_XhoI-mutate-R. By using In-Fusion<sup>®</sup> HD Cloning technology with PCR primers pMOS1\_fusion\_Hr5IE1-DsRed\_marker\_NotI-F and pMOS1\_fusion\_Hr5IE1-DsRed\_marker\_XmaI-R, the Hr5IE1\_DsRed was subcloned into *Not*I and *Xma*I double digested pMOS1\_AeCPA-Den3-CHIKV-10miR\_3xp3-CFP, generating pMOS1\_AeCPA-Den3-CHIKV-10miR\_Hr5IE1-DsRed (GenBank accession: MG603751).

## miRNA off-target effect examination

The off-target effect of synthetic antiviral miRNAs was predicted by using GESS (version 1.2) with the input parameters as followed, 7 nt of siRNA seed sequence to test; Minimum 1 of seed matches to consider an siRNA Seed Matching; Guide and Passenger strands were used for analysis; P1C-seeds of active siRNAs as inactive siRNA seeds were used; All siRNA seed sequences were scrambled as GESS control; No siRNA exclusion was allowed; p-value 0.05 was set as significance threshold parameter; Benjamini & Hochberg False Discovery Rate was selected for testing correction.

#### **Generation of transgenic mosquitoes**

*Ae. aegypti* Orlando strain was used as the recipient for germ-line transformation; the preblastoderm embryos were injected with the mixture of donor and helper plasmids at a ratio of 300:500 ng/цL in injection buffer (5 mM KCl and 0.1mM NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 6.8). Mosquitoes were

reared at 28°C, 70% relative humidity, and a 12:12 light/dark regime and fed ad libitum with a 10% sucrose solution.

Embryo microinjection was carried out as described in (Lobo et al., 2006). Each surviving G<sub>0</sub> male adult was outcrossed with 3 wild-type females, G<sub>0</sub> females were pooled together and crossed with wild-type males at a male/female ratio 1:3. All the eggs collection and G<sub>1</sub> larvae screening were carried out individually. G<sub>1</sub> larvae were screening for reporter gene expression under a fluorescent microscope (LeicaMZ12.5, Wetzlar, Germany). The transgenic G<sub>1</sub> mosquitoes were then outcrossed with wild-type mosquitoes for one generation to confirm the Mendelian inheritance in progenies. To establish homozygous lines, the transgenic mosquitoes were inter-crossed individually and the homozygous candidates were screened for two generations.

### Mosquito experimental infections

Seven-day-old female adults were fed on artificial infectious blood meal containing 1.4 mL of washed rabbit red blood cells and 0.7 mL of virus infected C6/36 cells suspension. The blood meal was supplemented with ATP as a phagostimulant at a final concentration of 1 mM and provided to mosquitoes using a Hemotek membrane feeding system. Virus titers of the artificial infectious blood meal were at  $10^6$  and  $10^7$  ffu/mL for CHIKV and DENV respectively. Engorged mosquitoes were transferred into cardboard containers and maintained with 10% sucrose under a photoperiod of 12:12, at 28°C. Mosquito saliva was collected using the forced salivation technique described in Dubrulle et al. (2009) (Dubrulle et al., 2009). After removing mosquito wings and legs, the proboscis was inserted into P20 tips filled with 5 µL of fetal bovine serum (FBS). After 30 min, saliva was expelled from the tip to 45 µL of L-15 medium. After salivation, mosquito head and body were collected and grounded individually in 300 µL of L-15 medium supplemented with 2% FBS. 200 µL of homogenates were collected for titration after centrifugation at 10,000 g for 5 min.

Mosquitoes were examined at 6 dpi when infected with CHIKV and 21 dpi with DENV-3. Infection rate (IR) refers to the proportion of mosquitoes with infected body among engorged mosquitoes. Dissemination efficiency (DE) corresponds to the proportion of mosquitoes with infected head among mosquitoes with infected body. Transmission efficiency (TE) represents the proportion of mosquitoes with infectious saliva among mosquitoes examined.

## Mosquitoes screening test

To avoid the bias caused by the position effect of integration on the antiviral efficiency, mosquito screening test was conducted with three independent lines of AePUb>10miR and five independent lines of AeCPA>10miR mosquitoes (Supplementary Table 2), and the virus transmission efficiency was analyzed to select the mosquito lines that exhibit the strongest antiviral phenotype for each construct (Supplementary Figure 6). Mosquitoes were co-challenged with both DENV-3 and CHIKV as previously described, and the saliva were collected at 6 and 14 dpi for analyzing the virus transmission efficiency. The two selected lines for each antiviral construct were used for further analysis.

## Southern blot analysis

20 µg of genomic DNA were produced and digested with restriction enzymes *Bgl*II or *Sca*I, followed by DNA separation on 0.8% agarose gel. The separated DNA were then transferred onto nylon membrane and hybridized with random-primed [ $\alpha^{32}$ P] dCTP-labeled DNA probes complementary to the 10miRNA clusters at 42°C for 16h. No restriction enzyme site of *Sca*I was contained in the transgene and only one *Bgl*II site was in the upstream of miRNA cluster, which make the expected size of hybridization patterns>>6698 bp and >>7591 bp for *Sca*I; >>4927 bp and >>6079 bp for *Bgl*II digested AePUb>10miR and AeCPA>10miR mosquitoes, respectively.

70

#### Virus detection in salivary glands

The viral particles of CHIKV were detected in mosquito salivary glands by immunofluorescence assay. Salivary glands were dissected in PBS and fixed with 4% paraformadehyde at 6 and 21 dpi, followed by hybridization with anti-CHIKV antibodies respectively. After exposing to secondary antibodies, tissues were transferred on a slide with mounting solution (ProLong<sup>®</sup> Gold Antifade Mountant). The infection patterns were visualized under fluorescent microscope. DAPI were used for cell localization.

#### Life-table parameters of transgenic mosquitoes

Seven-day old eggs were vacuum hatched to synchronize the rearing process. Newly hatched larvae were counted and reared in daily renewed 1 L of water with 1 yeast tablet. Larvae were daily checked until pupation and adult emergence. 50 adults of each sex from the same batch of mosquitoes were pooled together and maintained on 10% sucrose for adult lifespan analysis. For mating competitiveness test, 20 virgin females of wild-type mosquitoes were grouped with 10 wild-type males and 10 transgenic males. Mosquitoes were fed on blood meal at 7 days after grouped up, and eggs were collected from each female on 4 days after blood meal. All mosquitoes were reared at 28°C and 70% in relative humidity with a photoperiod of 12:12.

## Artificial miRNA expression analysis

Mosquito small RNA was extracted from the midguts and carcasses of sugar fed and 24hPBM. Tissues were lysed in Trizol solution and the total RNA were precipitated with 75% ethanol (v/v). Total RNA were applied for miRNA cDNA synthesis by using MystiCq<sup>TM</sup> microRNA cDNA Synthesis Mix (Sigma-Aldrich), whereas qPCRs were conducted using

MystiCq<sup>®</sup>microRNA<sup>®</sup>SYBR<sup>®</sup> Green qPCR Ready Mix<sup>TM</sup> (Sigma-Aldrich) on Applied Biosystems 7500 Fast. Primer sequences were included in Supplementary Table 3. aae-miR-1 is one of the most highly and relatively stable expressed miRNA in *Ae. aegypti* and was used as an internal control for detecting miRNAs expression in this study. Because artificial miRNAs were not expressed in wild-type mosquitoes, data were normalized twice to each aae-miR-1 and wild-type aae-miR-1 presenting the relative expression profile.

## Statistical analysis

All statistical tests were conducted using the STATA software (StataCorp LP, Texas, USA). Proportions were compared using Fisher's exact test and sample distributions with the Kruskal-Wallis test. P-values>0.05 were considered non-significant.

#### Acknowledgements

This study was funded by the Institut Pasteur and the French Government's Investissement d'Avenir program, Laboratoire d'Excellence "Integrative Biology of Emerging Infectious Diseases" (grant n°ANR-10-LABX-62-IBEID). PY was supported by the Pasteur-Paris University (PPU) program. We are grateful Hervé Blanc and Carla Saleh for technical advice and, Marie Vazeille and Laurence Mousson for technical help.

## **Author Contributions**

P-S.Y. designed, performed the research and wrote the paper. A.J. designed the research and wrote the paper. J-C.L. constructed the synthetic antiviral cassettes. C-H.C designed the research and provided reagents. A-B.F. designed, analyzed the research and wrote the paper.

## **Competing Interests**

The author(s) declare no competing financial interests.

## Data Availability

All data generated or analyzed during this study are included in this published article (and its supplementary information files). The accession codes of the plasmid sequences are MG603748, MG603749, MG603750 and MG603751.

Mosquito lines	Larval development time (days)		Larval mortality rate (%)	Pupal mortality rate (%)	Adult lifespan (days)		Sex ratio (%)	Male mating competitiveness (%)
	Male	Female			Male	Female		
Orlando	6.43±0.03 (307)	7.02±0.05 (265)	1.88±0.56 (583)	2.83±0.67 (600)	39.51±11.58 (150)	44.32±14.23 (150)	46.32±2.08 (572)	ND
AePUb>10miR	6.12±0.03 (289)	6.29±0.03 (254)	4.40±0.86 (568)	2.0±0.57 (600)	36.9±11.75 (150)	41.87±14.91 (150)	46.77±2.14 (543)	58.5±15.8 (41)
AeCPA>10miR	6.7±0.04 (170)	6.87±0.05 (115)	16.90±2.02 (343)	7.75±1.33 (400)	23.61±10.0 (150)	28.15±12.83 (150)	40.35±2.91 (285)	26.3±14.7 (38)

## Table 1. Life-table parameters of transgenic mosquitoes.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Mosquito larval development time, larval/pupal mortality, adult lifespan analysis, sex ratio, and test of male

mating competitiveness were conducted at 28°C. Larval developmental time was determined by the period from the first instar larva to pupal stage; Larval mortality corresponds to the number of emerged adults among analyzed larvae; Pupal mortality corresponds to the number of pupae among emerged adults; Adult life spans were recorded daily by counting the number of dead mosquitoes and separated by sex; Proportion of females was determined by the number of females among all adults; Male mating competitiveness was defined as the proportion of reporter positive individuals compared to negative individuals in the same experimental cage. In brackets, the number of mosquitoes tested is given. ND: not determined.





**Figure 1.** Scheme of the artificial antiviral miRNA. **a** target genes. **b** expression cassettes. Based on *mariner* transposon system, the ubiquitous and midgut-specific induction promoters were applied for expressing the downstream synthetic miRNAs. AeCPA/PUb promoter, *Ae. aegypti* carboxypeptidase A/PolyUbiquitin promoter; 4miR:DENV-3, anti DENV-3 miRNA cluster for four anti-DENV-3 miRNAs; 6miR:CHIKV, anti CHIKV miRNA cluster for six anti-CHIKV miRNAs; 10miR:DENV-3+CHIKV, anti DENV-3/CHIKV miRNA cluster for four for DENV-3 and six for CHIKV.


**Figure 2.** Detection of artificial antiviral miRNAs. **a** in midgut and carcass. **b** in salivary glands. Total RNA were isolated from mosquito midguts and carcasses dissected at 0 and 24h post blood meal, whereas the RNA of salivary glands were extracted from the mosquitoes cochallenged with CHIKV and DENV-3 at 0, 1, and 6 days after infection. Reverse transcription and qPCR were conducted as described in materials and methods. anti-CHIKV\_6-4, the 4<sup>th</sup> anti-CHIKV miRNA; anti-DENV-3\_4-1, the 1<sup>st</sup> anti-DENV-3 miRNA. Data were normalized to normalized values of aae-miR-1, and presented in relative expression levels to aae-miR-1. Each sample corresponds to 2 replicates (2x12 mosquitoes). The error bars correspond to the standard error of the mean.



**Figure 3.** Survival of transgenic mosquitoes. **a** males. **b** females. Survival curves were compared between AePUb>10miR, AeCPA>10miR and wild-type Orlando mosquitoes. In brackets, the number of mosquitoes is given.



**Figure 4.** Anti-DENV-3/CHIKV phenotype of transgenic 4miR:D3 and 6miR:Chik mosquitoes. **a** infection rate. **b** dissemination rate. **c** transmission efficiency. Mosquitoes were co-challenged with DENV-3 Cambodia and CHIKV 0621 strain at titer  $10^7$  and  $10^6$  ffu/ml, respectively. Samples were collected and titrated at 6 and 21 dpi on C6/36 cells. The infection rate was defined as number of positive midgut samples of the total number tested; dissemination efficiency was defined as number of positive head samples of the total number

tested; transmission efficiency defined as number of positive saliva among number of tested. Saliva samples were collected via salivation by inserting the proboscis of leg- and wing-less mosquito into a P20 tip containing 5 microliter of FBS, then expelled into 45 microliter of L-15 media after 30 min for analysis. Each sample corresponds to 2 replicates (2x24 mosquitoes) or 3 replicates (3x24 mosquitoes). The error bars correspond to the confidence intervals (95%). Significant p values are indicated by an asterix: \* p<0.05, \*\*<0.01, \*\*\* p<0.001.





number of positive head samples (i.e. successful viral dissemination after passing the midgut barrier) among tested ones; transmission efficiency was defined as the number of positive saliva (i.e. successful transmission) among tested ones. Saliva samples were collected after 30 min in a P20 tip containing 5  $\mu$ L of FBS and then expelled into 45  $\mu$ l of L-15 media for analysis. Each sample corresponds to 3 replicates (3x24 mosquitoes). The error bars correspond to the confidence intervals (95%). Significant p values are indicated by an asterix: \*\*<0.01, \*\*\* p<0.001.

miRNA name	Sequence (5' – 3')	Targeting virus	Targeting region	Coverage (%)
Anti- CHIKV-1	AGTCAGTTCTGCTTCTCGTTCT		NSP1	96.9
Anti- CHIKV-2	ACTCATTCGTAGTGCGCATTTT		NSP2	96.9
Anti- CHIKV-3	TATATACCCACCTGCCCTGTCT		NSP3-NSP4	96.9
Anti- CHIKV-4	TCTATGATCTTCACTTCCATGT	CHIKV	NSP4	100
Anti- CHIKV-5	ACTCTTCTTGATAGTTTGGTTC		E2	96.9
Anti- CHIKV-6	GTTTTGCATGATTCGGACTTCT		E2	96.9
Anti- DENV3-1	TCTCATTGTTCCATCATCATCA		NS2B	96.6
Anti- DENV3-2	CCTGTGTGTGTTCAGATTTTGTTG	DENV 3	NS3	96.9
Anti- DENV3-3	AATATGACCAGCCTCCTCTTCC	DENV-3 NS3		98.6
Anti- DENV3-4	CATTTATCATGGAGGAGGCTGA		NS5	97.2

### Supplementary Table 1. Details on artificial antiviral miRNAs

Construct	Eggs injected	Survival to larval stage	G0 adults		Integration
Construct			Male	Female	events
PUb>4miR:DENV-3	432	187	81	70	1
PUb>6miR:CHIKV	595	153	85	68	5
PUb>10miR	310	153	76	60	3
CPA>10miR	185	85	11	12	5

### Supplementary Table 2. Performances of Aedes aegypti microinjections

### Supplementary Table 3. Primers used for miRNA qPCR in this study

aae-miR-1:	5'-TGGAATGTAAAGAAGTATGGAG-3'
10miR_DENV-3:	5'-TCTCATTGTTCCATCATCATCA-3'
10miR_CHIKV:	5'-TCTATGATCTTCACTTCCATGT-3'

# Supplementary Table 4. Details on primers used for constructing synthetic antiviral miRNA cassettes

Oligo name	Sequence (5' - 3')
tub-3'UTR_BamHI/XhoI-F	GGC <u>GGATCC</u> CGCC <u>CTCGAG</u> ATCCGTCACAAGCAATCTCACTA
SV40-3'UTR_NotI-R	GGCC <u>GCGGCCGC</u> GACTCTAGATCATAATCAGCCATAC
pMOS1_fusion_Fsel/PstIAePUb-pr-F	GACGAGATCGGCCGGCCCGCCCTGCAGTATCTTTACATGTAGCTTGTGCATTGAATCC
pMOS1_fusion_BglII/EcoRIAePUb-pr-R	AGATCTGGCCGAATTCGTTGAAATCTCTGTTGAGCAGAAAAAGAAACGAG
pMOS1_fusion_Fsel/PstIAeCPA-pr-F	GACGAGATC <u>GGCCGGCC</u> CGCC <u>CTGCAG</u> ATACATAAACTAGTTTTTGCACA
pMOS1_fusion_BglII/EcoRIAeCPA-pr-R	AGATCTGGCCGAATTCTCCAACTAACCGATACACACTAACCTGG
Oxitec_#4573_BglII-mutate-F	TCTTGGGTCG <u>AGAGCG</u> CAGGAACAGGTGGTGGCGGCCCTCGGTGCGC
Oxitec_#4573_XhoI-mutate-R	CAAACGGACG <u>CCCGAG</u> GTTGCACAACACTATTATCGATTTGC
pMOS1_fusion_Hr5IE1-DsRed_marker_NotI-F	TCTAGAGTC <u>GCGGCCGC</u> TCCGGTGGATCTTACGGGTCCTCCACCTTCCGC
pMOS1_fusion_Hr5IE1-DsRed_marker_XmaI-R	TTCGAGCTCG <u>CCCGGG</u> CATTGCTTGTCATTTATTAATTTGGATGATGTCA

**Supplementary Figure 1. Southern blot analyses of transgenic mosquitoes.** Genomic DNAs were digested with restriction enzyme *Bgl*II or *Sca*I, and hybridized at 42°C with random primed alpha [<sup>32</sup>P]-labeled DNA probes complementary to the sequence of the antiviral miRNA cluster.



**Supplementary Figure 2. Detection of artificial antiviral miRNAs. a** in midgut and carcass. **b** in salivary glands. Information on replicates is provided and details are described in the legend of the figure 2.



**Supplementary Figure 3. Anti-DENV-3/CHIKV phenotype of transgenic 4miR:D3 and 6miR:Chik mosquitoes. a** All samples. **b** Day 6 post CHIKV-infection. **c** Day 14 post DENV-3 infection. **d** Day 21 post DENV-3 infection. Information on replicates is provided and details are described in the legend of the figure 4. R1, replicate 1. R2, replicate 2



Supplementary Figure 4. Anti-DENV-3/CHIKV phenotype of transgenic AePUb>10miR and AeCPA>10miR mosquitoes. a All samples. b CHIKV. c DENV-3. Information on replicates is provided and details are described in the legend of the figure 5. R1, replicate 1. R2, replicate 2. R3, replicate 3.



**Supplementary Figure 5. Antiviral phenotype in salivary glands.** Mosquito salivary glands were dissected in PBS and fixed with 4% paraformadehyde at 6 days post-infection, followed by detection with anti-CHIKV antibody. The viral infection patterns were visualized under fluorescent microscopy.



Supplementary Figure 6. Antiviral phenotypic screenings for AePUb>10miR and AeCPA>10miR mosquito lines. The mosquito lines AePUb>10miR and AeCPA>10miR were co-challenged with DENV-3 at 10^7 ffu/ml and CHIKV at 10^6 ffu/ml. The viral suppression efficiency was determined by the transmission efficiency at 6 and 14 dpi for CHIKV and DENV-3 respectively. AeCPA>10miR-3 (AeCPA>10miR) and AePUb>10miR-1 (AePUb>10miR) were analyzed in this study. Numbers above are the transmission efficiency and sample size.



## **CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION**

Introducing an antiviral effector gene into target population with gene drive system in order to replace the naive wild population with a virus refractory strain for reducing the risk of arboviral diseases transmission, is an alternative that can be considered as a truly environment-friendly arboviral diseases control strategy. Compared to the current control with insecticides, the accumulating resistance of mosquitoes have increased the cost and reduced the control efficiency (van den Berg et al., 2012). Besides, the selective pressure of insecticides can potentially affect the vector competence, so the risk of diseases spreading as well (Beerntsen et al., 2000). The unpredictable outcomes of insecticide-based control strategy have raised the uncertain risk of newly re-emergence of mosquito-borne diseases.

A relatively environment-friendly mosquito control strategy based on geneticallyengineering technology, RIDL has been proposed and become the most current applied control strategy (Alphey, 2014). By releasing the self-limiting gene carrying by male mosquitoes to reproduce with wild-type females, the size of target population is reduced due to the progeny lethality. The great success of trials in America (Carvalho et al., 2015; Gorman et al., 2016; Harris et al., 2012; Harris et al., 2011) with a drastic decrease of mosquito populations has gained better acceptance by people living under the risk of infection (Ernst et al., 2015). This RIDL-based mosquitoes control strategy is now under the consideration of other governmental authorities in America and Asia.

However, the total elimination of target species has increased the risk of ecological impacts and reemergence of secondary pests, especially *Ae. aegypti* who is sharing the same ecological niche than *Ae. albopictus* (Braks et al., 2004; Juliano et al., 2004; Simard et al., 2005), both being vectors of major arboviruses, *e.g.* CHIKV, DENV, YFV, and ZIKV.

As the synthetic gene drive systems have gained interest in recent years (Champer et al., 2016), the control strategy combining an antiviral effector gene with a gene drive system provides another solution for arboviral diseases control. It can reduce the risk of diseases transmission while keeping the mosquitoes at their natural ecological niche to avoid the reemergence of secondary pests. Homing-based gene drive systems were well developed and proved their replacing efficiency in mosquitoes (Gantz et al., 2015; Hammond et al., 2016). However, the appropriate effector genes able to block replication and transmission of arboviruses in mosquitoes are still a field to explore. An appropriate effector gene has to be efficient and broadly effective, to suppress the virus replication efficiently while remaining a low fitness cost to compete with wild population. Moreover, the specificity of effector gene should be also taken into consideration due to the possible unintended toxicity of effector released into the environment. Therefore, a RNAi-based approach is an ideal effector gene for controlling the arboviruses which are mostly single stranded RNA viruses.

In this thesis, we have investigated the potential antiviral ability of cellular miRNAs of *Ae. aegypti*, and demonstrated the possibility of using a set of synthetic miRNAs to induce an antiviral immunity to CHIKV and DENV-3.

Although the RNAi machinery is considered as a major antiviral innate immunity in mosquitoes, and the virus-induced siRNA and piRNA pathways are extensively studied (Blair, 2011; Miesen et al., 2016b), very limited information were reported regarding the potential antiviral activity of miRNAs. Even though a complete complementarity between genome sequences of arboviruses and known miRNAs of *Ae. aegypti* is not found, the seed region-dependent silencing feature of miRNAs has suggested a possible interaction between arboviruses and mosquito cellular miRNAs, proposing a new insight for miRNA antiviral immunity research.

According to the prediction results, several miRNAs binding sites were found in CHIKV, DENV, and ZIKV, which are common among different genotypes/lineages of each virus. However, these miRNA-virus interactions were associated with low expression level, which are less likely to form an effective miRNA-vRNA duplex and intervene in virus replication. On the other hand, the potential binding sites for miRNAs that are abundantly expressed in mosquitoes usually have a high minimum free energy. For example, aae-miR-1 is an abundant miRNA expressed ubiquitously in Ae. aegypti, which has a potential binding site in the Capsid region of DENV-1 with a MFE of -17.3 kcal/mol for genotype III and IV, whereas for genotype I, the MFE of the same binding site shifts to -17.2 kcal/mol with one nucleotide change, decreasing the probability of interaction. Interestingly, a simulation was proposed with a single nucleotide mutation within the same binding site, and the result showed a MFE reduced to -19.8 kcal/mol that largely increased the probability of miRNAvRNA, and possibly participated in virus replication. A similar example could also be found for aae-miR-1 in the NS3 region of DENV-1; a conserved interaction with high MFE was predicted between miR-1 and NS3 region in genotype I-V of DENV-1. Few nucleotide mutations within the binding site might reduce the MFE and consequently, increase the probability of miRNA-vRNA interaction, suggesting that the cellular miRNAs might act as an important evolutionary force for shaping arbovirus-mosquito co-evolution.

On the other hand, a synthetic miRNA with low MFE when matched with the target virus might increase the antiviral efficiency. Synthetic antiviral miRNAs are considered as an ideal effector gene in this study due to its high specificity, capacity, and broad efficiency. Compared to the RNAi-based genetically-engineered mosquito control strategy (Franz et al., 2006), the siRNA that are generated from the viral genome encoded long dsRNA, has shown a very effective antiviral efficiency to DENV-2 at infection and transmission levels. The uncertain selection of siRNA sequence provides an extra advantage for reducing the virus

replication, however, the unpredictable off-target effects of siRNA can potentially increase the fitness impacts by unintended targeting the essential mRNAs in genetically-engineered mosquitoes. In contrast, the miRNA off-target effects are predictable with certain sequences of miRNA; the potential targets on mosquito mRNA could be avoided using various miRNA off-target prediction tools. Interestingly, the mismatch tolerance on target sequence of miRNA is an advantage for regulating arboviruses replication because the quasispecies of arboviruses generated by the error prone feature of viral RdRp, generate different sequences in the target sites of antiviral miRNAs in an infected mosquito (Vazeille et al., 2016). In addition, the very short sequence of each synthetic miRNA could increase the capacity of expression cassette, and express a miRNA cluster that could target multiple arboviruses after processing.

In this thesis, we have demonstrated the possibility of using synthetic miRNA to trigger mosquitoes antiviral RNAi immunity for reducing the transmission of CHIKV (*Alphavirus*) and DENV-3 (*Flavivirus*) simultaneously. Some fitness damages might have been caused in AeCPA>10miR mosquitoes, including a shorter life span, higher mortality before maturation, and lower male mating competitiveness compared to wild-type mosquitoes. In contrast, AePUb>10miR mosquitoes show a minor (if any) fitness cost for all parameters measured, and even have a shorter developmental period and higher male mating competitiveness.

Both genetically-engineered mosquitoes show a great reduction on viral transmission efficiency for CHIKV and DENV-3. However, both mosquito lines are still susceptible for CHIKV and DENV-3, especially for CHIKV; there were no significant differences at the infection and dissemination levels. This provides an opportunity for viruses to develop into a antiviral miRNAs insensitive variant escaping the anatomical barriers and to be transmitted. Although a relatively better viral resistance phenotype could be observed for DENV-3 in both mosquito lines, the antiviral efficiency should be carefully analyzed due to the low efficiency for DENV reported for the Orlando mosquito strain used as the recipient strain (Sim et al., 2013).

Environmental temperature is also a major concern for using synthetic miRNA as an effector gene to suppress arboviral replication in genetically-engineered mosquitoes. As a poikilothermic animal, the body temperature of a mosquito varies with the ambient temperature, and potentially affects the stability of miRNA-vRNA interactions and the activity of miRNA components (Carmel et al., 2012). It is therefore difficult to estimate the antiviral efficiency of each miRNA in field conditions, particularly with the average temperatures in epidemic areas usually higher than 28 °C in summer, this temperature being used in our experiments. Although the probability of high temperature-induced inactivity is reduced with the highly complementarity of synthetic antiviral miRNAs increasing the strength for each miRNA-vRNA interaction (Carmel et al., 2012; Hibio et al., 2012), the antiviral miRNAs activity should be tested under semi-field conditions to test this hypothesis.

Although the miRNAs could be detected in salivary glands, the critical organ for viral transmission, even at day 6 post infection, however, the relatively low expression levels of each synthetic antiviral miRNA might be the reason for the insufficient resistance against the virus in the midgut in both AePUb>10miR and AeCPA>10miR mosquitoes.

With effector genes and population replacement control strategy, a 100% resistance against arboviruses is essential to reduce the probability of viruses to escape and develop into a resistance quasispecies within infected mosquitoes. Therefore, in a next step, a more

powerful or delicate promoter to initiate the expression of synthetic miRNA cluster should be envisaged to optimize the antiviral activity in genetically-engineered mosquitoes. Besides, the antiviral efficiency of each synthetic miRNA could be further optimized according to the results of prediction of miRNA-vRNA interactions discussed previously. Especially for the interaction involving an abundantly expressed miRNA and a conserved binding site that could be commonly found among each genotype, e.g. aae-miR-1 vs. Capsid or NS3 regions in DENV-1, a synthetic miRNA with a lower MFE (which is more likely to form) designed based on the viral sequences of these interactions, might provide a more promising and stronger resistance against arboviruses.

#### **List of References**

Abuin, L., Bargeton, B., Ulbrich, M.H., Isacoff, E.Y., Kellenberger, S., and Benton, R. (2011). Functional architecture of olfactory ionotropic glutamate receptors. Neuron *69*, 44-60.

Adelman, Z.N., Jasinskiene, N., and James, A.A. (2002a). Development and applications of transgenesis in the yellow fever mosquito, Aedes aegypti. Mol Biochem Parasitol *121*, 1-10.

Adelman, Z.N., Sanchez-Vargas, I., Travanty, E.A., Carlson, J.O., Beaty, B.J., Blair, C.D., and Olson, K.E. (2002b). RNA silencing of dengue virus type 2 replication in transformed C6/36 mosquito cells transcribing an inverted-repeat RNA derived from the virus genome. J Virol 76, 12925-12933.

Akbari, O.S., Antoshechkin, I., Amrhein, H., Williams, B., Diloreto, R., Sandler, J., and Hay, B.A. (2013a). The developmental transcriptome of the mosquito Aedes aegypti, an invasive species and major arbovirus vector. G3 (Bethesda) *3*, 1493-1509.

Akbari, O.S., Chen, C.H., Marshall, J.M., Huang, H., Antoshechkin, I., and Hay, B.A. (2014). Novel synthetic Medea selfish genetic elements drive population replacement in Drosophila; a theoretical exploration of Medea-dependent population suppression. ACS Synth Biol *3*, 915-928.

Akbari, O.S., Matzen, K.D., Marshall, J.M., Huang, H., Ward, C.M., and Hay, B.A. (2013b). A synthetic gene drive system for local, reversible modification and suppression of insect populations. Curr Biol *23*, 671-677.

Alphey, L. (2014). Genetic control of mosquitoes. Annu Rev Entomol 59, 205-224.

Alphey, L., Benedict, M., Bellini, R., Clark, G.G., Dame, D.A., Service, M.W., and Dobson, S.L. (2010). Sterile-insect methods for control of mosquito-borne diseases: an analysis. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis *10*, 295-311.

Alvarez, D.E., De Lella Ezcurra, A.L., Fucito, S., and Gamarnik, A.V. (2005). Role of RNA structures present at the 3'UTR of dengue virus on translation, RNA synthesis, and viral replication. Virology *339*, 200-212.

Anderson, M.A.E., Gross, T.L., Myles, K.M., and Adelman, Z.N. (2010). Validation of novel promoter sequences derived from two endogenous ubiquitin genes in transgenic Aedes aegypti. Insect Molecular Biology *19*, 441-449.

Angelini, R., Finarelli, A.C., Angelini, P., Po, C., Petropulacos, K., Macini, P., Fiorentini, C., Fortuna, C., Venturi, G., Romi, R., *et al.* (2007). An outbreak of chikungunya fever in the province of Ravenna, Italy. Euro Surveill *12*, E070906 070901.

Arias, C.F., Preugschat, F., and Strauss, J.H. (1993). Dengue 2 virus NS2B and NS3 form a stable complex that can cleave NS3 within the helicase domain. Virology *193*, 888-899.

Arvey, A., Larsson, E., Sander, C., Leslie, C.S., and Marks, D.S. (2010). Target mRNA abundance dilutes microRNA and siRNA activity. Molecular systems biology *6*, 363.

Baba, M., Logue, C.H., Oderinde, B., Abdulmaleek, H., Williams, J., Lewis, J., Laws, T.R., Hewson, R., Marcello, A., and P, D.A. (2013). Evidence of arbovirus co-infection in suspected febrile malaria and typhoid patients in Nigeria. J Infect Dev Ctries *7*, 51-59.

Bai, X.T., and Nicot, C. (2015). miR-28-3p is a cellular restriction factor that inhibits human T cell leukemia virus, type 1 (HTLV-1) replication and virus infection. J Biol Chem *290*, 5381-5390.

Barrera, R. (1996). Competition and resistance to starvation in larvae of container-inhabiting Aedes mosquitoes. Ecol Entomol *21*, 117-127.

Beech, C.J., Nagaraju, J., Vasan, S.S., Rose, R.I., Othman, R.Y., Pollai, V., and Saraswathy, T.S. (2009). Risk analysis of a hypothetical open field release of a self-limiting transgenic Aedes aegypti mosquito strain to combat dengue Asia-Pacific Journal of Molecular Biology and Biotechnology *17*, 13.

Beerntsen, B.T., James, A.A., and Christensen, B.M. (2000). Genetics of mosquito vector competence. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 64, 115-137.

Bellini, R., Medici, A., Puggioli, A., Balestrino, F., and Carrieri, M. (2013). Pilot field trials with Aedes albopictus irradiated sterile males in Italian urban areas. J Med Entomol *50*, 317-325.

Benedict, M.Q., and Robinson, A.S. (2003). The first releases of transgenic mosquitoes: an argument for the sterile insect technique. Trends Parasitol *19*, 349-355.

Bhatt, S., Gething, P.W., Brady, O.J., Messina, J.P., Farlow, A.W., Moyes, C.L., Drake, J.M., Brownstein, J.S., Hoen, A.G., Sankoh, O., *et al.* (2013). The global distribution and burden of dengue. Nature *496*, 504-507.

Blair, C.D. (2011). Mosquito RNAi is the major innate immune pathway controlling arbovirus infection and transmission. Future Microbiol *6*, 265-277.

Blair, C.D., and Olson, K.E. (2015). The role of RNA interference (RNAi) in arbovirus-vector interactions. Viruses *7*, 820-843.

Bloch, D. (2016). The Cost And Burden Of Chikungunya In The Americas. In Department of Epidemiology of Microbial Diseases Yale School of Public Health New Haven, Connecticut (Yale University).

Bohbot, J., Pitts, R.J., Kwon, H.W., Rutzler, M., Robertson, H.M., and Zwiebel, L.J. (2007). Molecular characterization of the Aedes aegypti odorant receptor gene family. Insect Mol Biol *16*, 525-537.

Bohbot, J.D., Sparks, J.T., and Dickens, J.C. (2014). The maxillary palp of Aedes aegypti, a model of multisensory integration. Insect Biochem Mol Biol *48*, 29-39.

Bonizzoni, M., Dunn, W.A., Campbell, C.L., Olson, K.E., Marinotti, O., and James, A.A. (2012). Complex modulation of the Aedes aegypti transcriptome in response to dengue virus infection. PLoS One *7*, e50512.

Brackney, D.E., Scott, J.C., Sagawa, F., Woodward, J.E., Miller, N.A., Schilkey, F.D., Mudge, J., Wilusz, J., Olson, K.E., Blair, C.D., *et al.* (2010). C6/36 Aedes albopictus cells have a dysfunctional antiviral RNA interference response. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *4*, e856.

Brady, O.J., Johansson, M.A., Guerra, C.A., Bhatt, S., Golding, N., Pigott, D.M., Delatte, H., Grech, M.G., Leisnham, P.T., Maciel-de-Freitas, R., *et al.* (2013). Modelling adult Aedes aegypti and Aedes albopictus survival at different temperatures in laboratory and field settings. Parasit Vectors *6*, 351.

Braks, M.A.H., Honorio, N.A., Lounibos, L.P., Lourenco-De-Oliveira, R., and Juliano, S.A. (2004). Interspecific competition between two invasive species of container mosquitoes, Aedes aegypti and Aedes albopictus (Diptera : Culicidae), in Brazil. Ann Entomol Soc Am *97*, 130-139.

Brennecke, J., Aravin, A.A., Stark, A., Dus, M., Kellis, M., Sachidanandam, R., and Hannon, G.J. (2007). Discrete small RNA-generating loci as master regulators of transposon activity in Drosophila. Cell *128*, 1089-1103.

Brown, J.E., Evans, B.R., Zheng, W., Obas, V., Barrera-Martinez, L., Egizi, A., Zhao, H., Caccone, A., and Powell, J.R. (2014). Human impacts have shaped historical and recent evolution in Aedes aegypti, the dengue and yellow fever mosquito. Evolution *68*, 514-525.

Brown, J.E., McBride, C.S., Johnson, P., Ritchie, S., Paupy, C., Bossin, H., Lutomiah, J., Fernandez-Salas, I., Ponlawat, A., Cornel, A.J., *et al.* (2011). Worldwide patterns of genetic differentiation imply multiple 'domestications' of Aedes aegypti, a major vector of human diseases. Proc Biol Sci 278, 2446-2454.

Brummer, A., and Hausser, J. (2014). MicroRNA binding sites in the coding region of mRNAs: extending the repertoire of post-transcriptional gene regulation. Bioessays *36*, 617-626.

Bryant, B., Macdonald, W., and Raikhel, A.S. (2010). microRNA miR-275 is indispensable for blood digestion and egg development in the mosquito Aedes aegypti. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 22391-22398.

Byk, L.A., and Gamarnik, A.V. (2016). Properties and Functions of the Dengue Virus Capsid Protein. Annu Rev Virol *3*, 263-281.

Campbell, C.L., Black, W.C.t., Hess, A.M., and Foy, B.D. (2008). Comparative genomics of small RNA regulatory pathway components in vector mosquitoes. BMC Genomics *9*, 425.

Campbell, C.L., Harrison, T., Hess, A.M., and Ebel, G.D. (2014). MicroRNA levels are modulated in Aedes aegypti after exposure to Dengue-2. Insect Mol Biol *23*, 132-139.

Campos, G.S., Bandeira, A.C., and Sardi, S.I. (2015). Zika Virus Outbreak, Bahia, Brazil. Emerg Infect Dis *21*, 1885-1886.

Cao-Lormeau, V.M., Roche, C., Teissier, A., Robin, E., Berry, A.L., Mallet, H.P., Sall, A.A., and Musso, D. (2014). Zika virus, French polynesia, South pacific, 2013. Emerg Infect Dis 20, 1085-1086.

Capeding, M.R., Tran, N.H., Hadinegoro, S.R., Ismail, H.I., Chotpitayasunondh, T., Chua, M.N., Luong, C.Q., Rusmil, K., Wirawan, D.N., Nallusamy, R., *et al.* (2014). Clinical efficacy and safety of a novel tetravalent dengue vaccine in healthy children in Asia: a phase 3, randomised, observer-masked, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet *384*, 1358-1365.

Cardona-Ospina, J.A., Diaz-Quijano, F.A., and Rodriguez-Morales, A.J. (2015). Burden of chikungunya in Latin American countries: estimates of disability-adjusted life-years (DALY) lost in the 2014 epidemic. Int J Infect Dis *38*, 60-61.

Carissimo, G., Pondeville, E., McFarlane, M., Dietrich, I., Mitri, C., Bischoff, E., Antoniewski, C., Bourgouin, C., Failloux, A.B., Kohl, A., *et al.* (2015). Antiviral immunity of Anopheles gambiae is highly compartmentalized, with distinct roles for RNA interference and gut microbiota. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *112*, E176-185.

Carmel, I., Shomron, N., and Heifetz, Y. (2012). Does base-pairing strength play a role in microRNA repression? RNA *18*, 1947-1956.

Caron, M., Paupy, C., Grard, G., Becquart, P., Mombo, I., Nso, B.B., Kassa Kassa, F., Nkoghe, D., and Leroy, E.M. (2012). Recent introduction and rapid dissemination of Chikungunya virus and Dengue virus serotype 2 associated with human and mosquito coinfections in Gabon, central Africa. Clin Infect Dis *55*, e45-53.

Carter, J.R., Keith, J.H., Fraser, T.S., Dawson, J.L., Kucharski, C.A., Horne, K.M., Higgs, S., and Fraser, M.J., Jr. (2014). Effective suppression of dengue virus using a novel group-I intron that induces apoptotic cell death upon infection through conditional expression of the Bax C-terminal domain. Virol J *11*, 111.

Carter, J.R., Taylor, S., Fraser, T.S., Kucharski, C.A., Dawson, J.L., and Fraser, M.J., Jr. (2015). Suppression of the Arboviruses Dengue and Chikungunya Using a Dual-Acting Group-I Intron Coupled with Conditional Expression of the Bax C-Terminal Domain. PLoS One *10*, e0139899.

Carvalho, D.O., McKemey, A.R., Garziera, L., Lacroix, R., Donnelly, C.A., Alphey, L., Malavasi, A., and Capurro, M.L. (2015). Suppression of a Field Population of Aedes aegypti in Brazil by Sustained Release of Transgenic Male Mosquitoes. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *9*, e0003864.

Cayirlioglu, P., Kadow, I.G., Zhan, X., Okamura, K., Suh, G.S., Gunning, D., Lai, E.C., and Zipursky, S.L. (2008). Hybrid neurons in a microRNA mutant are putative evolutionary intermediates in insect CO2 sensory systems. Science *319*, 1256-1260.

Chahar, H.S., Bharaj, P., Dar, L., Guleria, R., Kabra, S.K., and Broor, S. (2009). Coinfections with chikungunya virus and dengue virus in Delhi, India. Emerg Infect Dis 15, 1077-1080.

Champer, J., Buchman, A., and Akbari, O.S. (2016). Cheating evolution: engineering gene drives to manipulate the fate of wild populations. Nat Rev Genet *17*, 146-159.

Chang, S.F., Su, C.L., Shu, P.Y., Yang, C.F., Liao, T.L., Cheng, C.H., Hu, H.C., and Huang, J.H. (2010). Concurrent isolation of chikungunya virus and dengue virus from a patient with coinfection resulting from a trip to Singapore. J Clin Microbiol *48*, 4586-4589.

Charrel, R.N., Leparc-Goffart, I., Gallian, P., and de Lamballerie, X. (2014). Globalization of Chikungunya: 10 years to invade the world. Clin Microbiol Infect *20*, 662-663.

Chen, C.H., Huang, H., Ward, C.M., Su, J.T., Schaeffer, L.V., Guo, M., and Hay, B.A. (2007). A synthetic maternal-effect selfish genetic element drives population replacement in Drosophila. Science *316*, 597-600.

Chen, X.G., Mathur, G., and James, A.A. (2008). Gene Expression Studies in Mosquitoes. Adv Genet *64*, 19-50.

Cheng, G., Liu, Y., Wang, P., and Xiao, X. (2016). Mosquito Defense Strategies against Viral Infection. Trends Parasitol *32*, 177-186.

Chipwaza, B., Mugasa, J.P., Selemani, M., Amuri, M., Mosha, F., Ngatunga, S.D., and Gwakisa, P.S. (2014). Dengue and Chikungunya fever among viral diseases in outpatient febrile children in Kilosa district hospital, Tanzania. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 8, e3335.

Cho, S.W., Kim, S., Kim, Y., Kweon, J., Kim, H.S., Bae, S., and Kim, J.S. (2014). Analysis of off-target effects of CRISPR/Cas-derived RNA-guided endonucleases and nickases. Genome Res 24, 132-141.

Christie, J. (1881). On epidemics of dengue fever: their diffusion and etiology. Glasgow Medical Journal 3, 16.

Clem, R.J. (2016). Arboviruses and apoptosis: the role of cell death in determining vector competence. J Gen Virol 97, 1033-1036.

Clyde, K., and Harris, E. (2006). RNA secondary structure in the coding region of dengue virus type 2 directs translation start codon selection and is required for viral replication. J Virol *80*, 2170-2182.

Coffey, L.L., Failloux, A.B., and Weaver, S.C. (2014). Chikungunya virus-vector interactions. Viruses *6*, 4628-4663.

Conrad, K.D., Giering, F., Erfurth, C., Neumann, A., Fehr, C., Meister, G., and Niepmann, M. (2013). MicroRNA-122 dependent binding of Ago2 protein to hepatitis C virus RNA is associated with enhanced RNA stability and translation stimulation. PLoS One *8*, e56272.

de Alwis, R., Williams, K.L., Schmid, M.A., Lai, C.Y., Patel, B., Smith, S.A., Crowe, J.E., Wang, W.K., Harris, E., and de Silva, A.M. (2014). Dengue viruses are enhanced by distinct populations of serotype cross-reactive antibodies in human immune sera. PLoS Pathog *10*, e1004386.

De Gregorio, E., Spellman, P.T., Tzou, P., Rubin, G.M., and Lemaitre, B. (2002). The Toll and Imd pathways are the major regulators of the immune response in Drosophila. EMBO J *21*, 2568-2579.

Deddouche, S., Matt, N., Budd, A., Mueller, S., Kemp, C., Galiana-Arnoux, D., Dostert, C., Antoniewski, C., Hoffmann, J.A., and Imler, J.L. (2008). The DExD/H-box helicase Dicer-2 mediates the induction of antiviral activity in drosophila. Nat Immunol *9*, 1425-1432.

DeGennaro, M., McBride, C.S., Seeholzer, L., Nakagawa, T., Dennis, E.J., Goldman, C., Jasinskiene, N., James, A.A., and Vosshall, L.B. (2013). orco mutant mosquitoes lose strong preference for humans and are not repelled by volatile DEET. Nature *498*, 487-491.

Dejnirattisai, W., Supasa, P., Wongwiwat, W., Rouvinski, A., Barba-Spaeth, G., Duangchinda, T., Sakuntabhai, A., Cao-Lormeau, V.M., Malasit, P., Rey, F.A., *et al.* (2016). Dengue virus sero-cross-reactivity drives antibody-dependent enhancement of infection with zika virus. Nat Immunol *17*, 1102-1108.

Delisle, E., Rousseau, C., Broche, B., Leparc-Goffart, I., L'Ambert, G., Cochet, A., Prat, C., Foulongne, V., Ferre, J.B., Catelinois, O., *et al.* (2015). Chikungunya outbreak in Montpellier, France, September to October 2014. Euro Surveill *20*.

Deresiewicz, R.L., Thaler, S.J., Hsu, L., and Zamani, A.A. (1997). Clinical and neuroradiographic manifestations of eastern equine encephalitis. N Engl J Med *336*, 1867-1874.

Dick, G.W. (1952). Zika virus. II. Pathogenicity and physical properties. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 46, 521-534.

Dick, G.W. (1953). Epidemiological notes on some viruses isolated in Uganda; Yellow fever, Rift Valley fever, Bwamba fever, West Nile, Mengo, Semliki forest, Bunyamwera, Ntaya, Uganda S and Zika viruses. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg *47*, 13-48.

Dietrich, I., Shi, X., McFarlane, M., Watson, M., Blomstrom, A.L., Skelton, J.K., Kohl, A., Elliott, R.M., and Schnettler, E. (2017). The Antiviral RNAi Response in Vector and Non-vector Cells against Orthobunyaviruses. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *11*, e0005272.

Donald, C.L., Kohl, A., and Schnettler, E. (2012). New Insights into Control of Arbovirus Replication and Spread by Insect RNA Interference Pathways. Insects *3*, 511-531.

Drury, D.W., Dapper, A.L., Siniard, D.J., Zentner, G.E., and Wade, M.J. (2017). CRISPR/Cas9 gene drives in genetically variable and nonrandomly mating wild populations. Sci Adv *3*, e1601910.

Dubrulle, M., Mousson, L., Moutailler, S., Vazeille, M., and Failloux, A.B. (2009). Chikungunya virus and Aedes mosquitoes: saliva is infectious as soon as two days after oral infection. PLoS One *4*, e5895.

Duffy, M.R., Chen, T.H., Hancock, W.T., Powers, A.M., Kool, J.L., Lanciotti, R.S., Pretrick, M., Marfel, M., Holzbauer, S., Dubray, C., *et al.* (2009). Zika virus outbreak on Yap Island, Federated States of Micronesia. N Engl J Med *360*, 2536-2543.

Dupuis-Maguiraga, L., Noret, M., Brun, S., Le Grand, R., Gras, G., and Roques, P. (2012). Chikungunya disease: infection-associated markers from the acute to the chronic phase of arbovirus-induced arthralgia. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *6*, e1446.

Edgington, M.P., and Alphey, L.S. (2017). Conditions for success of engineered underdominance gene drive systems. J Theor Biol *430*, 128-140.

Edwards, M.J., Moskalyk, L.A., Donelly-Doman, M., Vlaskova, M., Noriega, F.G., Walker, V.K., and Jacobs-Lorena, M. (2000). Characterization of a carboxypeptidase A gene from the mosquito, Aedes aegypti. Insect Mol Biol *9*, 33-38.

Egloff, M.P., Benarroch, D., Selisko, B., Romette, J.L., and Canard, B. (2002). An RNA cap (nucleoside-2'-O-)-methyltransferase in the flavivirus RNA polymerase NS5: crystal structure and functional characterization. EMBO J *21*, 2757-2768.

Enright, A.J., John, B., Gaul, U., Tuschl, T., Sander, C., and Marks, D.S. (2003). MicroRNA targets in Drosophila. Genome Biol *5*, R1.

Erdelyan, C.N., Mahood, T.H., Bader, T.S., and Whyard, S. (2012). Functional validation of the carbon dioxide receptor genes in Aedes aegypti mosquitoes using RNA interference. Insect Mol Biol *21*, 119-127.

Ernst, K.C., Haenchen, S., Dickinson, K., Doyle, M.S., Walker, K., Monaghan, A.J., and Hayden, M.H. (2015). Awareness and support of release of genetically modified "sterile" mosquitoes, Key West, Florida, USA. Emerg Infect Dis *21*, 320-324.

Etebari, K., Asad, S., Zhang, G., and Asgari, S. (2016). Identification of Aedes aegypti Long Intergenic Non-coding RNAs and Their Association with Wolbachia and Dengue Virus Infection. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *10*, e0005069.

Etebari, K., Osei-Amo, S., Blomberg, S.P., and Asgari, S. (2015). Dengue virus infection alters post-transcriptional modification of microRNAs in the mosquito vector Aedes aegypti. Sci Rep *5*, 15968.

Fagbami, A.H. (1979). Zika virus infections in Nigeria: virological and seroepidemiological investigations in Oyo State. J Hyg (Lond) *83*, 213-219.

Faye, O., Freire, C.C., Iamarino, A., Faye, O., de Oliveira, J.V., Diallo, M., Zanotto, P.M., and Sall, A.A. (2014). Molecular evolution of Zika virus during its emergence in the 20(th) century. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *8*, e2636.

Filomatori, C.V., Lodeiro, M.F., Alvarez, D.E., Samsa, M.M., Pietrasanta, L., and Gamarnik, A.V. (2006). A 5' RNA element promotes dengue virus RNA synthesis on a circular genome. Genes Dev 20, 2238-2249.

Firth, A.E., Chung, B.Y., Fleeton, M.N., and Atkins, J.F. (2008). Discovery of frameshifting in Alphavirus 6K resolves a 20-year enigma. Virol J *5*, 108.

Forstemann, K., Horwich, M.D., Wee, L., Tomari, Y., and Zamore, P.D. (2007). Drosophila microRNAs are sorted into functionally distinct argonaute complexes after production by dicer-1. Cell *130*, 287-297.

Foster, W.A. (1995). Mosquito Sugar Feeding and Reproductive Energetics. Annual Review of Entomology *40*, 443-474.

Fragkoudis, R., Attarzadeh-Yazdi, G., Nash, A.A., Fazakerley, J.K., and Kohl, A. (2009). Advances in dissecting mosquito innate immune responses to arbovirus infection. J Gen Virol *90*, 2061-2072.

Frantz, S. (2006). Safety concerns raised over RNA interference. Nat Rev Drug Discov 5, 528-529.

Franz, A.W., Kantor, A.M., Passarelli, A.L., and Clem, R.J. (2015). Tissue Barriers to Arbovirus Infection in Mosquitoes. Viruses 7, 3741-3767.

Franz, A.W., Sanchez-Vargas, I., Adelman, Z.N., Blair, C.D., Beaty, B.J., James, A.A., and Olson, K.E. (2006). Engineering RNA interference-based resistance to dengue virus type 2 in genetically modified Aedes aegypti. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *103*, 4198-4203.

Franz, A.W., Sanchez-Vargas, I., Raban, R.R., Black, W.C.t., James, A.A., and Olson, K.E. (2014). Fitness impact and stability of a transgene conferring resistance to dengue-2 virus

following introgression into a genetically diverse Aedes aegypti strain. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 8, e2833.

Fredericks, A.C., and Fernandez-Sesma, A. (2014). The burden of dengue and chikungunya worldwide: implications for the southern United States and California. Ann Glob Health *80*, 466-475.

Friebe, P., and Harris, E. (2010). Interplay of RNA elements in the dengue virus 5' and 3' ends required for viral RNA replication. J Virol 84, 6103-6118.

Fu, G., Lees, R.S., Nimmo, D., Aw, D., Jin, L., Gray, P., Berendonk, T.U., White-Cooper, H., Scaife, S., Kim Phuc, H., *et al.* (2010). Female-specific flightless phenotype for mosquito control. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 4550-4554.

Fu, X., Dimopoulos, G., and Zhu, J. (2017). Association of microRNAs with Argonaute proteins in the malaria mosquito Anopheles gambiae after blood ingestion. Sci Rep *7*, 6493.

Furuya-Kanamori, L., Liang, S., Milinovich, G., Magalhaes, R.J., Clements, A.C., Hu, W., Brasil, P., Frentiu, F.D., Dunning, R., and Yakob, L. (2016a). Erratum to: Co-distribution and co-infection of chikungunya and dengue viruses. BMC infectious diseases *16*, 188.

Furuya-Kanamori, L., Liang, S., Milinovich, G., Soares Magalhaes, R.J., Clements, A.C., Hu,W., Brasil, P., Frentiu, F.D., Dunning, R., and Yakob, L. (2016b). Co-distribution and coinfection of chikungunya and dengue viruses. BMC Infect Dis *16*, 84.

Gabrieli, P., Smidler, A., and Catteruccia, F. (2014). Engineering the control of mosquitoborne infectious diseases. Genome Biol *15*, 535.

Galiana-Arnoux, D., Dostert, C., Schneemann, A., Hoffmann, J.A., and Imler, J.L. (2006). Essential function in vivo for Dicer-2 in host defense against RNA viruses in drosophila. Nat Immunol 7, 590-597.

Gandhi, B.S., Kulkarni, K., Godbole, M., Dole, S.S., Kapur, S., Satpathy, P., Khatri, A.M., Deshpande, P.S., Azad, F., Bharadwaj, N.G.R., *et al.* (2015). Dengue and Chikungunya co-infection associated with more severe clinical disease than mono-infection. International J of Healthcare and Biomedical Research *03*, 7.

Gantz, V.M., and Bier, E. (2015). Genome editing. The mutagenic chain reaction: a method for converting heterozygous to homozygous mutations. Science *348*, 442-444.

Gantz, V.M., Jasinskiene, N., Tatarenkova, O., Fazekas, A., Macias, V.M., Bier, E., and James, A.A. (2015). Highly efficient Cas9-mediated gene drive for population modification of the malaria vector mosquito Anopheles stephensi. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *112*, E6736-6743.

Gebhard, L.G., Filomatori, C.V., and Gamarnik, A.V. (2011). Functional RNA elements in the dengue virus genome. Viruses *3*, 1739-1756.

Gerardin, P., Fianu, A., Malvy, D., Mussard, C., Boussaid, K., Rollot, O., Michault, A., Gauzere, B.A., Breart, G., and Favier, F. (2011). Perceived morbidity and community burden after a Chikungunya outbreak: the TELECHIK survey, a population-based cohort study. BMC Med *9*, 5.

Ghildiyal, M., Xu, J., Seitz, H., Weng, Z., and Zamore, P.D. (2010). Sorting of Drosophila small silencing RNAs partitions microRNA\* strands into the RNA interference pathway. RNA *16*, 43-56.

Gibbons, R.V., Streitz, M., Babina, T., and Fried, J.R. (2012). Dengue and US military operations from the Spanish-American War through today. Emerg Infect Dis *18*, 623-630.

Girard, Y.A., Klingler, K.A., and Higgs, S. (2004). West Nile virus dissemination and tissue tropisms in orally infected Culex pipiens quinquefasciatus. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis *4*, 109-122.

Gjenero-Margan, I., Aleraj, B., Krajcar, D., Lesnikar, V., Klobucar, A., Pem-Novosel, I., Kurecic-Filipovic, S., Komparak, S., Martic, R., Duricic, S., *et al.* (2011). Autochthonous dengue fever in Croatia, August-September 2010. Euro Surveill *16*.

Glichrist, B.M., and Haldane, J.B.S. (1947). SEX LINKAGE AND SEX DETERMINATION IN A MOSQUITO, CULEX MOLESTUS. Hereditas *33*, 7.

Gorman, K., Young, J., Pineda, L., Marquez, R., Sosa, N., Bernal, D., Torres, R., Soto, Y., Lacroix, R., Naish, N., *et al.* (2016). Short-term suppression of Aedes aegypti using genetic control does not facilitate Aedes albopictus. Pest Manag Sci 72, 618-628.

Graham, A.S., Pruszynski, C.A., Hribar, L.J., DeMay, D.J., Tambasco, A.N., Hartley, A.E., Fussell, E.M., Michael, S.F., and Isern, S. (2011). Mosquito-associated dengue virus, Key West, Florida, USA, 2010. Emerg Infect Dis *17*, 2074-2075.

Grandadam, M., Caro, V., Plumet, S., Thiberge, J.M., Souares, Y., Failloux, A.B., Tolou, H.J., Budelot, M., Cosserat, D., Leparc-Goffart, I., *et al.* (2011). Chikungunya virus, southeastern France. Emerg Infect Dis *17*, 910-913.

Green, S., and Rothman, A. (2006). Immunopathological mechanisms in dengue and dengue hemorrhagic fever. Curr Opin Infect Dis *19*, 429-436.

Grubaugh, N.D., Weger-Lucarelli, J., Murrieta, R.A., Fauver, J.R., Garcia-Luna, S.M., Prasad, A.N., Black, W.C.t., and Ebel, G.D. (2016). Genetic Drift during Systemic Arbovirus Infection of Mosquito Vectors Leads to Decreased Relative Fitness during Host Switching. Cell Host Microbe *19*, 481-492.

Gubler, D.J. (1997). Dengue and dengue hemorrhagic fever: Its history and resurgence as a global public health problem (New York: CABI).

Gubler, D.J. (2006). Dengue/dengue haemorrhagic fever: history and current status. Novartis Found Symp 277, 3-16; discussion 16-22, 71-13, 251-253.

Guzman, M.G., Gubler, D.J., Izquierdo, A., Martinez, E., and Halstead, S.B. (2016). Dengue infection. Nat Rev Dis Primers *2*, 16055.

Guzman, M.G., and Kouri, G. (2002). Dengue: an update. Lancet Infect Dis 2, 33-42.

Ha, M., and Kim, V.N. (2014). Regulation of microRNA biogenesis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *15*, 509-524.

Haddow, A.D., Schuh, A.J., Yasuda, C.Y., Kasper, M.R., Heang, V., Huy, R., Guzman, H., Tesh, R.B., and Weaver, S.C. (2012). Genetic characterization of Zika virus strains: geographic expansion of the Asian lineage. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *6*, e1477.

Halfon, M.S., and Keshishian, H. (1998). The Toll pathway is required in the epidermis for muscle development in the Drosophila embryo. Dev Biol *199*, 164-174.
Hall, A.B., Basu, S., Jiang, X., Qi, Y., Timoshevskiy, V.A., Biedler, J.K., Sharakhova, M.V., Elahi, R., Anderson, M.A., Chen, X.G., *et al.* (2015). SEX DETERMINATION. A maledetermining factor in the mosquito Aedes aegypti. Science *348*, 1268-1270.

Hall, A.B., Timoshevskiy, V.A., Sharakhova, M.V., Jiang, X., Basu, S., Anderson, M.A., Hu, W., Sharakhov, I.V., Adelman, Z.N., and Tu, Z. (2014). Insights into the preservation of the homomorphic sex-determining chromosome of Aedes aegypti from the discovery of a malebiased gene tightly linked to the M-locus. Genome Biol Evol *6*, 179-191.

Halstead, S.B. (2008). Dengue: overview and history. In Tropical Medicine: Science and Practice, G. Pasvil, ed. (London: Imperial Collage Press), p. 27.

Hamlin, H.J., and Guillette, L.J., Jr. (2010). Birth defects in wildlife: the role of environmental contaminants as inducers of reproductive and developmental dysfunction. Syst Biol Reprod Med *56*, 113-121.

Hammon, W.M., Rudnick, A., Sather, G., Rogers, K.D., and Morse, L.J. (1960a). New hemorrhagic fevers of children in the Philippines and Thailand. Trans Assoc Am Physicians *73*, 140-155.

Hammon, W.M., Rudnick, A., and Sather, G.E. (1960b). Viruses associated with epidemic hemorrhagic fevers of the Philippines and Thailand. Science *131*, 1102-1103.

Hammon, W.M., Schrack, W.D., Jr., and Sather, G.E. (1958). Serological survey for a arthropod-borne virus infections in the Philippines. Am J Trop Med Hyg *7*, 323-328.

Hammond, A., Galizi, R., Kyrou, K., Simoni, A., Siniscalchi, C., Katsanos, D., Gribble, M., Baker, D., Marois, E., Russell, S., *et al.* (2016). A CRISPR-Cas9 gene drive system targeting female reproduction in the malaria mosquito vector Anopheles gambiae. Nat Biotechnol *34*, 78-83.

Hapuarachchi, H.A., Bandara, K.B., Hapugoda, M.D., Williams, S., and Abeyewickreme, W. (2008). Laboratory confirmation of dengue and chikungunya co-infection. Ceylon Med J *53*, 104-105.

Harris, A.F., McKemey, A.R., Nimmo, D., Curtis, Z., Black, I., Morgan, S.A., Oviedo, M.N., Lacroix, R., Naish, N., Morrison, N.I., *et al.* (2012). Successful suppression of a field

mosquito population by sustained release of engineered male mosquitoes. Nat Biotechnol *30*, 828-830.

Harris, A.F., Nimmo, D., McKemey, A.R., Kelly, N., Scaife, S., Donnelly, C.A., Beech, C., Petrie, W.D., and Alphey, L. (2011). Field performance of engineered male mosquitoes. Nat Biotechnol *29*, 1034-1037.

Hausser, J., Syed, A.P., Bilen, B., and Zavolan, M. (2013). Analysis of CDS-located miRNA target sites suggests that they can effectively inhibit translation. Genome Res *23*, 604-615.

Heinrich, J.C., and Scott, M.J. (2000). A repressible female-specific lethal genetic system for making transgenic insect strains suitable for a sterile-release program. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *97*, 8229-8232.

Hennessey, M., Fischer, M., and Staples, J.E. (2016). Zika Virus Spreads to New Areas -Region of the Americas, May 2015-January 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep *65*, 55-58.

Hess, A.M., Prasad, A.N., Ptitsyn, A., Ebel, G.D., Olson, K.E., Barbacioru, C., Monighetti, C., and Campbell, C.L. (2011). Small RNA profiling of Dengue virus-mosquito interactions implicates the PIWI RNA pathway in anti-viral defense. BMC Microbiol *11*, 45.

Hibio, N., Hino, K., Shimizu, E., Nagata, Y., and Ui-Tei, K. (2012). Stability of miRNA 5'terminal and seed regions is correlated with experimentally observed miRNA-mediated silencing efficacy. Sci Rep 2, 996.

Hoffmann, J.A., and Reichhart, J.M. (2002). Drosophila innate immunity: an evolutionary perspective. Nat Immunol *3*, 121-126.

Horng, T., and Medzhitov, R. (2001). Drosophila MyD88 is an adapter in the Toll signaling pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *98*, 12654-12658.

Hotta, S. (1952). Experimental studies on dengue. II. A skin reaction observed during the epidemic of Osaka, Japan, in 1944. J Infect Dis *90*, 10-12.

Hu, W., Criscione, F., Liang, S., and Tu, Z. (2015). MicroRNAs of two medically important mosquito species: Aedes aegypti and Anopheles stephensi. Insect Mol Biol 24, 240-252.

Huang, J., Wang, F., Argyris, E., Chen, K., Liang, Z., Tian, H., Huang, W., Squires, K., Verlinghieri, G., and Zhang, H. (2007). Cellular microRNAs contribute to HIV-1 latency in resting primary CD4+ T lymphocytes. Nat Med *13*, 1241-1247.

Huang, Y.J., Higgs, S., Horne, K.M., and Vanlandingham, D.L. (2014). Flavivirus-mosquito interactions. Viruses *6*, 4703-4730.

Hussain, M., and Asgari, S. (2014). MicroRNA-like viral small RNA from Dengue virus 2 autoregulates its replication in mosquito cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *111*, 2746-2751.

Hussain, M., Frentiu, F.D., Moreira, L.A., O'Neill, S.L., and Asgari, S. (2011). Wolbachia uses host microRNAs to manipulate host gene expression and facilitate colonization of the dengue vector Aedes aegypti. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *108*, 9250-9255.

Hussain, M., O'Neill, S.L., and Asgari, S. (2013). Wolbachia interferes with the intracellular distribution of Argonaute 1 in the dengue vector Aedes aegypti by manipulating the host microRNAs. RNA Biol *10*, 1868-1875.

Irvin, N., Hoddle, M.S., O'Brochta, D.A., Carey, B., and Atkinson, P.W. (2004). Assessing fitness costs for transgenic Aedes aegypti expressing the GFP marker and transposase genes. P Natl Acad Sci USA *101*, 891-896.

Isman, M.B. (2008). Botanical insecticides: for richer, for poorer. Pest Manag Sci 64, 8-11.

Issur, M., Geiss, B.J., Bougie, I., Picard-Jean, F., Despins, S., Mayette, J., Hobdey, S.E., and Bisaillon, M. (2009). The flavivirus NS5 protein is a true RNA guanylyltransferase that catalyzes a two-step reaction to form the RNA cap structure. RNA *15*, 2340-2350.

Iwasa, T., Motoyama, N., Ambrose, J.T., and Roe, R.M. (2004). Mechanism for the differential toxicity of neonicotinoid insecticides in the honey bee, Apis mellifera. Crop Prot 23, 371-378.

Javelle, E., Gautret, P., Ribera, A., Gauzere, B.A., Cabie, A., Corail, P.R., and Simon, F. (2017). The challenge of chronic chikungunya. Travel Med Infect Dis *15*, 3-4.

Joga, M.R., Zotti, M.J., Smagghe, G., and Christiaens, O. (2016). RNAi Efficiency, Systemic Properties, and Novel Delivery Methods for Pest Insect Control: What We Know So Far. Front Physiol *7*, 553.

Jones, K.E., Patel, N.G., Levy, M.A., Storeygard, A., Balk, D., Gittleman, J.L., and Daszak, P. (2008). Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. Nature *451*, 990-993.

Jopling, C.L., Yi, M., Lancaster, A.M., Lemon, S.M., and Sarnow, P. (2005). Modulation of hepatitis C virus RNA abundance by a liver-specific MicroRNA. Science *309*, 1577-1581.

Jose, J., Snyder, J.E., and Kuhn, R.J. (2009). A structural and functional perspective of alphavirus replication and assembly. Future Microbiol *4*, 837-856.

Jose, J., Taylor, A.B., and Kuhn, R.J. (2017). Spatial and Temporal Analysis of Alphavirus Replication and Assembly in Mammalian and Mosquito Cells. MBio 8.

Juliano, S.A., and Lounibos, L.P. (2005). Ecology of invasive mosquitoes: effects on resident species and on human health. Ecol Lett *8*, 558-574.

Juliano, S.A., Lounibos, L.P., and O'Meara, G.F. (2004). A field test for competitive effects of Aedes albopictus on A. aegypti in South Florida: differences between sites of coexistence and exclusion? Oecologia *139*, 583-593.

Jupatanakul, N., Sim, S., Anglero-Rodriguez, Y.I., Souza-Neto, J., Das, S., Poti, K.E., Rossi, S.L., Bergren, N., Vasilakis, N., and Dimopoulos, G. (2017). Engineered Aedes aegypti JAK/STAT Pathway-Mediated Immunity to Dengue Virus. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *11*, e0005187.

Kakumani, P.K., Ponia, S.S., S, R.K., Sood, V., Chinnappan, M., Banerjea, A.C., Medigeshi, G.R., Malhotra, P., Mukherjee, S.K., and Bhatnagar, R.K. (2013). Role of RNA interference (RNAi) in dengue virus replication and identification of NS4B as an RNAi suppressor. J Virol *87*, 8870-8883.

Kallio, K., Hellstrom, K., Jokitalo, E., and Ahola, T. (2015). RNA Replication and Membrane Modification Require the Same Functions of Alphavirus Nonstructural Proteins. J Virol *90*, 1687-1692.

Karpe, Y.A., Aher, P.P., and Lole, K.S. (2011). NTPase and 5'-RNA triphosphatase activities of Chikungunya virus nsP2 protein. PLoS One *6*, e22336.

Keene, K.M., Foy, B.D., Sanchez-Vargas, I., Beaty, B.J., Blair, C.D., and Olson, K.E. (2004). RNA interference acts as a natural antiviral response to O'nyong-nyong virus (Alphavirus; Togaviridae) infection of Anopheles gambiae. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *101*, 17240-17245.

Kevan, P.G. (1972). Insect Pollination of High Arctic Flowers. J Ecol 60, 831-&.

Khoo, C.C., Doty, J.B., Heersink, M.S., Olson, K.E., and Franz, A.W. (2013). Transgenemediated suppression of the RNA interference pathway in Aedes aegypti interferes with gene silencing and enhances Sindbis virus and dengue virus type 2 replication. Insect Mol Biol *22*, 104-114.

Khromykh, A.A., Varnavski, A.N., Sedlak, P.L., and Westaway, E.G. (2001). Coupling between replication and packaging of flavivirus RNA: evidence derived from the use of DNA-based full-length cDNA clones of Kunjin virus. J Virol *75*, 4633-4640.

Kielian, M., and Rey, F.A. (2006). Virus membrane-fusion proteins: more than one way to make a hairpin. Nat Rev Microbiol *4*, 67-76.

Kim, V.N., Han, J., and Siomi, M.C. (2009). Biogenesis of small RNAs in animals. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *10*, 126-139.

Kingsolver, M.B., Huang, Z., and Hardy, R.W. (2013). Insect antiviral innate immunity: pathways, effectors, and connections. J Mol Biol *425*, 4921-4936.

Klema, V.J., Padmanabhan, R., and Choi, K.H. (2015). Flaviviral Replication Complex: Coordination between RNA Synthesis and 5'-RNA Capping. Viruses *7*, 4640-4656.

Kobayashi, M., Nihei, N., and Kurihara, T. (2002). Analysis of northern distribution of Aedes albopictus (Diptera: Culicidae) in Japan by geographical information system. J Med Entomol *39*, 4-11.

Kokoza, V., Ahmed, A., Cho, W.L., Jasinskiene, N., James, A.A., and Raikhel, A. (2000). Engineering blood meal-activated systemic immunity in the yellow fever mosquito, Aedes aegypti. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97, 9144-9149.

Kokoza, V., Ahmed, A., Woon Shin, S., Okafor, N., Zou, Z., and Raikhel, A.S. (2010). Blocking of Plasmodium transmission by cooperative action of Cecropin A and Defensin A in transgenic Aedes aegypti mosquitoes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 8111-8116. Kramer, L.D., and Ebel, G.D. (2003). Dynamics of flavivirus infection in mosquitoes. Adv Virus Res 60, 187-232.

Kruger, J., and Rehmsmeier, M. (2006). RNAhybrid: microRNA target prediction easy, fast and flexible. Nucleic Acids Res *34*, W451-454.

Kuhn, R.J., Zhang, W., Rossmann, M.G., Pletnev, S.V., Corver, J., Lenches, E., Jones, C.T., Mukhopadhyay, S., Chipman, P.R., Strauss, E.G., *et al.* (2002). Structure of dengue virus: implications for flavivirus organization, maturation, and fusion. Cell *108*, 717-725.

Kuo, S.C., Chen, Y.J., Wang, Y.M., Tsui, P.Y., Kuo, M.D., Wu, T.Y., and Lo, S.J. (2012). Cell-based analysis of Chikungunya virus E1 protein in membrane fusion. J Biomed Sci *19*, 44.

Labbe, G.M., Scaife, S., Morgan, S.A., Curtis, Z.H., and Alphey, L. (2012). Female-specific flightless (fsRIDL) phenotype for control of Aedes albopictus. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *6*, e1724.

Labeaud, A.D., Bashir, F., and King, C.H. (2011). Measuring the burden of arboviral diseases: the spectrum of morbidity and mortality from four prevalent infections. Popul Health Metr *9*, 1.

Lacroix, R., McKemey, A.R., Raduan, N., Kwee Wee, L., Hong Ming, W., Guat Ney, T., Rahidah, A.A.S., Salman, S., Subramaniam, S., Nordin, O., *et al.* (2012). Open field release of genetically engineered sterile male Aedes aegypti in Malaysia. PLoS One *7*, e42771.

Lam, S., Chen, K.C., Ng, M.M., and Chu, J.J. (2012). Expression of plasmid-based shRNA against the E1 and nsP1 genes effectively silenced Chikungunya virus replication. PLoS One 7, e46396.

Laoprasopwattana, K., Kaewjungwad, L., Jarumanokul, R., and Geater, A. (2012). Differential diagnosis of Chikungunya, dengue viral infection and other acute febrile illnesses in children. Pediatr Infect Dis J *31*, 459-463.

Lecellier, C.H., Dunoyer, P., Arar, K., Lehmann-Che, J., Eyquem, S., Himber, C., Saib, A., and Voinnet, O. (2005). A cellular microRNA mediates antiviral defense in human cells. Science *308*, 557-560.

Lee, I., Ajay, S.S., Yook, J.I., Kim, H.S., Hong, S.H., Kim, N.H., Dhanasekaran, S.M., Chinnaiyan, A.M., and Athey, B.D. (2009). New class of microRNA targets containing simultaneous 5'-UTR and 3'-UTR interaction sites. Genome Res *19*, 1175-1183.

Lemm, J.A., Bergqvist, A., Read, C.M., and Rice, C.M. (1998). Template-dependent initiation of Sindbis virus RNA replication in vitro. J Virol 72, 6546-6553.

Leroy, E.M., Nkoghe, D., Ollomo, B., Nze-Nkogue, C., Becquart, P., Grard, G., Pourrut, X., Charrel, R., Moureau, G., Ndjoyi-Mbiguino, A., *et al.* (2009). Concurrent chikungunya and dengue virus infections during simultaneous outbreaks, Gabon, 2007. Emerg Infect Dis *15*, 591-593.

Leung, J.Y., Ng, M.M., and Chu, J.J. (2011). Replication of alphaviruses: a review on the entry process of alphaviruses into cells. Adv Virol *2011*, 249640.

Lewandoski, M. (2001). Conditional control of gene expression in the mouse. Nat Rev Genet 2, 743-755.

Li, G., and Rice, C.M. (1993). The signal for translational readthrough of a UGA codon in Sindbis virus RNA involves a single cytidine residue immediately downstream of the termination codon. J Virol 67, 5062-5067.

Li, H., Clum, S., You, S., Ebner, K.E., and Padmanabhan, R. (1999). The serine protease and RNA-stimulated nucleoside triphosphatase and RNA helicase functional domains of dengue virus type 2 NS3 converge within a region of 20 amino acids. J Virol *73*, 3108-3116.

Li, S., Mead, E.A., Liang, S., and Tu, Z. (2009). Direct sequencing and expression analysis of a large number of miRNAs in Aedes aegypti and a multi-species survey of novel mosquito miRNAs. BMC Genomics *10*, 581.

Li, Z., and Rana, T.M. (2014). Therapeutic targeting of microRNAs: current status and future challenges. Nat Rev Drug Discov *13*, 622-638.

Liesch, J., Bellani, L.L., and Vosshall, L.B. (2013). Functional and genetic characterization of neuropeptide Y-like receptors in Aedes aegypti. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 7, e2486.

Lobo, N.F., Clayton, J.R., Fraser, M.J., Kafatos, F.C., and Collins, F.H. (2006). High efficiency germ-line transformation of mosquitoes. Nature protocols *1*, 1312-1317.

Lodeiro, M.F., Filomatori, C.V., and Gamarnik, A.V. (2009). Structural and functional studies of the promoter element for dengue virus RNA replication. J Virol *83*, 993-1008.

Lourenco, J., and Recker, M. (2014). The 2012 Madeira dengue outbreak: epidemiological determinants and future epidemic potential. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 8, e3083.

Lucas, K.J., Zhao, B., Roy, S., Gervaise, A.L., and Raikhel, A.S. (2015). Mosquito-specific microRNA-1890 targets the juvenile hormone-regulated serine protease JHA15 in the female mosquito gut. RNA Biol *12*, 1383-1390.

Luo, D., Xu, T., Hunke, C., Gruber, G., Vasudevan, S.G., and Lescar, J. (2008a). Crystal structure of the NS3 protease-helicase from dengue virus. J Virol 82, 173-183.

Luo, D., Xu, T., Watson, R.P., Scherer-Becker, D., Sampath, A., Jahnke, W., Yeong, S.S., Wang, C.H., Lim, S.P., Strongin, A., *et al.* (2008b). Insights into RNA unwinding and ATP hydrolysis by the flavivirus NS3 protein. EMBO J *27*, 3209-3219.

Macnamara, F.N. (1954). Zika virus: a report on three cases of human infection during an epidemic of jaundice in Nigeria. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg *48*, 139-145.

Maharaj, P.D., Widen, S.G., Huang, J., Wood, T.G., and Thangamani, S. (2015). Discovery of mosquito saliva microRNAs during CHIKV infection. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *9*, e0003386.

Marchand, E., Prat, C., Jeannin, C., Lafont, E., Bergmann, T., Flusin, O., Rizzi, J., Roux, N., Busso, V., Deniau, J., *et al.* (2013). Autochthonous case of dengue in France, October 2013. Euro Surveill *18*, 20661.

Marsh, M., and Helenius, A. (2006). Virus entry: open sesame. Cell 124, 729-740.

Martin, E., Moutailler, S., Madec, Y., and Failloux, A.B. (2010). Differential responses of the mosquito Aedes albopictus from the Indian Ocean region to two chikungunya isolates. BMC Ecol *10*, 8.

Mathur, G., Sanchez-Vargas, I., Alvarez, D., Olson, K.E., Marinotti, O., and James, A.A. (2010). Transgene-mediated suppression of dengue viruses in the salivary glands of the yellow fever mosquito, Aedes aegypti. Insect Mol Biol *19*, 753-763.

Mayoral, J.G., Etebari, K., Hussain, M., Khromykh, A.A., and Asgari, S. (2014a). Wolbachia infection modifies the profile, shuttling and structure of microRNAs in a mosquito cell line. PLoS One *9*, e96107.

Mayoral, J.G., Hussain, M., Joubert, D.A., Iturbe-Ormaetxe, I., O'Neill, S.L., and Asgari, S. (2014b). Wolbachia small noncoding RNAs and their role in cross-kingdom communications. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *111*, 18721-18726.

Mazzon, M., Jones, M., Davidson, A., Chain, B., and Jacobs, M. (2009). Dengue virus NS5 inhibits interferon-alpha signaling by blocking signal transducer and activator of transcription 2 phosphorylation. J Infect Dis *200*, 1261-1270.

McBride, C.S., Baier, F., Omondi, A.B., Spitzer, S.A., Lutomiah, J., Sang, R., Ignell, R., and Vosshall, L.B. (2014). Evolution of mosquito preference for humans linked to an odorant receptor. Nature *515*, 222-227.

McFarlane, M., Arias-Goeta, C., Martin, E., O'Hara, Z., Lulla, A., Mousson, L., Rainey, S.M., Misbah, S., Schnettler, E., Donald, C.L., *et al.* (2014a). Characterization of Aedes aegypti innate-immune pathways that limit Chikungunya virus replication. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *8*, e2994.

McFarlane, M., Arias-Goeta, C., Martin, E., O'Hara, Z., Lulla, A., Mousson, L., Rainey, S.M., Misbah, S., Schnettler, E., Donald, C.L., *et al.* (2014b). Characterization of Aedes aegypti innate-immune pathways that limit Chikungunya virus replication. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *8*, e2994.

McGraw, E.A., and O'Neill, S.L. (2013). Beyond insecticides: new thinking on an ancient problem. Nat Rev Microbiol *11*, 181-193.

McMeniman, C.J., Corfas, R.A., Matthews, B.J., Ritchie, S.A., and Vosshall, L.B. (2014). Multimodal integration of carbon dioxide and other sensory cues drives mosquito attraction to humans. Cell *156*, 1060-1071.

Medlock, J.M., Hansford, K.M., Schaffner, F., Versteirt, V., Hendrickx, G., Zeller, H., and Van Bortel, W. (2012). A review of the invasive mosquitoes in Europe: ecology, public health risks, and control options. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis *12*, 435-447.

Medlock, J.M., Vaux, A.G., Cull, B., Schaffner, F., Gillingham, E., Pfluger, V., and Leach, S. (2017). Detection of the invasive mosquito species Aedes albopictus in southern England. Lancet Infect Dis *17*, 140.

Melo, A.C., Rutzler, M., Pitts, R.J., and Zwiebel, L.J. (2004). Identification of a chemosensory receptor from the yellow fever mosquito, Aedes aegypti, that is highly conserved and expressed in olfactory and gustatory organs. Chem Senses *29*, 403-410.

Mercado, M., Acosta-Reyes, J., Parra, E., Pardo, L., Rico, A., Campo, A., Navarro, E., and Viasus, D. (2016). Clinical and histopathological features of fatal cases with dengue and chikungunya virus co-infection in Colombia, 2014 to 2015. Euro Surveill *21*.

Merkling, S.H., and van Rij, R.P. (2013). Beyond RNAi: antiviral defense strategies in Drosophila and mosquito. J Insect Physiol *59*, 159-170.

Messina, J.P., Brady, O.J., Scott, T.W., Zou, C., Pigott, D.M., Duda, K.A., Bhatt, S., Katzelnick, L., Howes, R.E., Battle, K.E., *et al.* (2014). Global spread of dengue virus types: mapping the 70 year history. Trends Microbiol *22*, 138-146.

Miesen, P., Ivens, A., Buck, A.H., and van Rij, R.P. (2016a). Small RNA Profiling in Dengue Virus 2-Infected Aedes Mosquito Cells Reveals Viral piRNAs and Novel Host miRNAs. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *10*, e0004452.

Miesen, P., Joosten, J., and van Rij, R.P. (2016b). PIWIs Go Viral: Arbovirus-Derived piRNAs in Vector Mosquitoes. PLoS Pathog *12*, e1006017.

Mishra, P., Furey, C., Balaraman, V., and Fraser, M.J. (2016). Antiviral Hammerhead Ribozymes Are Effective for Developing Transgenic Suppression of Chikungunya Virus in Aedes aegypti Mosquitoes. Viruses 8.

Moore, D.L., Causey, O.R., Carey, D.E., Reddy, S., Cooke, A.R., Akinkugbe, F.M., David-West, T.S., and Kemp, G.E. (1975). Arthropod-borne viral infections of man in Nigeria, 1964-1970. Ann Trop Med Parasitol *69*, 49-64.

Morazzani, E.M., Wiley, M.R., Murreddu, M.G., Adelman, Z.N., and Myles, K.M. (2012). Production of virus-derived ping-pong-dependent piRNA-like small RNAs in the mosquito soma. PLoS Pathog 8, e1002470. Moreira, L.A., Edwards, M.J., Adhami, F., Jasinskiene, N., James, A.A., and Jacobs-Lorena, M. (2000). Robust gut-specific gene expression in transgenic Aedes aegypti mosquitoes. P Natl Acad Sci USA *97*, 10895-10898.

Morin, C.W., Comrie, A.C., and Ernst, K. (2013). Climate and dengue transmission: evidence and implications. Environ Health Perspect *121*, 1264-1272.

Mukherjee, S., and Hanley, K.A. (2010). RNA interference modulates replication of dengue virus in Drosophila melanogaster cells. BMC Microbiol *10*, 127.

Mukhopadhyay, S., Kuhn, R.J., and Rossmann, M.G. (2005). A structural perspective of the flavivirus life cycle. Nat Rev Microbiol *3*, 13-22.

Munoz-Jordan, J.L., Sanchez-Burgos, G.G., Laurent-Rolle, M., and Garcia-Sastre, A. (2003). Inhibition of interferon signaling by dengue virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 14333-14338.

Murray, C.J., Vos, T., Lozano, R., Naghavi, M., Flaxman, A.D., Michaud, C., Ezzati, M., Shibuya, K., Salomon, J.A., Abdalla, S., *et al.* (2012). Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 291 diseases and injuries in 21 regions, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet *380*, 2197-2223.

Mysore, K., Sun, L., Tomchaney, M., Sullivan, G., Adams, H., Piscoya, A.S., Severson, D.W., Syed, Z., and Duman-Scheel, M. (2015). siRNA-Mediated Silencing of doublesex during Female Development of the Dengue Vector Mosquito Aedes aegypti. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *9*, e0004213.

Najera, J.A., Gonzalez-Silva, M., and Alonso, P.L. (2011). Some lessons for the future from the Global Malaria Eradication Programme (1955-1969). PLoS Med 8, e1000412.

Nathans, R., Chu, C.Y., Serquina, A.K., Lu, C.C., Cao, H., and Rana, T.M. (2009). Cellular microRNA and P bodies modulate host-HIV-1 interactions. Mol Cell *34*, 696-709.

Nawtaisong, P., Keith, J., Fraser, T., Balaraman, V., Kolokoltsov, A., Davey, R.A., Higgs, S., Mohammed, A., Rongsriyam, Y., Komalamisra, N., *et al.* (2009). Effective suppression of Dengue fever virus in mosquito cell cultures using retroviral transduction of hammerhead ribozymes targeting the viral genome. Virol J *6*, 73.

Nayar, S.K., Noridah, O., Paranthaman, V., Ranjit, K., Norizah, I., Chem, Y.K., Mustafa, B., and Chua, K.B. (2007). Co-infection of dengue virus and chikungunya virus in two patients with acute febrile illness. Med J Malaysia *62*, 335-336.

Neeraja, M., Lakshmi, V., Dash, P.K., Parida, M.M., and Rao, P.V. (2013). The clinical, serological and molecular diagnosis of emerging dengue infection at a tertiary care institute in southern, India. J Clin Diagn Res *7*, 457-461.

Ng, W.C., Soto-Acosta, R., Bradrick, S.S., Garcia-Blanco, M.A., and Ooi, E.E. (2017). The 5' and 3' Untranslated Regions of the Flaviviral Genome. Viruses *9*.

Nimmannitya, S., Halstead, S.B., Cohen, S.N., and Margiotta, M.R. (1969). Dengue and chikungunya virus infection in man in Thailand, 1962-1964. I. Observations on hospitalized patients with hemorrhagic fever. Am J Trop Med Hyg *18*, 954-971.

Nisalak, A., Endy, T.P., Nimmannitya, S., Kalayanarooj, S., Thisayakorn, U., Scott, R.M., Burke, D.S., Hoke, C.H., Innis, B.L., and Vaughn, D.W. (2003). Serotype-specific dengue virus circulation and dengue disease in Bangkok, Thailand from 1973 to 1999. Am J Trop Med Hyg *68*, 191-202.

Nsoesie, E.O., Kraemer, M.U., Golding, N., Pigott, D.M., Brady, O.J., Moyes, C.L., Johansson, M.A., Gething, P.W., Velayudhan, R., Khan, K., *et al.* (2016). Global distribution and environmental suitability for chikungunya virus, 1952 to 2015. Euro Surveill *21*.

Oehler, E., Watrin, L., Larre, P., Leparc-Goffart, I., Lastere, S., Valour, F., Baudouin, L., Mallet, H., Musso, D., and Ghawche, F. (2014). Zika virus infection complicated by Guillain-Barre syndrome--case report, French Polynesia, December 2013. Euro Surveill *19*.

Ohmichi, T., and Kool, E.T. (2000). The virtues of self-binding: high sequence specificity for RNA cleavage by self-processed hammerhead ribozymes. Nucleic Acids Res 28, 776-783.

Oliva, C.F., Jacquet, M., Gilles, J., Lemperiere, G., Maquart, P.O., Quilici, S., Schooneman, F., Vreysen, M.J., and Boyer, S. (2012). The sterile insect technique for controlling populations of Aedes albopictus (Diptera: Culicidae) on Reunion Island: mating vigour of sterilized males. PLoS One 7, e49414.

Olson, J.G., Ksiazek, T.G., Suhandiman, and Triwibowo (1981). Zika virus, a cause of fever in Central Java, Indonesia. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg *75*, 389-393.

Olson, K.E., and Blair, C.D. (2015). Arbovirus-mosquito interactions: RNAi pathway. Curr Opin Virol 15, 119-126.

Omarjee, R., Prat, C., Flusin, O., Boucau, S., Tenebray, B., Merle, O., Huc-Anais, P., Cassadou, S., and Leparc-Goffart, I. (2014). Importance of case definition to monitor ongoing outbreak of chikungunya virus on a background of actively circulating dengue virus, St Martin, December 2013 to January 2014. Euro Surveill *19*.

Pan, X., Zhou, G., Wu, J., Bian, G., Lu, P., Raikhel, A.S., and Xi, Z. (2012). Wolbachia induces reactive oxygen species (ROS)-dependent activation of the Toll pathway to control dengue virus in the mosquito Aedes aegypti. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *109*, E23-31.

Papathanos, P.A., Bossin, H.C., Benedict, M.Q., Catteruccia, F., Malcolm, C.A., Alphey, L., and Crisanti, A. (2009). Sex separation strategies: past experience and new approaches. Malar J *8 Suppl 2*, S5.

Paradkar, P.N., Duchemin, J.B., Voysey, R., and Walker, P.J. (2014). Dicer-2-dependent activation of Culex Vago occurs via the TRAF-Rel2 signaling pathway. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *8*, e2823.

Parikh, G.R., Oliver, J.D., and Bartholomay, L.C. (2009). A haemocyte tropism for an arbovirus. J Gen Virol 90, 292-296.

Parreira, R., Centeno-Lima, S., Lopes, A., Portugal-Calisto, D., Constantino, A., and Nina, J. (2014). Dengue virus serotype 4 and chikungunya virus coinfection in a traveller returning from Luanda, Angola, January 2014. Euro Surveill *19*.

Pastorino, B.A., Peyrefitte, C.N., Almeras, L., Grandadam, M., Rolland, D., Tolou, H.J., and Bessaud, M. (2008). Expression and biochemical characterization of nsP2 cysteine protease of Chikungunya virus. Virus Res *131*, 293-298.

Paupy, C., Delatte, H., Bagny, L., Corbel, V., and Fontenille, D. (2009). Aedes albopictus, an arbovirus vector: from the darkness to the light. Microbes Infect *11*, 1177-1185.

Perera, R., and Kuhn, R.J. (2008). Structural proteomics of dengue virus. Curr Opin Microbiol 11, 369-377.

Petersen, L.R., Jamieson, D.J., Powers, A.M., and Honein, M.A. (2016). Zika Virus. N Engl J Med 374, 1552-1563.

Phuc, H.K., Andreasen, M.H., Burton, R.S., Vass, C., Epton, M.J., Pape, G., Fu, G., Condon, K.C., Scaife, S., Donnelly, C.A., *et al.* (2007). Late-acting dominant lethal genetic systems and mosquito control. BMC Biol *5*, 11.

Pickett, B.E., Greer, D.S., Zhang, Y., Stewart, L., Zhou, L., Sun, G., Gu, Z., Kumar, S., Zaremba, S., Larsen, C.N., *et al.* (2012a). Virus pathogen database and analysis resource (ViPR): a comprehensive bioinformatics database and analysis resource for the coronavirus research community. Viruses *4*, 3209-3226.

Pickett, B.E., Sadat, E.L., Zhang, Y., Noronha, J.M., Squires, R.B., Hunt, V., Liu, M., Kumar, S., Zaremba, S., Gu, Z., *et al.* (2012b). ViPR: an open bioinformatics database and analysis resource for virology research. Nucleic Acids Res *40*, D593-598.

Pillai, R.S., Bhattacharyya, S.N., and Filipowicz, W. (2007). Repression of protein synthesis by miRNAs: how many mechanisms? Trends Cell Biol *17*, 118-126.

Pond, W.L. (1963). Arthropod-Borne Virus Antibodies in Sera from Residents of South-East Asia. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg *57*, 364-371.

Powell, J.R., and Tabachnick, W.J. (2013). History of domestication and spread of Aedes aegypti--a review. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz *108 Suppl 1*, 11-17.

Powers, A.M., and Logue, C.H. (2007). Changing patterns of chikungunya virus: reemergence of a zoonotic arbovirus. J Gen Virol 88, 2363-2377.

Powers, A.M., and Waterman, S.H. (2017). A decade of arboviral activity-Lessons learned from the trenches. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *11*, e0005421.

Quinlan, A.R., and Hall, I.M. (2010). BEDTools: a flexible suite of utilities for comparing genomic features. Bioinformatics *26*, 841-842.

Radke, E.G., Gregory, C.J., Kintziger, K.W., Sauber-Schatz, E.K., Hunsperger, E.A., Gallagher, G.R., Barber, J.M., Biggerstaff, B.J., Stanek, D.R., Tomashek, K.M., *et al.* (2012). Dengue outbreak in Key West, Florida, USA, 2009. Emerg Infect Dis *18*, 135-137.

Raju, R., and Huang, H.V. (1991). Analysis of Sindbis virus promoter recognition in vivo, using novel vectors with two subgenomic mRNA promoters. J Virol *65*, 2501-2510.

Ramirez, J.L., Souza-Neto, J., Cosme, R.T., Rovira, J., Ortiz, A., Pascale, J.M., and Dimopoulos, G. (2012). Reciprocal Tripartite Interactions between the Aedes aegypti Midgut Microbiota, Innate Immune System and Dengue Virus Influences Vector Competence. Plos Neglect Trop D *6*.

Ratsitorahina, M., Harisoa, J., Ratovonjato, J., Biacabe, S., Reynes, J.M., Zeller, H., Raoelina, Y., Talarmin, A., Richard, V., and Louis Soares, J. (2008). Outbreak of dengue and Chikungunya fevers, Toamasina, Madagascar, 2006. Emerg Infect Dis *14*, 1135-1137.

Raut, C.G., Rao, N.M., Sinha, D.P., Hanumaiah, H., and Manjunatha, M.J. (2015). Chikungunya, dengue, and malaria co-infection after travel to Nigeria, India. Emerg Infect Dis *21*, 908-909.

Ray, K. (2013). The Expression of the Transcription Factor Broad and RNA-Binding Factors in the Midgut of the Mosquito Aedes Aegypti During Metamorphosis. In CUNY Academic Works (NEW YORK: City University of New York).

Rezza, G. (2012). Aedes albopictus and the reemergence of Dengue. BMC Public Health *12*, 72.

Rezza, G. (2014). Dengue and chikungunya: long-distance spread and outbreaks in naive areas. Pathog Glob Health *108*, 349-355.

Rezza, G., El-Sawaf, G., Faggioni, G., Vescio, F., Al Ameri, R., De Santis, R., Helaly, G., Pomponi, A., Metwally, D., Fantini, M., *et al.* (2014). Co-circulation of Dengue and Chikungunya Viruses, Al Hudaydah, Yemen, 2012. Emerg Infect Dis 20, 1351-1354.

Rezza, G., Nicoletti, L., Angelini, R., Romi, R., Finarelli, A.C., Panning, M., Cordioli, P., Fortuna, C., Boros, S., Magurano, F., *et al.* (2007). Infection with chikungunya virus in Italy: an outbreak in a temperate region. Lancet *370*, 1840-1846.

Rico-Hesse, R. (2003). Microevolution and virulence of dengue viruses. Adv Virus Res 59, 315-341.

Rodriguez-Morales, A.J., Villamil-Gomez, W.E., and Franco-Paredes, C. (2016). The arboviral burden of disease caused by co-circulation and co-infection of dengue, chikungunya and Zika in the Americas. Travel Med Infect Dis *14*, 177-179.

Romoser, W.S., Wasieloski, L.P., Jr., Pushko, P., Kondig, J.P., Lerdthusnee, K., Neira, M., and Ludwig, G.V. (2004). Evidence for arbovirus dissemination conduits from the mosquito (Diptera: Culicidae) midgut. J Med Entomol *41*, 467-475.

Ross, R.W. (1956). A laboratory technique for studying the insect transmission of animal viruses, employing a bat-wing membrane, demonstrated with two African viruses. J Hyg (Lond) 54, 192-200.

Royet, J., Reichhart, J.M., and Hoffmann, J.A. (2005). Sensing and signaling during infection in Drosophila. Curr Opin Immunol *17*, 11-17.

Rueda, A., Barturen, G., Lebron, R., Gomez-Martin, C., Alganza, A., Oliver, J.L., and Hackenberg, M. (2015). sRNAtoolbox: an integrated collection of small RNA research tools. Nucleic Acids Res *43*, W467-473.

Rupp, J.C., Sokoloski, K.J., Gebhart, N.N., and Hardy, R.W. (2015). Alphavirus RNA synthesis and non-structural protein functions. J Gen Virol *96*, 2483-2500.

Sabin, A.B. (1952). Research on dengue during World War II. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1, 30-50.

Salazar, M.I., Richardson, J.H., Sanchez-Vargas, I., Olson, K.E., and Beaty, B.J. (2007). Dengue virus type 2: replication and tropisms in orally infected Aedes aegypti mosquitoes. BMC Microbiol 7, 9.

Salvemini, M., D'Amato, R., Petrella, V., Aceto, S., Nimmo, D., Neira, M., Alphey, L., Polito, L.C., and Saccone, G. (2013). The orthologue of the fruitfly sex behaviour gene fruitless in the mosquito Aedes aegypti: evolution of genomic organisation and alternative splicing. PLoS One 8, e48554.

Salvemini, M., Mauro, U., Lombardo, F., Milano, A., Zazzaro, V., Arca, B., Polito, L.C., and Saccone, G. (2011). Genomic organization and splicing evolution of the doublesex gene, a

Drosophila regulator of sexual differentiation, in the dengue and yellow fever mosquito Aedes aegypti. BMC Evol Biol *11*, 41.

Sanchez-Vargas, I., Scott, J.C., Poole-Smith, B.K., Franz, A.W., Barbosa-Solomieu, V., Wilusz, J., Olson, K.E., and Blair, C.D. (2009). Dengue virus type 2 infections of Aedes aegypti are modulated by the mosquito's RNA interference pathway. PLoS Pathog *5*, e1000299.

Scaturro, P., Cortese, M., Chatel-Chaix, L., Fischl, W., and Bartenschlager, R. (2015). Dengue Virus Non-structural Protein 1 Modulates Infectious Particle Production via Interaction with the Structural Proteins. PLoS Pathog *11*, e1005277.

Scheel, T.K., Luna, J.M., Liniger, M., Nishiuchi, E., Rozen-Gagnon, K., Shlomai, A., Auray, G., Gerber, M., Fak, J., Keller, I., *et al.* (2016). A Broad RNA Virus Survey Reveals Both miRNA Dependence and Functional Sequestration. Cell Host Microbe *19*, 409-423.

Scherer, L.J., and Rossi, J.J. (2003). Approaches for the sequence-specific knockdown of mRNA. Nature biotechnology *21*, 1457-1465.

Schilling, S., Emmerich, P., Gunther, S., and Schmidt-Chanasit, J. (2009). Dengue and Chikungunya virus co-infection in a German traveller. J Clin Virol 45, 163-164.

Schnettler, E., Donald, C.L., Human, S., Watson, M., Siu, R.W., McFarlane, M., Fazakerley, J.K., Kohl, A., and Fragkoudis, R. (2013). Knockdown of piRNA pathway proteins results in enhanced Semliki Forest virus production in mosquito cells. J Gen Virol *94*, 1680-1689.

Scholte, E., Den Hartog, W., Dik, M., Schoelitsz, B., Brooks, M., Schaffner, F., Foussadier, R., Braks, M., and Beeuwkes, J. (2010). Introduction and control of three invasive mosquito species in the Netherlands, July-October 2010. Euro Surveill *15*.

Schwartz, O., and Albert, M.L. (2010). Biology and pathogenesis of chikungunya virus. Nat Rev Microbiol *8*, 491-500.

Screaton, G., Mongkolsapaya, J., Yacoub, S., and Roberts, C. (2015). New insights into the immunopathology and control of dengue virus infection. Nat Rev Immunol *15*, 745-759.

Selck, F.W., Adalja, A.A., and Boddie, C.R. (2014). An estimate of the global health care and lost productivity costs of dengue. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis *14*, 824-826.

Shepard, D.S., Undurraga, E.A., Halasa, Y.A., and Stanaway, J.D. (2016). The global economic burden of dengue: a systematic analysis. Lancet Infect Dis *16*, 935-941.

Shin, C., Nam, J.W., Farh, K.K., Chiang, H.R., Shkumatava, A., and Bartel, D.P. (2010). Expanding the microRNA targeting code: functional sites with centered pairing. Mol Cell *38*, 789-802.

Shirako, Y., and Strauss, J.H. (1994). Regulation of Sindbis virus RNA replication: uncleaved P123 and nsP4 function in minus-strand RNA synthesis, whereas cleaved products from P123 are required for efficient plus-strand RNA synthesis. J Virol *68*, 1874-1885.

Shrinet, J., Jain, S., Jain, J., Bhatnagar, R.K., and Sunil, S. (2014). Next generation sequencing reveals regulation of distinct Aedes microRNAs during chikungunya virus development. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *8*, e2616.

Sigoillot, F.D., Lyman, S., Huckins, J.F., Adamson, B., Chung, E., Quattrochi, B., and King, R.W. (2012). A bioinformatics method identifies prominent off-targeted transcripts in RNAi screens. Nat Methods *9*, 363-366.

Sim, S., Jupatanakul, N., Ramirez, J.L., Kang, S., Romero-Vivas, C.M., Mohammed, H., and Dimopoulos, G. (2013). Transcriptomic profiling of diverse Aedes aegypti strains reveals increased basal-level immune activation in dengue virus-refractory populations and identifies novel virus-vector molecular interactions. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *7*, e2295.

Simard, F., Nchoutpouen, E., Toto, J.C., and Fontenille, D. (2005). Geographic distribution and breeding site preference of Aedes albopictus and Aedes aegypti (Diptera : Culicidae) in Cameroon, Central Africa. Journal of Medical Entomology *42*, 726-731.

Simpson, D.I. (1964). Zika Virus Infection in Man. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 58, 335-338.

Sinkins, S.P., and Gould, F. (2006). Gene drive systems for insect disease vectors. Nat Rev Genet 7, 427-435.

Slonchak, A., Hussain, M., Torres, S., Asgari, S., and Khromykh, A.A. (2014). Expression of mosquito microRNA Aae-miR-2940-5p is downregulated in response to West Nile virus infection to restrict viral replication. J Virol *88*, 8457-8467.

Smith, R.C., Walter, M.F., Hice, R.H., O'Brochta, D.A., and Atkinson, P.W. (2007). Testisspecific expression of the beta2 tubulin promoter of Aedes aegypti and its application as a genetic sex-separation marker. Insect Mol Biol *16*, 61-71.

Smithburn, K.C. (1952). Neutralizing antibodies against certain recently isolated viruses in the sera of human beings residing in East Africa. J Immunol *69*, 223-234.

Smithburn, K.C. (1954). Neutralizing antibodies against arthropod-borne viruses in the sera of long-time residents of Malaya and Borneo. Am J Hyg *59*, 157-163.

Smithburn, K.C., Kerr, J.A., and Gatne, P.B. (1954a). Neutralizing antibodies against certain viruses in the sera of residents of India. J Immunol *72*, 248-257.

Smithburn, K.C., Taylor, R.M., Rizk, F., and Kader, A. (1954b). Immunity to certain arthropod-borne viruses among indigenous residents of Egypt. Am J Trop Med Hyg *3*, 9-18.

Snyder, J.E., Kulcsar, K.A., Schultz, K.L., Riley, C.P., Neary, J.T., Marr, S., Jose, J., Griffin, D.E., and Kuhn, R.J. (2013). Functional characterization of the alphavirus TF protein. J Virol *87*, 8511-8523.

Sparks, J.T., Bohbot, J.D., and Dickens, J.C. (2014). The genetics of chemoreception in the labella and tarsi of Aedes aegypti. Insect Biochem Mol Biol *48*, 8-16.

Sparks, J.T., Bohbot, J.D., and Dickens, J.C. (2015). Olfactory disruption: toward controlling important insect vectors of disease. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci *130*, 81-108.

Sparks, J.T., Vinyard, B.T., and Dickens, J.C. (2013). Gustatory receptor expression in the labella and tarsi of Aedes aegypti. Insect Biochem Mol Biol *43*, 1161-1171.

Spuul, P., Balistreri, G., Hellstrom, K., Golubtsov, A.V., Jokitalo, E., and Ahola, T. (2011). Assembly of alphavirus replication complexes from RNA and protein components in a novel trans-replication system in mammalian cells. J Virol *85*, 4739-4751.

Stanaway, J.D., Shepard, D.S., Undurraga, E.A., Halasa, Y.A., Coffeng, L.E., Brady, O.J., Hay, S.I., Bedi, N., Bensenor, I.M., Castaneda-Orjuela, C.A., *et al.* (2016). The global burden of dengue: an analysis from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet Infect Dis *16*, 712-723.

Stapleford, K.A., Coffey, L.L., Lay, S., Borderia, A.V., Duong, V., Isakov, O., Rozen-Gagnon, K., Arias-Goeta, C., Blanc, H., Beaucourt, S., *et al.* (2014). Emergence and transmission of arbovirus evolutionary intermediates with epidemic potential. Cell Host Microbe *15*, 706-716.

Staples, J.E., Breiman, R.F., and Powers, A.M. (2009). Chikungunya fever: an epidemiological review of a re-emerging infectious disease. Clin Infect Dis *49*, 942-948.

Stiasny, K., and Heinz, F.X. (2006). Flavivirus membrane fusion. J Gen Virol 87, 2755-2766.

Strauss, E.G., Rice, C.M., and Strauss, J.H. (1983). Sequence coding for the alphavirus nonstructural proteins is interrupted by an opal termination codon. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *80*, 5271-5275.

Strauss, J.H., and Strauss, E.G. (1994). The Alphaviruses - Gene-Expression, Replication, and Evolution (Vol 58, Pg 496, 1994). Microbiol Rev 58, 806-806.

Sturm, M., Hackenberg, M., Langenberger, D., and Frishman, D. (2010). TargetSpy: a supervised machine learning approach for microRNA target prediction. BMC Bioinformatics *11*, 292.

Su, J., Li, C., Zhang, Y., Yan, T., Zhu, X., Zhao, M., Xing, D., Dong, Y., Guo, X., and Zhao, T. (2017). Identification of microRNAs expressed in the midgut of Aedes albopictus during dengue infection. Parasit Vectors *10*, 63.

Suaya, J.A., Shepard, D.S., Siqueira, J.B., Martelli, C.T., Lum, L.C., Tan, L.H., Kongsin, S., Jiamton, S., Garrido, F., Montoya, R., *et al.* (2009). Cost of dengue cases in eight countries in the Americas and Asia: a prospective study. Am J Trop Med Hyg *80*, 846-855.

Succo, T., Leparc-Goffart, I., Ferre, J.B., Roiz, D., Broche, B., Maquart, M., Noel, H., Catelinois, O., Entezam, F., Caire, D., *et al.* (2016). Autochthonous dengue outbreak in Nimes, South of France, July to September 2015. Euro Surveill *21*.

Sun, W., Nisalak, A., Gettayacamin, M., Eckels, K.H., Putnak, J.R., Vaughn, D.W., Innis, B.L., Thomas, S.J., and Endy, T.P. (2006). Protection of Rhesus monkeys against dengue virus challenge after tetravalent live attenuated dengue virus vaccination. J Infect Dis *193*, 1658-1665.

Sztuba-Solinska, J., Teramoto, T., Rausch, J.W., Shapiro, B.A., Padmanabhan, R., and Le Grice, S.F. (2013). Structural complexity of Dengue virus untranslated regions: cis-acting RNA motifs and pseudoknot interactions modulating functionality of the viral genome. Nucleic Acids Res *41*, 5075-5089.

Taraphdar, D., Sarkar, A., Mukhopadhyay, B.B., and Chatterjee, S. (2012). A comparative study of clinical features between monotypic and dual infection cases with Chikungunya virus and dengue virus in West Bengal, India. Am J Trop Med Hyg *86*, 720-723.

Tatem, A.J., Huang, Z., Das, A., Qi, Q., Roth, J., and Qiu, Y. (2012). Air travel and vectorborne disease movement. Parasitology *139*, 1816-1830.

Thaa, B., Biasiotto, R., Eng, K., Neuvonen, M., Gotte, B., Rheinemann, L., Mutso, M., Utt, A., Varghese, F., Balistreri, G., *et al.* (2015). Differential Phosphatidylinositol-3-Kinase-AktmTOR Activation by Semliki Forest and Chikungunya Viruses Is Dependent on nsP3 and Connected to Replication Complex Internalization. J Virol *89*, 11420-11437.

Thiberville, S.D., Moyen, N., Dupuis-Maguiraga, L., Nougairede, A., Gould, E.A., Roques, P., and de Lamballerie, X. (2013). Chikungunya fever: epidemiology, clinical syndrome, pathogenesis and therapy. Antiviral Res *99*, 345-370.

Thiboutot, M.M., Kannan, S., Kawalekar, O.U., Shedlock, D.J., Khan, A.S., Sarangan, G., Srikanth, P., Weiner, D.B., and Muthumani, K. (2010). Chikungunya: a potentially emerging epidemic? PLoS Negl Trop Dis *4*, e623.

Thomas, D.D., Donnelly, C.A., Wood, R.J., and Alphey, L.S. (2000). Insect population control using a dominant, repressible, lethal genetic system. Science 287, 2474-2476.

Tomasello, D., and Schlagenhauf, P. (2013). Chikungunya and dengue autochthonous cases in Europe, 2007-2012. Travel Med Infect Dis *11*, 274-284.

Travanty, E.A., Adelman, Z.N., Franz, A.W., Keene, K.M., Beaty, B.J., Blair, C.D., James, A.A., and Olson, K.E. (2004). Using RNA interference to develop dengue virus resistance in genetically modified Aedes aegypti. Insect Biochem Mol Biol *34*, 607-613.

Trobaugh, D.W., Gardner, C.L., Sun, C., Haddow, A.D., Wang, E., Chapnik, E., Mildner, A., Weaver, S.C., Ryman, K.D., and Klimstra, W.B. (2014). RNA viruses can hijack vertebrate microRNAs to suppress innate immunity. Nature *506*, 245-248.

Trobaugh, D.W., and Klimstra, W.B. (2017). MicroRNA Regulation of RNA Virus Replication and Pathogenesis. Trends Mol Med 23, 80-93.

Tsetsarkin, K.A., Vanlandingham, D.L., McGee, C.E., and Higgs, S. (2007). A single mutation in chikungunya virus affects vector specificity and epidemic potential. PLoS Pathog *3*, e201.

Tsetsarkin, K.A., and Weaver, S.C. (2011). Sequential adaptive mutations enhance efficient vector switching by Chikungunya virus and its epidemic emergence. PLoS Pathog 7, e1002412.

Tsvetkov, N., Samson-Robert, O., Sood, K., Patel, H.S., Malena, D.A., Gajiwala, P.H., Maciukiewicz, P., Fournier, V., and Zayed, A. (2017). Chronic exposure to neonicotinoids reduces honey bee health near corn crops. Science *356*, 1395-1397.

Tun, M.M., Thant, K.Z., Inoue, S., Nabeshima, T., Aoki, K., Kyaw, A.K., Myint, T., Tar, T., Maung, K.T., Hayasaka, D., *et al.* (2014). Detection of east/central/south African genotype of chikungunya virus in Myanmar, 2010. Emerg Infect Dis *20*, 1378-1381.

U.S.E.P.A. (1975). DDT: a review of scientific and economic aspects of the decision to ban its use as a pesticide : prepared for Committee on Appropriations (Washington: U.S. House of Representatives).

Ui-Tei, K., Naito, Y., Nishi, K., Juni, A., and Saigo, K. (2008). Thermodynamic stability and Watson-Crick base pairing in the seed duplex are major determinants of the efficiency of the siRNA-based off-target effect. Nucleic Acids Res *36*, 7100-7109.

Ui-Tei, K., Nishi, K., Takahashi, T., and Nagasawa, T. (2012). Thermodynamic Control of Small RNA-Mediated Gene Silencing. Front Genet *3*, 101.

Utt, A., Das, P.K., Varjak, M., Lulla, V., Lulla, A., and Merits, A. (2015). Mutations conferring a noncytotoxic phenotype on chikungunya virus replicons compromise enzymatic properties of nonstructural protein 2. J Virol *89*, 3145-3162.

Valanne, S., Wang, J.H., and Ramet, M. (2011). The Drosophila Toll signaling pathway. J Immunol *186*, 649-656.

van den Berg, H., Zaim, M., Yadav, R.S., Soares, A., Ameneshewa, B., Mnzava, A., Hii, J., Dash, A.P., and Ejov, M. (2012). Global trends in the use of insecticides to control vectorborne diseases. Environ Health Perspect *120*, 577-582.

van Mierlo, J.T., van Cleef, K.W., and van Rij, R.P. (2011). Defense and counterdefense in the RNAi-based antiviral immune system in insects. Methods Mol Biol *721*, 3-22.

van Rij, R.P., Saleh, M.C., Berry, B., Foo, C., Houk, A., Antoniewski, C., and Andino, R. (2006). The RNA silencing endonuclease Argonaute 2 mediates specific antiviral immunity in Drosophila melanogaster. Genes Dev *20*, 2985-2995.

Varjak, M., Maringer, K., Watson, M., Sreenu, V.B., Fredericks, A.C., Pondeville, E., Donald, C.L., Sterk, J., Kean, J., Vazeille, M., *et al.* (2017). Aedes aegypti Piwi4 Is a Noncanonical PIWI Protein Involved in Antiviral Responses. mSphere 2.

Vasilakis, N., and Weaver, S.C. (2008). The history and evolution of human dengue emergence. Adv Virus Res 72, 1-76.

Vazeille, M., Mousson, L., Martin, E., and Failloux, A.B. (2010). Orally co-Infected Aedes albopictus from La Reunion Island, Indian Ocean, can deliver both dengue and chikungunya infectious viral particles in their saliva. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *4*, e706.

Vazeille, M., Moutailler, S., Coudrier, D., Rousseaux, C., Khun, H., Huerre, M., Thiria, J., Dehecq, J.S., Fontenille, D., Schuffenecker, I., *et al.* (2007). Two Chikungunya isolates from the outbreak of La Reunion (Indian Ocean) exhibit different patterns of infection in the mosquito, Aedes albopictus. PLoS One 2, e1168.

Vazeille, M., Zouache, K., Vega-Rua, A., Thiberge, J.M., Caro, V., Yebakima, A., Mousson, L., Piorkowski, G., Dauga, C., Vaney, M.C., *et al.* (2016). Importance of mosquito "quasispecies" in selecting an epidemic arthropod-borne virus. Sci Rep *6*, 29564.

Vazeille-Falcoz, M., Failloux, A.B., Mousson, L., Elissa, N., and Rodhain, F. (1999). [Oral receptivity of Aedes aegypti formosus from Franceville (Gabon, central Africa) for type 2 dengue virus]. Bull Soc Pathol Exot *92*, 341-342.

Vega-Rua, A., Zouache, K., Caro, V., Diancourt, L., Delaunay, P., Grandadam, M., and Failloux, A.B. (2013). High efficiency of temperate Aedes albopictus to transmit chikungunya and dengue viruses in the Southeast of France. PLoS One *8*, e59716.

Vega-Rua, A., Zouache, K., Girod, R., Failloux, A.B., and Lourenco-de-Oliveira, R. (2014). High level of vector competence of Aedes aegypti and Aedes albopictus from ten American countries as a crucial factor in the spread of Chikungunya virus. J Virol 88, 6294-6306.

Victora, C.G., Schuler-Faccini, L., Matijasevich, A., Ribeiro, E., Pessoa, A., and Barros, F.C. (2016). Microcephaly in Brazil: how to interpret reported numbers? Lancet *387*, 621-624.

Villar, L., Dayan, G.H., Arredondo-Garcia, J.L., Rivera, D.M., Cunha, R., Deseda, C., Reynales, H., Costa, M.S., Morales-Ramirez, J.O., Carrasquilla, G., *et al.* (2015). Efficacy of a tetravalent dengue vaccine in children in Latin America. N Engl J Med *372*, 113-123.

Villordo, S.M., Carballeda, J.M., Filomatori, C.V., and Gamarnik, A.V. (2016). RNA Structure Duplications and Flavivirus Host Adaptation. Trends Microbiol *24*, 270-283.

Villordo, S.M., and Gamarnik, A.V. (2009). Genome cyclization as strategy for flavivirus RNA replication. Virus Res *139*, 230-239.

Villordo, S.M., and Gamarnik, A.V. (2013). Differential RNA sequence requirement for dengue virus replication in mosquito and mammalian cells. J Virol 87, 9365-9372.

Volk, S.M., Chen, R., Tsetsarkin, K.A., Adams, A.P., Garcia, T.I., Sall, A.A., Nasar, F., Schuh, A.J., Holmes, E.C., Higgs, S., *et al.* (2010). Genome-scale phylogenetic analyses of chikungunya virus reveal independent emergences of recent epidemics and various evolutionary rates. J Virol *84*, 6497-6504.

Vontas, J., Kioulos, E., Pavlidi, N., Morou, E., della Torre, A., and Ranson, H. (2012). Insecticide resistance in the major dengue vectors Aedes albopictus and Aedes aegypti. Pestic Biochem Phys *104*, 126-131.

Wang, H., Gort, T., Boyle, D.L., and Clem, R.J. (2012). Effects of manipulating apoptosis on Sindbis virus infection of Aedes aegypti mosquitoes. J Virol 86, 6546-6554.

Wang, X.H., Aliyari, R., Li, W.X., Li, H.W., Kim, K., Carthew, R., Atkinson, P., and Ding, S.W. (2006). RNA interference directs innate immunity against viruses in adult Drosophila. Science *312*, 452-454.

Weaver, S.C., and Reisen, W.K. (2010). Present and future arboviral threats. Antiviral Res 85, 328-345.

Weaver, S.C., Winegar, R., Manger, I.D., and Forrester, N.L. (2012). Alphaviruses: population genetics and determinants of emergence. Antiviral Res *94*, 242-257.

Weber, A.N., Tauszig-Delamasure, S., Hoffmann, J.A., Lelievre, E., Gascan, H., Ray, K.P., Morse, M.A., Imler, J.L., and Gay, N.J. (2003). Binding of the Drosophila cytokine Spatzle to Toll is direct and establishes signaling. Nat Immunol *4*, 794-800.

Welsch, S., Miller, S., Romero-Brey, I., Merz, A., Bleck, C.K., Walther, P., Fuller, S.D., Antony, C., Krijnse-Locker, J., and Bartenschlager, R. (2009). Composition and threedimensional architecture of the dengue virus replication and assembly sites. Cell Host Microbe *5*, 365-375.

Wen, B.P., Dai, H.J., Yang, Y.H., Zhuang, Y., and Sheng, R. (2013). MicroRNA-23b inhibits enterovirus 71 replication through downregulation of EV71 VPl protein. Intervirology *56*, 195-200.

Werner, T., Liu, G., Kang, D., Ekengren, S., Steiner, H., and Hultmark, D. (2000). A family of peptidoglycan recognition proteins in the fruit fly Drosophila melanogaster. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *97*, 13772-13777.

WHO (2016). Zika virus microcephaly and Guillain-Barré syndrome (Geneva).

Wilczynska, A., and Bushell, M. (2015). The complexity of miRNA-mediated repression. Cell Death Differ 22, 22-33.

Wilson, C., Bellen, H.J., and Gehring, W.J. (1990). Position Effects on Eukaryotic Gene-Expression. Annu Rev Cell Biol *6*, 679-714.

Wise de Valdez, M.R., Nimmo, D., Betz, J., Gong, H.F., James, A.A., Alphey, L., and Black, W.C.t. (2011). Genetic elimination of dengue vector mosquitoes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *108*, 4772-4775.

Wolfe, N.D., Kilbourn, A.M., Karesh, W.B., Rahman, H.A., Bosi, E.J., Cropp, B.C., Andau, M., Spielman, A., and Gubler, D.J. (2001). Sylvatic transmission of arboviruses among Bornean orangutans. Am J Trop Med Hyg *64*, 310-316.

Xi, Z., Ramirez, J.L., and Dimopoulos, G. (2008). The Aedes aegypti toll pathway controls dengue virus infection. PLoS Pathog *4*, e1000098.

Xu, T., Sampath, A., Chao, A., Wen, D., Nanao, M., Chene, P., Vasudevan, S.G., and Lescar, J. (2005). Structure of the Dengue virus helicase/nucleoside triphosphatase catalytic domain at a resolution of 2.4 A. J Virol 79, 10278-10288.

Yactayo, S., Staples, J.E., Millot, V., Cibrelus, L., and Ramon-Pardo, P. (2016). Epidemiology of Chikungunya in the Americas. J Infect Dis *214*, S441-S445.

Yang, J.S., Smibert, P., Westholm, J.O., Jee, D., Maurin, T., and Lai, E.C. (2014). Intertwined pathways for Argonaute-mediated microRNA biogenesis in Drosophila. Nucleic Acids Res 42, 1987-2002.

Yap, S.S.L., Nguyen-Khuong, T., Rudd, P.M., and Alonso, S. (2017). Dengue Virus Glycosylation: What Do We Know? Front Microbiol *8*, 1415.

Ye, Y.H., Carrasco, A.M., Frentiu, F.D., Chenoweth, S.F., Beebe, N.W., van den Hurk, A.F., Simmons, C.P., O'Neill, S.L., and McGraw, E.A. (2015). Wolbachia Reduces the Transmission Potential of Dengue-Infected Aedes aegypti. PLoS Negl Trop Dis *9*, e0003894.

Yi, R., Qin, Y., Macara, I.G., and Cullen, B.R. (2003). Exportin-5 mediates the nuclear export of pre-microRNAs and short hairpin RNAs. Genes Dev *17*, 3011-3016.

Yusof, R., Clum, S., Wetzel, M., Murthy, H.M., and Padmanabhan, R. (2000). Purified NS2B/NS3 serine protease of dengue virus type 2 exhibits cofactor NS2B dependence for cleavage of substrates with dibasic amino acids in vitro. J Biol Chem 275, 9963-9969.

Zambon, R.A., Vakharia, V.N., and Wu, L.P. (2006). RNAi is an antiviral immune response against a dsRNA virus in Drosophila melanogaster. Cell Microbiol *8*, 880-889.

Zanluca, C., Melo, V.C., Mosimann, A.L., Santos, G.I., Santos, C.N., and Luz, K. (2015). First report of autochthonous transmission of Zika virus in Brazil. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz *110*, 569-572.

Zhang, G., Hussain, M., and Asgari, S. (2014). Regulation of arginine methyltransferase 3 by a Wolbachia-induced microRNA in Aedes aegypti and its effect on Wolbachia and dengue virus replication. Insect Biochem Mol Biol *53*, 81-88.

Zhang, G., Hussain, M., O'Neill, S.L., and Asgari, S. (2013). Wolbachia uses a host microRNA to regulate transcripts of a methyltransferase, contributing to dengue virus inhibition in Aedes aegypti. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *110*, 10276-10281.

Zhang, X., Aksoy, E., Girke, T., Raikhel, A.S., and Karginov, F.V. (2017). Transcriptomewide microRNA and target dynamics in the fat body during the gonadotrophic cycle of Aedes aegypti. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *114*, E1895-E1903.

Zheng, Z., Ke, X., Wang, M., He, S., Li, Q., Zheng, C., Zhang, Z., Liu, Y., and Wang, H. (2013). Human microRNA hsa-miR-296-5p suppresses enterovirus 71 replication by targeting the viral genome. J Virol 87, 5645-5656.

Zhou, Y., Liu, Y., Yan, H., Li, Y., Zhang, H., Xu, J., Puthiyakunnon, S., and Chen, X. (2014). miR-281, an abundant midgut-specific miRNA of the vector mosquito Aedes albopictus enhances dengue virus replication. Parasit Vectors *7*, 488.

Zhou, Y., Ray, D., Zhao, Y., Dong, H., Ren, S., Li, Z., Guo, Y., Bernard, K.A., Shi, P.Y., and Li, H. (2007). Structure and function of flavivirus NS5 methyltransferase. J Virol *81*, 3891-3903.

Zouache, K., and Failloux, A.-B. (2015). Insect–pathogen interactions: contribution of viral adaptation to the emergence of vector-borne diseases, the example of chikungunya. Current Opinion in Insect Science *10*, 14-21.